          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4  -------------------------------x

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          5

                       of the

          6

             COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          7  -------------------------------x

                            June 21, 1999

          8                 Start:  10:50 a.m.

                            Recess: 7:20 p.m.

          9

                            City Hall

         10                 Council Chambers

                            New York, New York

         11

         12       B E F O R E:

         13              ARCHIE SPIGNER

                                           Chairperson,

         14

         15              COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Stanley Michels

                                            Martin Malave-Dilan

         16                                 Lawrence Warden

                                            Madeline Provenzano

         17                                 Michael Nelson

                                            Thomas Ognibene

         18                                 Guillermo Linares

                                            Christine Quinn

         19                                 June Eisland

                                            Kathryn Freed

         20                                 Ronnie Eldridge

                                            Herbert Berman

         21                                 Bill Perkins

                                            Stephen DiBrienza

         22                                 A. Gifford Miller

                                            Margarita Lopez

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Richard T. Roberts

          4  Commissioner

             NYC Department of Housing Preservation

          5  and Development

          6  Stephen Levy

             Chief of Lead Unit, Tort Division

          7  Assistant Corporation Counsel

          8  Neal Cohen, M.D.

             Commissioner

          9  NYC Department of Health

         10  Dr. Susan Clitzman

             Assistant Commissioner

         11  Environmental Risk Assessment and Communication

             NYC Department of Health

         12

             Alan G. Hevesi

         13  New York City Comptroller

             Office of the Comptroller

         14

             Nick Farr

         15  National Center for Lead Safe Housing

         16  Don Ryan

             Alliance to End Childhood Lead Poisoning

         17

             Celia Irvine

         18  Office of the Manhattan Borough President

         19  Carol Lamberg

             Executive Director

         20  New York Conf. and Settlement Housing Fund

         21  Michael Lappin

             Community Preservation Corporation

         22

             John McCarthy

         23  Community Preservation Corporation

         24  Dr. John F. Rosen

             Montefiore Medical Center

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Dr. Evelyn A. Mauss

          4  Natural Resources Defense Council

          5  Meryl Viener

          6  Mary Ann Rothman

             Council of New York Co-op and Condominiums

          7

             Frank Ricci

          8  Rent Stabilization Association

          9  Matthew Chachere

             New York Coalition to End Lead Poison

         10

             Suzanne Mattei

         11  New York State Trial Lawyers Association

         12  Jeff Lichtman

             New York State Trial Lawyers Association

         13

             Maureen Silverman

         14  New York State Coalition to End Lead Poisoning

         15  Dan Margulies

             Executive Director

         16  CHIP

         17  Marolyn Davenport

             Real Estate Board of New York

         18

             Nicholas LaPorte

         19  Associated Builders and Owners Association

         20  Andrew Goldberg

             New York Public Interest Research Group

         21

             Marlen Bodden, Esq.

         22  The Legal Aid Society

         23  Judith Goldiner, Esq.

             The Legal Aid Society

         24

             Lenora Colbert

         25  1199 National Health

             and Human Services Union

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Joel Shufru

          4  Executive Director

             New York Committee for Occupational

          5  Safety and Health

          6  Joel Kupferman

             New York Environmental Law and Justice Committee

          7

             Brian Honan

          8  Tenants and Neighbors

          9  Glenn Pasanen

             Associate Director

         10  City Project

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. My name is Archie Spigner, and

          4  I Chair the Council's Committee on Housing and

          5  Buildings.

          6                 Today the Committee is conducting a

          7  hearing on legislation aimed at preventing lead

          8  poisoning of our City's children.

          9                 The legislation before us sets out

         10  ways for owners of multiple dwellings to safely

         11  correct lead-based paint hazards before a child

         12  becomes lead poisoned.

         13                 It also establishes safe work

         14  practices for landlords to use in correcting

         15  lead-based paint hazards before a violation is

         16  issued.

         17                 The bill is the result of a

         18  collaborative effort by the Council and the Mayor

         19  Administration.

         20                 The bill purports to have landlords

         21  correct these hazardous conditions before a child

         22  gets lead poisoned by placing an affirmative duty on

         23  a landlord of a pre-1960 building, multiple

         24  dwellings, to conduct an annual visual inspection of

         25  a dwelling unit for lead-based paint hazards, when
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          2  such landlord has actual knowledge that a child

          3  under the age of six resides therein.

          4                 We know that the best way to prevent

          5  lead poisoning is to see that lead-based paint, or

          6  paint that is presumed to be lead-based paint is

          7  kept in good condition. Where peeling or

          8  deteriorating subsurfaces exist, such lead-based

          9  paint or paint that is presumed to be lead-based

         10  paint should be adequately repaired using safe

         11  working practices.

         12                 This bill sets forth what we believe

         13  to be safe work practices. For the first time it

         14  sets forth time frames in which lead-based paint

         15  hazards must be addressed by a landlord when a

         16  notice of violation is issued.

         17                 The bill also mandates for the first

         18  time that the City under the jurisdiction of the

         19  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         20  shall have the responsibility to correct lead-based

         21  paint hazards when the owner fails to do so.

         22                 During today's hearing, we will give

         23  members of the public, as well as government

         24  officials an opportunity to speak.

         25                 Because of the large number of people
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          2  that wish to be heard, I will ask that you limit

          3  your testimony as much as possible.

          4                 There will be copies of the bill made

          5  available today, because of technical changes that

          6  have been made. I am going to extend to Council

          7  Member Michels the floor, so first let's hear from

          8  Council Member Michels who has been involved in this

          9  issue for a long period of time.

         10                 Council Member Michels.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Spigner. Thank you very much for your courtesy

         13  of making my opening statement.

         14                 As many of you know, I have been

         15  involved in this issue throughout my term in office,

         16  as the author of the existing statute, Local Law 1

         17  of 1982, and most recently as the lead sponsor of

         18  Intro. 205, the proposed Childhood Lead Poisoning

         19  Act, which unfortunately is not on today's agenda,

         20  although it should be.

         21                 Let me begin by saying that I truly

         22  regret the preconsidered bill before us today, which

         23  deals with a vitally important health issue

         24  affecting hundreds of thousands of children

         25  throughout the City, is being rushed through the
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          2  Council with inadequate notice to the general public

          3  and insufficient review to the bill itself.

          4                 The title of this bill says that it

          5  deals with the childhood lead poisoning prevention.

          6  I wish it were so. Many of us have hoped that the

          7  needs of children, not those of landlords or City

          8  agencies, would be the prime consideration in

          9  shaping this legislation. I am sorry to report the

         10  needs of children now appear to be secondary to

         11  those of landlords.

         12                 What we have before us is nothing

         13  more than a landlords' protection bill. This bill

         14  turns the whole issue upside down. It protects

         15  landlords and City officials from liability, paying

         16  little heed to the health and safety of children.

         17                 For example, it drops the use of

         18  inexpensive scientific tests to see if invisible

         19  lead dust remains after repairs are made and

         20  clean-up is done. This glaring omission led the

         21  nation's foremost lead poisoning prevention experts

         22  to call the draft "A Tragic Mistake" that will

         23  result in large numbers of children continuing to be

         24  lead poisoned in this City.

         25                 Lead poisoning causes permanent brain
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          2  damage, resulting in learning in behavioral disorder

          3  in young children. For the most part it is a

          4  preventable disease.

          5                 Our primary goal should be simple:

          6  Enact a law that will put in place the most

          7  effective mechanism for maintaining our housing

          8  stock so those children will not be poisoned.

          9                 The landlord representatives,

         10  however, appear only interested in doing the work as

         11  cheaply as possible and avoiding liability, no

         12  matter what the condition of the apartment, and this

         13  still reflects that position.

         14                 Our aim should be to keep lead dust

         15  off the hands of children, by ensuring the repairs

         16  are made right away.

         17                 It is a sham to say, as this bill

         18  does, that peeling paint in pre-1960 apartments with

         19  young children is an immediately hazardous housing

         20  code violation, and then allow landlords an

         21  excessive amount of time and unlimited postponements

         22  before the repair is made.

         23                 It is also a sham to say that the

         24  City will enforce the law as this bill suggests, but

         25  then not allow an excessive amount of time for
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          2  inspectors to respond to tenants' complaints for

          3  violation notices to be mailed out to landlords and

          4  for emergency repairs to be done when landlords fail

          5  to comply.

          6                 Once again, the needs of children are

          7  lost in lead paint dust.

          8                 The bill before us reflects the

          9  landlord's resistance for using the health code

         10  safety rules for proper lead paint removal,

         11  including the need for civil post cleaning

         12  scientific tests. This bill also gives, to the

         13  demand by the landlords of the City, for an

         14  excessive amount of time to repair the immediately

         15  hazardous conditions, therefore putting the child at

         16  risk of further lead poisoning.

         17                 But the most outrageous part of this

         18  bill is that it incorporates the secret agenda of

         19  the real estate industry of this City and the City

         20  to deny the right of lead poisoned children to

         21  recover compensation for their serious injuries.

         22                 This would eliminate the landlord's

         23  main motivation to correct lead paint hazards

         24  promptly and properly.

         25                 Namely the fear of having to pay
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          2  enormous sums of money for the injuries, medical

          3  care and special educational needs of severely lead

          4  poisoned children. The best way for landlords to

          5  protect themselves from lawsuit is and should be to

          6  keep that property in good repair so there won't be

          7  any lead poisoned children.

          8                 It would be tragic if this Council

          9  retreated from a strong commitment embodied in Local

         10  Law 1, to truly protect children from lead

         11  poisoning.

         12                 The Council should adopt an effective

         13  law that will stop the scourge of childhood lead

         14  poisoning rather than disgraceful proposal which

         15  would merely protect landlords and the City from

         16  lawsuits.

         17                 My bill, 205, which has 36 other

         18  co-sponsors, represents a reasonable and balanced

         19  approach where only peeling paints or paints on

         20  deteriorated subsurfaces will be cited as a

         21  violation.

         22                 The concerns of both landlords and

         23  tenants are addressed by limiting the extent and the

         24  cost of any repairs while requiring that it be done

         25  expeditiously and safely.
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          2                 I believe it is not too late to

          3  reconsider this legislation and to enact a new law

          4  based on Intro. 205.

          5                 I urge the Chair, Mr. Chairman,

          6  respectfully, to look at today's New York Times

          7  Editorial, which accurately analyzes the situation

          8  and suggests that the Council ask the court for more

          9  time to resolve this complicated issue.

         10                 For the sake of the children of our

         11  City, we should take as much time as we need to come

         12  up with the right bill.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 The first witness we have is Dr.

         18  Cohen. Commissioner Roberts, HPD Commissioner.

         19  Identify yourself and we would be happy to take your

         20  testimony.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I am Richard

         22  Roberts. I am the Commissioner of the New York City

         23  Department of Housing, Preservation and Development.

         24                 My colleague Dr. Cohen has a

         25  prearranged scheduled meeting some place else in the
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          2  building with the Mayor, and he will be back to not

          3  only deliver his testimony, but also to participate

          4  in a dialogue with the Council.

          5                 I am going to proceed with my

          6  statement and then we can take it from there.

          7                 Good morning, Chairman Spigner, and

          8  members of the Committee. My name is Richard

          9  Roberts, Commissioner of the Department of Housing

         10  Preservation and Development. I appreciate the

         11  opportunity to testify today regarding the proposed

         12  legislation, concerning the prevention of lead paint

         13  poisoning.

         14                 When I testified on this issue along

         15  with Dr. Cohen in December of 1998, HPD was

         16  preparing to implement Local Law 1, in response to

         17  orders of the court in the NYCCELP litigation. At

         18  that time I informed you that the court had

         19  interpreted Local Law 1 to require that all multiple

         20  dwelling units where a child six years of age or

         21  under resides be made lead-free.

         22                 I explained that to implement the law

         23  as interpreted by the court was an enormous and

         24  costly task, and would have a devastating impact on

         25  affordable housing and public health. I urged the
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          2  Council to work with the administration to enact

          3  reasonable new legislation that uses current

          4  knowledge about lead poisoning prevention to provide

          5  a real opportunity for us to protect the health and

          6  safety of our children while ensuring the continued

          7  preservation and development of affordable housing.

          8                 As you know, we have actively been

          9  pursuing legislative change to appeal Local Law 1

         10  and provide an alternative program for lead

         11  poisoning prevention.

         12                 I am pleased to be here today to

         13  testify regarding new proposed lead paint

         14  legislation. We are all well aware that compromise

         15  has been necessary in order to reach accord on this

         16  controversial and often contentious issue.

         17                 Nevertheless, I believe that this

         18  proposal provides us with a good opportunity to

         19  protect the health and welfare of young children by

         20  shifting the focus from intact lead paint and

         21  eliminating the threat to affordable housing and

         22  public health posed by implementation of local law

         23  1.

         24                 The bill repeals an unworkable,

         25  outmoded, lead-free mandate, and replaces it with a
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          2  rational system identifying and correcting lead

          3  paint hazards, focusing on the immediate and

          4  effective control of the most common cause of such

          5  hazards, peeling lead paint.

          6                 It creates an incentive for owners to

          7  take affirmative steps towards identifying and

          8  controlling lead hazards in units where young

          9  children reside.

         10                 The bill creates a lead paint

         11  poisoning prevention program which requires owners

         12  to: 1) comply with annual notification and

         13  inspection requirements and ensure that paint is

         14  kept intact by correcting lead hazards using safe

         15  work practices.

         16                 2) Correct lead violations using safe

         17  work practices that do not create additional

         18  hazards.

         19                 3) take basic actions when apartments

         20  become vacant to improve their lead safety.

         21                 The bill thus constructs a program

         22  under which families which children can be assured

         23  that lead hazards will be addressed promptly and

         24  with which owners can readily comply.

         25                 A lead-based paint hazard is defined
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          2  as lead paint that is peeling or on a deteriorated

          3  subsurface in a multiple dwelling unit where a child

          4  under six resides. To enable enforcement, there is a

          5  presumption that paint inside the dwelling unit is

          6  lead-based paint if the building was constructed

          7  prior to 1960 and a child under six years of age

          8  resides in the unit. The presumption may be rebutted

          9  by an owner.

         10                 One issue of concern is the time

         11  frames prescribed for HPD to perform certain

         12  enforcement mandates. Such time frames should be

         13  viewed as outer limits for performance and not as

         14  goals, since HPD has every intention of performing

         15  all of its responsibilities under the law as

         16  expeditiously as possible.

         17                 The Council must be sure that the

         18  time frames that are set are realistic so that HPD

         19  does not have to sacrifice other important

         20  functions or continually litigate over failure to

         21  comply with unrealistic time frames.

         22                 It is imperative that the Council

         23  leave the agency ample discretion to allocate its

         24  resources appropriately.

         25                 The time frame should be based upon
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          2  the operational and programmatic experience, rather

          3  than dictated by other considerations.

          4                 Under the proposal, when HPD receives

          5  a complaint about peeling paint at a pre-1960 unit

          6  with a young child, an inspector must attempt to

          7  gain access to the unit within a prescribed time

          8  period to perform an inspection.

          9                 If peeling paint or a deteriorated

         10  subsurface is found, the inspector will issue a lead

         11  violation based upon the presumption. If during the

         12  inspection the inspector observes a condition that

         13  is clearly causing the paint to peel, he or she will

         14  also issue a violation for correction of that

         15  condition.

         16                 The owner will be responsible for

         17  quickly correcting the lead violation, and for

         18  correcting conditions that are causing the paint to

         19  peel, where a notice for violation of such

         20  conditions has been issued. Thus there will be a

         21  prompt response to complaints by the agency and

         22  rapid correction by the owner.

         23                 A lead hazard violation is a Class C

         24  immediately hazardous violation. The violation must

         25  be corrected by the owner within 21 days, using
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          2  interim controls and safety practices.

          3                 These include: 1) sealing the work

          4  area to restrict access to it until work is

          5  completed.

          6                 2) preparing the work area by

          7  covering objects in and adjacent to the area, or by

          8  removing such objects, and covering work areas with

          9  plastic sheeting.

         10                 3) wet scraping and repairing all

         11  peeling paint and deteriorated subsurfaces.

         12                 4) HEPA-vacuuming or washing all work

         13  area surfaces to remove dust prior to repainting.

         14                 5) Cleaning the work area by

         15  HEPA-vacuuming or washing at the end of each work

         16  day.

         17                 6) minimizing dispersion of paint

         18  chips, debris and dust from the work area, and

         19  advising occupants not to enter the area.

         20                 7) Adjusting doors and cabinet doors

         21  so that they are properly hung and do not bind.

         22                 8) Adjusting all windows to ensure

         23  they are properly hung and do not bind.

         24                 9) Making sure that all debris is

         25  stored and disposed of safely.
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          2                 10) HEPA-vacuuming or washing all

          3  surfaces exposed to dust at the completion of the

          4  work. Owners must maintain records of the work

          5  performed to correct the violation.

          6                 An owner who does not correct the

          7  condition within 21 days will have an additional

          8  15-day correction period. The work during that

          9  period must be performed using the full range of

         10  work practices of the Health Code.

         11                 Thus, there is an incentive for

         12  owners to correct lead hazard violations promptly,

         13  while ensuring that the work that is performed at

         14  any time does not create additional hazards.

         15                 Owners must certify that they have

         16  corrected the lead violation and HPD must provide a

         17  copy of the certification to the complainant.

         18                 HPD will attempt to reinspect all

         19  certified lead violations within a prescribed time.

         20  Where a violation has been falsely certified, the

         21  person responsible will be reliable for a civil

         22  penalty for each such certification, and guilty of a

         23  misdemeanor punishable by $1,000 fine and/or one

         24  year imprisonment.

         25                 These penalty provisions, along with
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          2  the requirement that the certification be provided

          3  to the complainant, and HPD's reinspection of the

          4  certified lead violation should provide an effective

          5  deterrent to false certifications.

          6                 If an owner fails to correct a lead

          7  violation, or falsely certifies correction of such

          8  violation, HPD will perform the work within a fixed

          9  time period. A lien for the cost of the work will be

         10  placed against the building. Lead violations will

         11  therefore be corrected in each circumstance,

         12  ensuring protection of the young children in the

         13  unit.

         14                 An owner who does not correct a lead

         15  violation before the end of the second time period

         16  will be liable for civil penalties of $250 a day up

         17  to a maximum of $10,000 per violation.

         18                 The potential liability for civil

         19  penalties will deter owners from noncompliance.

         20                 In recognition that certain fact

         21  situations may make imposition of penalties

         22  inequitable, the bill also provides certain

         23  specified defenses for owners, which are similar to

         24  existing defenses for other violations of the

         25  Housing Maintenance Code.
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          2                 Owners of the pre-1960 multiple

          3  dwellings must, at the time of signing of a lease or

          4  beginning of occupancy, and annually, provide notice

          5  to all tenants, inquiring whether a child under the

          6  age of six resides in the unit.

          7                 If the tenant informs the owner that

          8  a child of such age lives in the unit, or if the

          9  owner otherwise knows that a child lives there, the

         10  owner must provide for an annual visual inspection

         11  for  lead paint hazards.

         12                 If such hazards are found, the owner

         13  must correct them, using the safe work practices and

         14  interim controls specified for correction of lead

         15  violations.

         16                 During the ensuing year, if a child

         17  subsequently comes to reside in the unit, tenants

         18  must inform the owner so that such an inspection

         19  will be conducted and necessary repairs occur.

         20                 Regular inspections of units occupied

         21  by young children will ensure that peeling paint

         22  conditions are addressed, and will provide a

         23  reasonable cycle for maintenance of painted surfaces

         24  to prevent lead paint hazards.

         25                 Further, since the bill requires that
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          2  safety practices be followed even where a violation

          3  has not been issued, work done to address lead

          4  hazards in units will not create new lead hazards.

          5                 Further, since the bill prohibits the

          6  dry scraping and dry sanding of lead paint or paint

          7  of unknown lead content in any dwelling unit, all

          8  paint repair will be performed using a basic safe

          9  work practice that will help to reduce generation of

         10  dust.

         11                 When pre-1960 units become vacant,

         12  owners must:

         13                 1) repair defective paint.

         14                 2) restrict access to the work area.

         15                 3) make bare floors smooth so that

         16  they will be easily cleanable.

         17                 4) HEPA-vacuum or wash all surfaces

         18  in the work area to remove dust prior to repainting.

         19                 5) Adjust doors so that the painted

         20  surfaces do not bind.

         21                 6) adjust all windows to ensure that

         22  they are properly hung and do not bind.

         23                 7) ensure that all debris is stored

         24  and disposed of safely to minimize exposure to

         25  building occupants.
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          2                 This provision will enable owners to

          3  take advantage of the window of opportunity

          4  presented at vacancy to make certain that potential

          5  lead hazards have been addressed.

          6                 As a result, families with small

          7  children who may move into the unit will be assured

          8  that it is reasonably free of immediate lead

          9  hazards.

         10                 The bill clarifies sole remedy

         11  against the City for failure to perform a regulatory

         12  duty under the new lead law is an Article 78

         13  proceeding to compel compliance. The bill similarly

         14  clarifies Section 27-2126 of the code to provide the

         15  same Article 78 remedy.

         16                 Informational pamphlets will be

         17  developed but HPD and DOH explaining the hazards

         18  associated with lead paint and recommending certain

         19  work practices to be used when repairing lead paint.

         20  Tenants will receive the lead hazard pamphlet when

         21  they sign a lease or commence occupancy. When HPD

         22  inspects the unit upon a complaint of peeling paint,

         23  owners will receive the Safe

         24  Work Practices Pamphlet in conjunction with service

         25  of a notice of violation for a lead hazard.
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          2                 HPD will also send a notice to units

          3  where lead violations have been issued informing

          4  parents to contact the Department of Health if they

          5  have medical concerns about exposure to lead.

          6                 Broad dissemination of information

          7  about the hazards of lead paint and safe work

          8  practices will help to educate tenants and owners

          9  about preventing lead paint poisoning.

         10                 HPD will provide an annual written

         11  report to the City Council concerning the agency's

         12  implementation of the new law. The bill prescribes

         13  gathering of detailed data regarding the agency's

         14  enforcement efforts that will be reported in the

         15  annual report.

         16                 We believe that the proposed

         17  legislation creates an effective lead poisoning

         18  prevention program which provides an incentive for

         19  owners to maintain units and expeditiously correct

         20  lead hazards safely.

         21                 The program is workable and

         22  efficient, protects public health and affordable,

         23  and preserves the agencies resources so that we may

         24  continue to perform our many other important

         25  functions which directly impact upon the quality and
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          2  quantity of affordable housing in the City of New

          3  York.

          4                 We strongly urge the Council to put

          5  the threat of Local Law 1 behind us by enacting this

          6  new lead legislation promptly, so that we can move

          7  forward with this new program.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  testify. I will be happy to answer any questions you

         10  may have.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         13  Commissioner, for your testimony.

         14                 As I stated initially, this is a

         15  hearing on a proposed bill where it is our practice

         16  to submit testimony on the bill, both in favor and

         17  against, and we try to take into consideration all

         18  of the various suggestions made and where

         19  appropriate they will be reflected in a final draft

         20  of our legislation.

         21                 Let me ask you, Commissioner, this

         22  one question: What is HPD currently doing to reduce

         23  lead paint hazards in the buildings you manage?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We survey all

         25  of the tenants in what we refer to as in-rem
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          2  buildings, in the City of New York. We do annual

          3  surveys and in connection or response to those

          4  surveys we perform a variety of different levels of

          5  work in occupied in rem buildings.

          6                 In addition, as you know, and we have

          7  had several discussions here at the Council, we are

          8  engaged in a series of comprehensive efforts around

          9  the rehabilitation of in rem housing and one of the

         10  results of the rehabilitation work that we do in

         11  those buildings is, you know, comprehensive

         12  rehabilitation, which results in abating many of the

         13  conditions that would be of some concern.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But you don't

         15  issue violations to yourself?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right.

         18                 As you pointed out, there are

         19  substantial penalties addressed to false

         20  self-certifications in this proposed legislation.

         21  How many self-certified corrections of lead paint

         22  violations were audited by HPD last year? Do you

         23  have that information?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. We don't

         25  break out, and this is what the discussion was
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          2  about, we don't break out the audit of

          3  self-certifications on C violations by type or

          4  class. So, in terms of the actual numbers of lead

          5  violations that fall within that C violation, the

          6  larger C violation universe, we don't break those

          7  out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner,

          9  you stated, if I remember directly, that you believe

         10  that substantial penalties proposed in this local

         11  law would be a deterrent; is that your belief again?

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes,

         13  absolutely. We believe it would be a deterrent.

         14  Although, one of the things that I think is

         15  important about this legislation is that there are a

         16  series of controls and compliance mechanisms within

         17  the performance of work where we hopefully will deal

         18  with many of the issues that would be of some

         19  concern as we move through the process.

         20                 So, you have both the compliance work

         21  within performing the work as articulated by the

         22  interim controls and then also in connection with

         23  the Health Code, but also then at the end of the day

         24  the penalties connected to self-certification --

         25  false certification.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So you do

          3  believe they are adequate as stated in the bill?

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          6                 Let me ask the question as it relates

          7  to the timetables. You mentioned that you felt the

          8  timetables should be, your words I can't recall --

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Cause for some

         10  concern. I think that we have, in the context of the

         11  discussions around the legislation, certainly heard

         12  quite a bit about there being an interest in

         13  changing some of the time frames that are outlined

         14  in the legislation.

         15                 We have supported the current time

         16  frames as they are currently articulated because

         17  they conform to, by and large they conform to the

         18  time frames that are consistent with other C

         19  violations, which would be hazardous conditions

         20  within buildings.

         21                 What we don't want to get ourselves

         22  into is a situation where we are allocating or

         23  competing for the allocation of scarce resources

         24  between hazardous conditions, other hazardous

         25  conditions of the Housing Maintenance Code.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask you a

          3  question. Why does HPD require 25 days to respond to

          4  a complaint of peeling paint?

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It generally

          6  doesn't take 25 days.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, you don't

          8  require 25 days?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Does it require

         11  HPD 60 days of serving a violation once an inspector

         12  has found a problem?

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, that

         14  particular time frame is one that is of some concern

         15  to us, because once we actually write the violation

         16  and we have to go back and perform a number of

         17  functions at the agency, data entry, getting it out.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That takes 60

         19  days?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Getting it out.

         21  I mean we are comfortable with the 60-day time frame

         22  on that one.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But it does take

         24  that long?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, we try to
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          2  do it faster than that, but that is of some concern

          3  to us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you usually

          5  take 60 days to do it, or you do it in a shorter

          6  period of time?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We can

          8  generally do it in a shorter period of time. Again,

          9  this will set out some outer limits for performance

         10  that for which we would be comfortable. We don't

         11  want to get ourselves in a situation where there is

         12  a tremendous amount of litigation around these time

         13  frames and so forth.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, after a

         15  violation has been certified to be corrected, why do

         16  you require 70 days to audit and determine if it is

         17  an accurate determination?

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Again, that is

         19  one again where we don't have, where we generally

         20  are within those timeframes in terms of actually

         21  performing the work, but, again, it is the same

         22  answer, in terms of being comfortable as to what is

         23  mandated. We are more comfortable with the outside

         24  limits of some of those performance measurements.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As it relates to
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          2  a violation that has not been corrected by a

          3  landlord, as I understand it now you have 90 days --

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Ninety days to

          5  perform the work.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Can you tell us

          7  why you need 90 days?

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, just as

          9  an operational matter, to go in, identify the

         10  contractor.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You may be able

         12  to do it in less than that --

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That's right.

         14  In terms of what the mandated time frame is going to

         15  be, we are more comfortable with the outside limits

         16  on the performance.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         18  Linares has questions for you, sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: In following

         24  your testimony, I noticed that you referred to a

         25  number of entering controls and safety practices.
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          2  You highlighted about ten of them, but I was looking

          3  for one of them to be clearance testing, after any

          4  work has been done to correct any type of

          5  violations, and actually to see to it that the dust

          6  that may remain gets removed and it is not included.

          7  Experts clearly recommend that without this there is

          8  no way of determining whether children will be

          9  exposed in ways in which you will be detrimental

         10  perhaps to their life and to their well being and I

         11  was just wondering how, understanding that this was

         12  a very expensive test and that this is actually one

         13  of the current existing practices, how do you

         14  explain excluding this?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         16  we are going to have the Department of Health

         17  Commissioner here shortly. You are speaking about

         18  the white tests?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The Commissioner

         22  will be here shortly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I would like

         24  the Commissioner to briefly comment and then I will

         25  proceed with my second question.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: My testimony

          3  merely outlined what was currently in the

          4  legislative proposal. I do believe that my

          5  colleague, Commissioner Cohen, is going to speak to

          6  both his statement and also of the responses that he

          7  is prepared to get into in the question and answer

          8  session, speaks specifically to this test, and the

          9  public health implications of performing it.

         10                 So, I am going to defer that to him

         11  but he will address it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I am still

         13  left puzzled by a sense of recommendation of a

         14  process that does not take that into consideration

         15  when that is a fundamental area of concern, and when

         16  inspectors under your jurisdiction will be closely

         17  involved with overseeing that process, so that is

         18  why I posed the question and --

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, that will

         20  be a question for the Department of Health, I mean

         21  we are going to inspect as to the condition, the

         22  paint condition which existed which contributed to

         23  the violation being written, and so we will inspect

         24  or perform a reinspection as to the correction of

         25  the paint condition.
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          2                 As to the existence of the dust or

          3  what have you, that will be a question for the

          4  Department of Health.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: If the

          6  inspectors are the one that will be charged to

          7  oversee and monitor and also enforce any violation

          8  that takes place --

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Under the

         10  Housing and Maintenance Code, but not under the

         11  health code.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Now, how many

         13  properties are owned by the City under your

         14  jurisdiction that are pre-1960?

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: In terms of

         16  pre-1960, I don't know if there is a specific number

         17  that I have, I know we own 22,000, approximately

         18  22,000 units, although that is decreasing

         19  significantly every year, and so all of those units

         20  will be subject to, would be subject to our

         21  complying with this --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: How many --

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Twenty-two

         24  thousand units.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Would it be
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          2  safe to say that under your jurisdiction, we

          3  probably have the highest number of units that any

          4  landlord would have in the City of New York, and

          5  that possibly the children and the families are

          6  prone to be impacted by this legislation would

          7  probably live significantly in this type of

          8  property?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Before you

         10  answer, Commissioner. In light of the large amount

         11  of interest in this topic, and a number of Council

         12  Members who want to participate in the dialogued, I

         13  am going to have to adhere to a rigid five-minute

         14  time allocations for questions and answers, and I

         15  started three or four minutes after you started, so

         16  you are now under those restrictions, Councilman.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I have about

         18  two minutes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We are

         20  obviously a significant property owner, residential

         21  property owner and manager in the City of New York.

         22  I don't know if there are others.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: If you are

         24  the largest, I have to presume that you are and you

         25  probably have the largest number. So, my question
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          2  is, how do we then ensure the safety of the children

          3  within those units when your own inspectors are the

          4  one that are supposed to hold yourself accountable

          5  and that is a question that I have and that is why I

          6  am asking.

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, you know,

          8  the level of accountability with respect to the

          9  maintenance of our properties on all levels is

         10  extremely high.

         11                 That is not to say that we discharge

         12  those obligations in a manner that is, you know,

         13  that we are always particularly proud of, but,

         14  again, remember that is one of the reasons that we

         15  are involved in more -- we are also probably

         16  involved in more rehabilitation in upgrading

         17  properties than any other residential property owner

         18  and manager in the City of New York, and so to the

         19  extent there are problems, we are doing more, not

         20  only within the context of this framework, but we

         21  are doing more outside of the context of this

         22  framework than any other property owner or manager

         23  to actually upgrade properties, significant

         24  rehabilitation, relocation of tenants and families

         25  when that rehabilitation occurs, but we are engaged
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          2  in a significant amount of work in that regard.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: This is an

          4  area of great concern to me.

          5                 Let me ask you, does HPD have enough

          6  inspectors to do proactive lead paint inspections?

          7  That is, inspections that are not triggered by a

          8  complaint?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTSON: Well, our

         10  system is a complaint-driven system, so throughout

         11  all aspects of the Housing Maintenance Code, the

         12  system, which is a function of state law, is set up

         13  to actually be activated on the complaints of a

         14  tenant.

         15                 You know, as I have indicated to this

         16  Committee on several occasions, particularly in the

         17  time that I have been with the agency, we are at the

         18  highest level of funding for inspectors at any time

         19  since the state significantly reduced the funding

         20  for inspectors in 1991.  The Council obviously

         21  deserves a tremendous amount of credit for

         22  additional resources in this area, particularly in

         23  the last couple of years. So, we believe that the

         24  level of resources is appropriate, particularly if

         25  we are able to construct a piece of legislation,
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          2  like this one that continues to be consistent with

          3  other aspects of the Housing Maintenance Code. I

          4  think we will, and our concern is that we may indeed

          5  have issues if we have to divert resources in order

          6  to treat this as some kind of specialized --

          7  although, we understand it is extremely important,

          8  some kind of specialized area of the Housing

          9  Maintenance Code.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Right now,

         11  even with the complaint-driven --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         13  please. You can have a second round. You can have a

         14  second round.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Just to

         16  conclude with my last question, even with

         17  complaint-driven, a mechanism of complaint-driven,

         18  do you feel which is not enough because those

         19  children that may be exposed to lead and we don't

         20  know about because there has not been a complaint,

         21  those do not configure anywhere, but even for those

         22  who are driven by complaint, do you have enough

         23  inspectors? I am still unclear.

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. I mean, I

         25  believe we do, and particularly in light of
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          2  additional resources that we have committed to that,

          3  to that area over the last couple of years.

          4                 But let me also say that the

          5  existence of a complaint would not only be --

          6  wouldn't be the only measurement of the existence of

          7  lead paint problems in children. I mean, we would

          8  also have, and I think the Health Department could

          9  speak to this, screening and testing and what we

         10  actually see in the public health system outside of

         11  the rubric of just complaints being generated than

         12  within housing. So, there are a variety of

         13  mechanisms in which we can gauge, whether we are

         14  making progress in that regard.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.

         17                 Council Member Michels.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I might say to you that I hope that

         21  your agency has learned better since the last time

         22  this controversy came up, when you learned that it

         23  was absolutely necessary to have a clearance test to

         24  see after the work is done the dust has been

         25  removed.
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          2                 Commissioner Margaret Hamburg, the

          3  predecessor to the present Commissioner, made it

          4  very clear in her statement that you cannot possibly

          5  think that you have done the job and supported the

          6  bill unless those clearance tests are done, and that

          7  is why we stopped negotiations at that time on that

          8  particular bill.

          9                 Let me ask you this. In removing the

         10  presumption of lead paint for liability purposes,

         11  which you, I know you are aware of, a good lawyer,

         12  you believe that shielding property, including the

         13  City, from liability, from lead poisoning forces

         14  owners taking seriously their obligation of this new

         15  law? And how does this protect children by removing

         16  the compulsion of having to clean up or do the right

         17  job and stopped kids from being lead poisoned or be

         18  sued; what is your opinion on that?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I am not sure I

         20  understand the question.

         21                 If the question relates to, I think

         22  that the legislation sets up a compliance system

         23  that is immediate --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me

         25  explain it to you.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: -- As opposed

          3  to a liability system, which I think the immediate,

          4  having the ability to immediately compel the City

          5  and the City to effect its compliance system, I

          6  think the focus of this bill is not --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I have read

          8  the bill very thoroughly and I fail to see a

          9  compliance system here. I have studied the bill, I

         10  have slept with this bill. There is no compliance

         11  system in here. But I was talking to you about the

         12  fact that the presumption of lead paint has been

         13  taken out for the purposes of lawsuits against the

         14  City and against private owners. And without the

         15  compulsion, the cases which the landlord thought was

         16  so wonderful, the Juarez case, which removed strict

         17  liability, cannot be successful. And this is what I

         18  am talking about is the secret agenda here.

         19                 Do you think without being able to

         20  sue a landlord or sue a City, when you have a

         21  lead-poisoned child, that that is going to help to

         22  remove lead paint from these apartments?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, we may

         24  have the Law Department come in and address whatever

         25  specific legal questions you have, Council Member.
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          2                 But I guess my point is that

          3  compelling compliance is the way the bill deals with

          4  that issue, as opposed to creating an alternative

          5  forum for tort liability, which presumably you still

          6  have, you can still go into court --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You can't win

          8  in the changes made here, but let's not get into

          9  that, you want to go to the Corporation, I will

         10  argue that with Corporation.

         11                 You say in your statement there is

         12  going to be quick compliance, after we are dealing

         13  with an ultra-hazardous, an immediately hazardous

         14  violation, which defines 24 hours remediation, and,

         15  yet, under your statement and under the law that is

         16  written here, you have 15 to 25 days for the HPD to

         17  comply with the complaint, coming to look at it, 16

         18  days to issue the violation, 21 days to correct by

         19  the landlord which can be unlimited, you have 30-day

         20  periods, five days to mail the certification, 70

         21  days for an HPD reinspection, and 30 days for

         22  mailing of notice if invalid certification and 90

         23  days for HPD to come into the correction.

         24                 That amounts to some 291, 301 days,

         25  minimum enforceable deadline for HPD removal of
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          2  violation. Do you really think that is adequate to

          3  address an immediate hazardous violation, where we

          4  have a possibility of a lead-poisoned child?

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I think

          6  that we can establish, you know, all kinds of

          7  situations if we just want to add up the numbers

          8  that are outlined.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's the

         10  bill. I am not making that up, that is the

         11  legislation that we have in front of us.

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The key

         13  element, or I guess the key cause for concern would

         14  be the 30-day period.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It's all a

         16  key element. That is all of it. Because the

         17  landlord, he knows he has all that time, he's not

         18  going to clean --

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: As I mentioned

         20  to you earlier when we were addressing the

         21  Chairman's questions, the time frames that are

         22  established in the legislation are the same

         23  timeframes that are articulated for emergency or

         24  Class C violations in the Housing Maintenance Code.

         25  And, so, that is where this comes from.
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          2                 The 30-day period is again a period

          3  where there is a -- while you can apply for the

          4  30-day, the 30-day extension, there will be

          5  standards or there are standards for which the

          6  Department -- the Department is not obligated to

          7  grant the 30-day extensions indefinitely and the

          8  legislation contemplates --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But the bill

         10  doesn't provide for that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley, will

         12  you let the Commissioner conclude and you will have

         13  a second round.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: -- Standards

         16  for which of those 30-day periods would be granted.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I want to

         18  follow up on this.

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because this

         21  is extremely important.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You will have a

         23  second round.

         24                 Council Member Eisland.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: Good morning,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Commissioner.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: As somebody

          5  who represents a great many co-ops and condos,

          6  probably more than anybody else outside of

          7  Manhattan. I am somewhat unclear, obviously

          8  buildings being multiple dwellings, but with

          9  multiple ownership.

         10                 Can you take me through the process

         11  of inspection right through the end of that whole

         12  process as to liability.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: And where the

         15  liability is as far as the co-op or condo boards,

         16  and the liability as far as the cooperators.

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. I don't

         18  know, it's not a whole process. This legislation

         19  again exists within the context of the Housing and

         20  Maintenance Code, so when any violation is issued

         21  against a co-op, for example, the violation is

         22  issued against the Corporation, in which the

         23  shareholders hold shares. So, in effect the

         24  day-to-day entity that is responsible for both the

         25  receipt of the violation and the correction of the
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          2  violation will be the board, the co-op board.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: You mean

          4  after the Board has dispatched people to make the

          5  inspections, and the individual co-op or condo

          6  owners are informed that they have a problem, that

          7  is where the end of the responsibility of the owner

          8  of the apartment lies? Just that they have received

          9  that information, they don't have the responsibility

         10  to clear up the violation?

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, no.

         12                 Ultimately the legal responsibility

         13  lies with the corporation, and like all aspects of

         14  cooperative ownership, the responsibility would be a

         15  shared one among the shareholders. But the Board

         16  would have responsibility for, ultimate

         17  responsibility for correcting that violation.

         18                 Now, as between the shareholders or

         19  between the corporation as to who actually performs

         20  the work or if I am an individual shareholder with

         21  an individual unit, as to whether I am going to take

         22  the responsibility for doing that, that is a

         23  question that the shareholders have to determine in

         24  and among themselves. But from the perspective of

         25  the City, or legal entities that are dealing with
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          2  this corporation, it is the corporation that has

          3  responsibility. And the day-to-day management of the

          4  Corporation falls to the Board of Directors.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I find that I

          6  guess somewhat peculiar in the instances where you

          7  might have a recalcitrant cooperator, that liability

          8  would then fall upon the shoulders of a multitude of

          9  board members that obviously if they have done the

         10  proper inspections in a timely manner, obviously

         11  have a different attitude.

         12                 So, I find that peculiar.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, it is

         14  actually the case with all violations, and hazardous

         15  violations against a cooperative.

         16                 I am involved or know one situation

         17  in the City that actually has that particular issue,

         18  not as it relates to lead paint but as it relates to

         19  a hazardous situation that the Board believes is the

         20  responsibility of a recalcitrant shareholder, but

         21  the Board is actually, the corporation is actually

         22  on the hook for it. And that is one of the things

         23  that you buy into when you cooperate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: Well, now

         25  having heard this from you directly, I guess my
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          2  discomfort level is even higher on a subject such as

          3  this that we are now considering, as far as

          4  updating.

          5                 One more question, and I am sure this

          6  needs to be pursued. At the other end of the

          7  spectrum, it has been my experience that violators

          8  and landlords that are not in compliance, are not

          9  doing the work, those numbers seem to be shrinking,

         10  yet on the other hand they seem to be the same

         11  flagrant violators as far as non-responsible

         12  landlords, at least in my experience in the Bronx.

         13                 If there is now the responsibility of

         14  the intent to inform when they believe there is a

         15  violation, what do we do particularly in poorer

         16  socioeconomic buildings and neighborhoods where

         17  people really don't have the sophistication, or they

         18  have been beaten down so-to-speak by the system,

         19  they have had these complaints in for years, nothing

         20  has happened, and now the responsibility is on those

         21  most vulnerable tenants; what do we do in those

         22  situations?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, there are

         24  a couple of things. One is, I will speak about the

         25  legislation in particular, and then outside the
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          2  context of the legislation.

          3                 The first is that I think that this

          4  legislation establishes a very good frame work for

          5  information dissemination, and educating tenants as

          6  to the responsibilities that landlords will have and

          7  the availability of the assistance to support them

          8  in these efforts.

          9                 As it relates to the larger issues,

         10  we have a variety of different informational

         11  programs that we conduct not only through HPD and

         12  also the Department of Health that will be geared

         13  toward trying to provide this information and to

         14  trigger this process.

         15                 In addition --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: Well, let me

         17  just stop you there. Will you be doing something

         18  different, if this law were to pass, than you are

         19  today? This is probably the same people with the

         20  same problems.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The existence

         22  of a lead paint hazard is a C violation under the

         23  current Housing Maintenance Code, so we have--

         24  whether this legislation is passed or otherwise, we

         25  have an obligation to pursue these issues and we do
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          2  do that.

          3                 In addition to the information

          4  issues, we have a variety of different capital and

          5  in other types of lead paint abatement programs for

          6  which provide --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I am aware of

          8  that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: -- But which

         10  are specifically targeted in these --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I would ask

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council member

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I would ask

         16  you, not at this time, but some time within the next

         17  day or two, to pursue this and think of some kind of

         18  mechanism that you might employ that will go after

         19  the violators that are on the books now and have

         20  been for a protracted period of time, other than

         21  what you are doing right now, because in some

         22  instances, in some buildings, your process and the

         23  landlords' process have been a failure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         25  Quinn.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          5                 What provisions does this bill

          6  provide as it relates to friction spaces?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The bill -- I

          8  am not so sure that friction spaces are dealt with

          9  specifically other than the definition of

         10  deteriorated conditions would cover friction spaces

         11  if those specific conditions do exist.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Although those

         13  spaces like a windowsill, for example, are ones

         14  which young children may come frequently in contact

         15  with, in fact their mouth may frequently come in

         16  contact with, there is no additional precautions or

         17  restriction or requirement or anything as it relates

         18  to friction spaces; is that correct?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, friction

         20  spaces don't pose a problem because the child is

         21  more likely to come in contact with them, because

         22  quite frankly, a friction space, like a window, is

         23  not necessarily going to be more like an area of

         24  contact than the floor would be for a small child.

         25  That is not so much the issue, as much as the kind

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  of back and forth would create the condition.

          3                 What I am saying is that to the

          4  extent that those conditions are created and you are

          5  seeing peeling, chipping, they would then be pulled

          6  into the definitions that are outlined in the bill.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, let's you

          8  say you go into an apartment and you don't see that

          9  chipping or peeling at that window, but you do see

         10  it in other places, it is likely to assume that it

         11  would eventually develop at that window given the up

         12  and down, up and down that you were just talking

         13  about. So, I just want to be clear, there is no

         14  additional precautions that we are taking as it

         15  relates to those spaces in this bill?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, there are

         17  precautions that are outlined in the controls that

         18  are required for the performance of the work, and

         19  their reference is combined and uncombined of doors

         20  and windows and so forth.

         21                 But let me also point out that the --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can I just ask

         23  one more question.

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Sure.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: In the thing
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          2  about friction spaces and other parts of the bill, I

          3  haven't really heard you use the word lead dust,

          4  aren't friction spaces a place where lead dust is

          5  often more of an issue?

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Could be, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Could be.

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: But, again,

          9  what I am trying to get to is that the definitions

         10  that are outlined in the legislation would encompass

         11  those areas of the unit that you are addressing

         12  here.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         14  go back a little bit to the point that Council

         15  Member Eisland was raising about notification and

         16  things of that nature.

         17                 In the bill there is a number of

         18  different, four different ways where a tenant can be

         19  notified that they have to tell their landlord if

         20  there is a child of six years or under living in the

         21  house, and a number of those ways are obviously by

         22  mail.

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Excuse me. I

         24  didn't hear what you said.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: A number of
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          2  those ways are by mail.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Mail.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Which is a

          5  federal issue, so I am not going to ask any

          6  questions about the problems with the mail, we will

          7  bring in our congress people for that.

          8                 Often, though, unfortunately in my

          9  district and I am sure in other people's districts,

         10  buildings which have a lot of violations which may

         11  be more prone to have lead paint violations

         12  frequently have violations as it relates to the

         13  mailboxes, and frequently tenants in my district who

         14  are living in buildings which are owned by bad

         15  landlords or unscrupulous landlords have a

         16  tremendous amount of difficulty getting their mail,

         17  and that is something we work with them frequently

         18  on, sometimes there is just no mailboxes, sometimes

         19  the mail is believed to be stolen, et cetera, et

         20  cetera.

         21                 It seems then, since a number of the

         22  ways we are going to notify people about this very

         23  important provision are by mail seems somewhat

         24  reckless, given that the Department must recognize

         25  the relationship between violations, bad landlords
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          2  and the failure to receive mail.

          3                 So, based on that I want to get your

          4  sense of whether you actually think this is going to

          5  work or what provisions instead you would put in as

          6  it relates to the six-year-old notification, et

          7  cetera.

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think there

          9  are three responses.

         10                 I think there are provisions for hand

         11  delivery in the bill as it is currently drafted.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: By the

         13  landlord, right?

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         15                 Secondly, we do write violations and

         16  require corrections on mailboxes, open vestibules,

         17  so on and so forth, in the context of the current

         18  Housing Maintenance Code.

         19                 Third --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That can take

         21  years sometimes to fix.

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: And third, we,

         23  as it relates, and one of the things I wanted to say

         24  in response to Council Member Eisland's question,

         25  was that we do in the context of this notion or the
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          2  problem of the bad landlord, we do bring a number of

          3  building-wide comprehensive cases that deal not only

          4  with a combination of lead paint abatement problem,

          5  heat and hot water, a variety of other circumstances

          6  that are going to occur in the context of a landlord

          7  that has failed to meet their obligations just

          8  generally and across the board.

          9                 And so those issues are more likely

         10  than not to be picked up in the context of a variety

         11  of other enforcement activities that the Department

         12  would be pursuing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Can I just be

         15  put down for a second round?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         17                 Council Member Freed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 Mr. Commissioner.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Like a lot of

         23  my colleagues, I am concerned about the times that

         24  seem to be added, the length of times that seem to

         25  be added in this bill.
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          2                 I think it was HPD's recommendation

          3  when you testified here in December that you current

          4  respond to complaints of lead paint within 48 hours?

          5  How does this comply with the law that is now being

          6  put before us?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: C violations,

          8  we generally respond to all C violations within a 24

          9  to 72 hour period, although we are not mandated to

         10  do so.

         11                 I guess my concerns, the articulated

         12  concerns that I am expressing go to the issue of

         13  mandating particular, you know, what the mandates

         14  should be as it relates to particular response time.

         15  Those response times I think are more accurately

         16  reflected in the codification of the Housing

         17  Maintenance Code, and so that is the response there.

         18  Although, as I mentioned, those are outer time

         19  frames, we would expect to try to do or would make

         20  every attempt to do better than what is outlined in

         21  the statute.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: But given the

         23  fact that the longer the violation exists and the

         24  longer the dust lays there and the longer children

         25  are subjected to that every day makes a difference
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          2  and may contribute to lead poisoning that child,

          3  doesn't it make more sense, instead of having the

          4  outside limits, to have tighter limits so that you

          5  can move quicker and require quicker action on it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Council Member,

          7  the analysis you use I think would be applicable to

          8  most, if not every emergency condition that we are

          9  talking about.

         10                 The longer you go without heat or hot

         11  water you create the same concerns.

         12                 So, our concern would actually be in

         13  trying to respond, as an operational standpoint,

         14  respond as quickly as possible, and that is what we

         15  do. And I think that this becomes a separate

         16  question as to the articulated time frames in the

         17  statute.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, last fall

         19  when the rules that you proposed would have required

         20  violations to be issued within 20 days after

         21  inspections, this law allows up to 60 days. I don't

         22  see how that helps.

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think our

         24  particular concern was with articulating rules that

         25  were going to be consistent with the law as it is
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          2  currently being interpreted by the court. Our goal

          3  was to articulate regulations that comply.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes, but

          5  shouldn't your goal be not to poison children? There

          6  is a reason they call it poisoning, it is because

          7  children that are subjected to this are immediately

          8  at risk. And don't you think that we should be

          9  concerned enough to do away with that risk as soon

         10  as possible? I mean, the concern shouldn't be

         11  complying with the law, particularly when we are in

         12  the process of amending that law to make it more and

         13  more time to do this compliance.

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Our experience

         15  in government and life would surely indicate that

         16  just because it is written does not make it so. And

         17  the notion that specific regulations were

         18  articulated consistent with the way the legislation

         19  was interpreted by the court in the litigation is

         20  not what we are talking about here, and no one is

         21  talking about being an advocate or in favor of

         22  poisoning children, and that is not what we are

         23  talking about here. What we are talking about here

         24  is the framework of the legislation being consistent

         25  with what elements of the Housing Maintenance Code,
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          2  which also deal with health and safety violations.

          3                 And so, that is the response to that

          4  particular question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, I guess

          6  we will have to differ on that, because I don't

          7  think the way to get compliance, if you can't get

          8  compliance is to weaken the law. I think the way to

          9  get compliance or solve a problem is to strengthen

         10  it.

         11                 Commissioner, I have to say, from

         12  personal knowledge and observation, I have seen that

         13  many clean-ups, even under the current law are done

         14  without real supervision or real oversight. Many of

         15  the people who are hired to do the lead abatement

         16  are not people who are strictly trained in doing

         17  lead abatement, in many cases they don't even know

         18  they are doing what they are doing, they just know

         19  they are cleaning something up. If we are allowing

         20  the landlords a certain amount of time to do this,

         21  which certainly makes time, who is going to do the

         22  oversight to guarantee that this clean-up is done

         23  under proper supervision and in compliance with the

         24  bill that we are now proposing?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I think
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          2  that that question again goes to the question of the

          3  dust wipe test as an example of something that can

          4  be done to ensure that the work was performed in a

          5  manner that was consistent with the controls that

          6  are outlined in the statute.

          7                 Again, that is an issue for the

          8  Department of Health and I know that Commissioner

          9  Cohen is going to speak to that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right,

         11  because I do have a problem with that, and I know

         12  that there are current tests that can really check

         13  that are very inexpensive that would do a better

         14  job.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right,

         16  Council member.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Could I just

         18  get clarification on something?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I am wondering,

         21  this bill as it is written, does it cover City-owned

         22  buildings?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, it will

         24  cover City-owned buildings.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          3  Malave-Dilan.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: Thank

          5  you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Good morning, Commissioner.

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: How are you?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: My

          9  concern is in regards to the timetable for HPD

         10  enforcement. Basically I want to know why does it

         11  take 25 days to even respond to the initial

         12  complaint and then going to the end results when

         13  allegedly the owner would correct a violation, why

         14  would it take HPD another 90 days to ensure that it

         15  is corrected?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: Can you

         18  explain that to me, and why does it take so long?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, there are

         20  two. The first issue is the inspection upon the

         21  complaint. What is contemplated is actually a

         22  bifurcated system of the difference in time between

         23  heat season and non-heat season. Heat season being

         24  that period of time beginning in October, ending in

         25  May, where it would be 25 days, and non-heat season
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          2  would be 15 days.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: So if we

          4  are talking where there is a child six years, and

          5  there is a violation, so it is an emergency

          6  condition all year around, I mean if there is

          7  additional money required for enforcement wouldn't

          8  that be the way to go then?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No, I think

         10  that our particular focus will be on operationally

         11  responding much faster than that. But, again, we are

         12  talking about mandated compliance and enforcement

         13  for which we have some concerns with the time frames

         14  being shorter than what is contemplated by the

         15  statute.

         16                 In terms of our operational ability

         17  to respond, we do believe that these violations will

         18  be treated like other emergency conditions. And we

         19  do believe we will be in a position to respond, you

         20  know, within 72 hours to the complaint being

         21  initiated.

         22                 Again, the initial response time will

         23  also involve under the current complaint system a

         24  lot of back and forth and information being provided

         25  between the tenant, HPD, and the landlord, calls
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          2  into central complaint, follow-up calls to try to

          3  ensure or to try to trigger compliance prior to the

          4  initial inspection actually occurring. So there will

          5  be a variety of different things that will be

          6  ongoing in that time period, even within the shorter

          7  72-hour time period.

          8                 But that is a particular concern that

          9  we have about the mandated timeframes being shorter

         10  than what is articulated in the code.

         11                 Secondly, on the 90 days, that is the

         12  correction period. That would be the amount of time

         13  it would take us to go out and actually perform the

         14  work and to ensure that the work had actually been

         15  completed. And again, these are buildings that we

         16  don't own. We will have to go out and secure

         17  contractors, initiate the work, gain access, perform

         18  the work, so on and so forth.

         19                 Some of these jobs may actually be

         20  more extensive than others, and so you will have

         21  some differentials there just from an operational

         22  standpoint, for which we would be more comfortable

         23  with, the additional allocation of time.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: Just one

         25  more point regarding this issue.
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          2                 I am very concerned in terms of these

          3  numbers and I think that before we move on with this

          4  legislation, I think we need to really look at this

          5  part of it in reducing the number of days in terms

          6  of this entire process.

          7                 I will be looking towards that, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         10  Council Member.

         11                 Okay, Council Member Nelson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 Emotions are running very high on

         15  this issue, and I have listened to the testimony, I

         16  have met with advocates from various sides of this

         17  issue, I have read many news accounts, this

         18  legislation is lacking in a few major areas.

         19                 First of all, I would like to see

         20  legislation to provide a much shorter time frame, an

         21  unlimited time frame for inspections gives landlords

         22  a free ride, obviously, with respect to our

         23  children. There are legal reports that need to be

         24  examined. I would like to see appropriate lead

         25  removal testing. Appropriate lead removal testing,
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          2  to ensure the safety of our children, and protect

          3  them from the harm caused by the dust. Although an

          4  extremely small percentage of my district is

          5  involved in this, it is still Citywide, an issue for

          6  families and children, and without changes in the

          7  bill like the dust this bill should not fly, and I

          8  can't support this legislation in its current form.

          9  I just wanted to make that statement.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask a

         11  question, Commissioner, as it relates to the

         12  proposed legislation. Does it limit the City's

         13  liability as an owner of property, in your opinion?

         14  I think the Corporation Counsel --

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I am going

         16  to have the Corporation Counsel come up and address

         17  those issues.

         18                 Certainly the bill calls for legal

         19  avenues to compel compliance on the part of both the

         20  City and landlord and our enforcement capabilities,

         21  but in terms of our liability.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, if you will

         23  identify yourself, we want to hear your views on

         24  particularly the liability as it relates to the City

         25  as a property owner and any other aspect of the
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          2  liability issues that have been raised here this

          3  morning.

          4                 MR. LEVY: My name is Stephen Levy, I

          5  am an Assistant Corporation Counsel. Currently I am

          6  the Chief of the Lead Unit in the Tort Division and

          7  my job is to defend the City of New York in the

          8  litigation brought for personal injuries arising out

          9  of lead poisoning.

         10                 I have not prepared a statement here.

         11  I am here to answer the questions of the Committee.

         12  A few things I would just like to address in the

         13  beginning is that I see the critical issue in

         14  compliance to be what remedy does a child have

         15  immediately when there is a complaint that there is

         16  peeling paint or that there is a lead hazard found

         17  in the child's apartment. And the bill, from the

         18  reading of the Law Department is that it, for the

         19  first time, puts mandates on the City to go in and

         20  to correct those lead paint hazards when the

         21  landlord fails to do it in the first instance.

         22                 My concern, though, is that the

         23  effort by the City to go and make emergency repairs

         24  particularly and to do various inspection duties

         25  does not in the process incur huge tort liability
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          2  down the road where none exists today.

          3                 Currently for bond assessment

          4  purposes or for the New York Times the current tort

          5  liability against the City is about $500 million.

          6  The City's internal estimates are lower and the

          7  State Comptroller puts it lower. The lowest number

          8  for the cases that we have now is about $200

          9  million. As an estimate of the tort liability that

         10  is currently pending, that of course still wouldn't

         11  change.

         12                 But currently there are about 1,400

         13  claims against the City that is creating this

         14  assessed two or three-hundred million dollars worth

         15  of liability.

         16                 The problem with this bill from the

         17  tort perspective, is that without certain

         18  protections could create huge liability far, far

         19  greater from that in the future, and it won't serve

         20  the purpose of the bill of getting an immediate

         21  abatement on immediate emergency repair for the

         22  child or for the family who is living with lead

         23  hazards in their apartment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How do you

         25  respond to the statement that this is a landlord
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          2  protection bill?

          3                 MR. LEVY: The City has two roles

          4  here, and my job as a tort lawyer is to defend two

          5  parts of what the City does. I defend the Department

          6  of Health, which is concerned with the health of all

          7  of the children, and I defend HPD which is concerned

          8  with housing issues.

          9                 In the City's housing stock, which is

         10  approximately 20,000 units now, although when I

         11  started it was almost higher, it was almost 40,000

         12  units. There is a small incidence of lead poisoning,

         13  far greater than anyone would want. But, for

         14  example, in this year there have been four reported

         15  cases. Last year there were nine reported cases.

         16                 In terms considering that the housing

         17  that the City took in was the worst abandoned

         18  housing stock that exists in this City, HPD has

         19  taken tremendous steps to get as far as it has and

         20  needs to take further tremendous steps to completely

         21  eliminate the incidence of lead poisoning.

         22                 But as the City as owner, this bill

         23  has a smaller effect. The greater tort concern

         24  toward liability is where the City goes out into a

         25  privately-owned building, to respond to a complaint
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          2  or sent by the Department of Health or for any

          3  reason, or on a spot inspection, starts to do

          4  inspections, starts to get the landlord, to try to

          5  force the landlord to fix it and goes out and spends

          6  three, four, five or $10,000 on emergency repairs,

          7  that whole process needs protection from the Council

          8  to not have tort liability occur in the future, so

          9  that $20 million spent next year on lead emergency

         10  repairs does not create $400 million or $500 million

         11  in tort liability five or ten years down the road.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What is the

         13  current status of the stay of the judgement in the

         14  NYCCELP case, which was required that the City

         15  implement regulations in accordance with Local Law

         16  1; has an extension been granted by the judge? And

         17  to what date?

         18                 MR. LEVY: There is a current stay of

         19  the proceedings in NYCCELP --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner

         21  Roberts, are you through?

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         24                 MR. LEVY: I think that the last day

         25  was granted I think for 30 days until the end of
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          2  this month. And then if necessary, the parties will

          3  go, and there is some disagreement in the lawyers in

          4  whether or not the parties to the litigation can

          5  themselves agree to an extension, or whether the

          6  court has to also join in that by so ordering the

          7  stipulation.

          8                 It is the Law Department's view that

          9  because we are dealing with civil contempt issues

         10  before the court that the judge has to sign off on

         11  it.

         12                 There are those in the litigation who

         13  do hope that we will be able to get a bill that will

         14  solve the issues in the litigation before the

         15  stipulation runs out.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         17  Michels, do you have a question of the Corp Counsel?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I do.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 As I understand it, you have entered

         21  into a stipulation and that the complainants in the

         22  lawsuit have agreed to have a stipulation so ordered

         23  by the judge. Has it been so ordered by the judge?

         24                 MR. LEVY: Let me ask the attorneys

         25  assigned the case.
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          2                 We are seeing the judge on Wednesday.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: On Wednesday.

          4                 I understand that offer was made two

          5  weeks ago, I don't know what the delay is.

          6                 Further, I understand there was an

          7  offer by the plaintiffs to give you a stipulation to

          8  extend time until October, are you aware of that?

          9                 MR. LEVY: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now, I was

         11  interested to learn the fact that you are not

         12  concerned about liability for owning the buildings,

         13  you are concerned about liability from repairing

         14  buildings. That is what you seem to say. That the

         15  ownership of the buildings, the failure to fix

         16  buildings which are owned by the City, the liability

         17  is something that doesn't concern you as much, I

         18  thought I heard you say that.

         19                 MR. LEVY: Right. In terms of the cost

         20  to the City in tort liability --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. That

         22  is what I am talking about.

         23                 MR. LEVY: Only in that sense. Not in

         24  terms of properly maintaining housing, or the

         25  property issues of lead poisoning.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Fine. Fine.

          3                 MR. LEVY: But it is a smaller number

          4  of cases.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are aware

          6  of the Juarez case, aren't you?

          7                 MR. LEVY: Yes, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you are

          9  aware the landlords consider that a victory because

         10  they did away with strict liability, or absolute

         11  liability on the part of the owners, right?

         12                 MR. LEVY: Well, the landlords who are

         13  co-defendants, or co-defendants that actually think

         14  that Juarez --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, now

         16  they are changing their minds, but they considered

         17  it a victory at that time because they no longer

         18  were strictly liable, and that under the Juarez case

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley, do you

         21  want him to answer the question?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, then why

         24  don't you permit him to answer it?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am sorry. I
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          2  am sorry, yes, please answer.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let him answer

          4  it.

          5                 MR. LEVY: It is the law of the land,

          6  I don't know whose victory it is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are you aware

          8  that this law as written would change the Juarez

          9  case? It would not be successful, the Juarez case as

         10  this law is not presently in front of us, this

         11  proposed bill?

         12                 Because it says, and i will refer you

         13  to page 12, starting with line three and ending in

         14  line six, it says:

         15                 "In any dwelling unit in a multiple

         16  dwelling erected prior to January 1st, 1960 in which

         17  your child under six years of age resides, it shall

         18  be presumed that the paint and coating material in

         19  the interior of the dwelling unit is lead-based

         20  paint" solely for the purpose of this article which

         21  takes it out of the use in the tort liability

         22  action, right?

         23                 MR. LEVY: I don't agree with that.

         24  Right now there is a split in the law in the First

         25  Department and the law in the Second Department --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

          3  about want this bill does. I am reading from the

          4  bill, the bill in front of us, it says this is not

          5  the present law. The law that we are proposing would

          6  say you cannot use the presumption, which as you

          7  know in the Juarez case is why you have constructive

          8  notice. And without constructive notice of a lead

          9  condition, you cannot sue. You can sue but you can't

         10  recover. You are aware of that, aren't you?

         11                 You are aware that we are trying to

         12  change the law, the Juarez case is being changed by

         13  this bill.

         14                 MR. LEVY: Well, I disagree with

         15  several aspects of what you are saying.

         16                 One thing on the status of the law,

         17  there are cases of course that are not multiple

         18  dwellings in which there is litigation for lead

         19  poisoning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

         21  about cases based on Local Law 1, and the

         22  presumption.

         23                 MR. LEVY: But to use the analogy of

         24  the cases in which Local Law 1 doesn't apply, then

         25  landlords have been held in the First Department,
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          2  for example, there is a case called Espanol in the

          3  First Department in which even without Local Law 1,

          4  an owner of a facility in which children attended

          5  was deemed to be on notice of lead hazards --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We are

          7  talking about multiple dwellings, please, sir, don't

          8  beg the question. We are talking about multiple

          9  dwellings, we are talking about this law here, we

         10  are talking about Local Law 1, don't tell me about

         11  something else. Let's talk as lawyers together. We

         12  are talking on all floors of multiple dwellings

         13  built prior to 1960 with a child under five, now,

         14  under six then, where you have a presumption,

         15  presumed lead paint violation. Rebuttable

         16  presumption which gives you constructive notice.

         17  Without that constructive notice you and I know

         18  Juarez could have never been successful.

         19                 MR. LEVY: But there are other ways to

         20  prove constructive notice.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Fine, but we

         22  know Juarez wouldn't have been successful. Are you

         23  going to answer my question? I know lawyers don't

         24  like to answer questions, but the fact of the matter

         25  is Juarez would not be successful under this law
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          2  which takes out the presumption which gives them

          3  constructive notice; isn't that correct?

          4                 MR. LEVY: Juarez --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Say yes. Say

          6  yes, it is true. I know it is hard to say yes, but

          7  it is true.

          8                 So, this law is attempting to change

          9  the law of the state. The proposed bill is

         10  attempting to change the law of the state by taking

         11  out constructive notice; isn't that correct?

         12                 MR. LEVY: It seems that this law is

         13  seeking to amend the local law, Local Law 1.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Which had a

         15  presumption that could be used in the courts, but

         16  now it doesn't.

         17                 MR. LEVY: But the problem with the

         18  presumption is that for landlords to be issued a

         19  violation in an apartment, if there is a

         20  presumption, then the landlord has a motivation, an

         21  impetus, to rather than immediately correct the

         22  hazard, contact his lawyer, contact an independent

         23  inspector, and try to find out if he can contest

         24  those initial violations. Because the presumption of

         25  lead paint is a presumption --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is

          3  rebuttable.

          4                 MR. LEVY: It is rebuttable. Now,

          5  because a landlord under the threat of tort

          6  liability would almost be advised, I would advise

          7  them, I would say don't go and fix it right away, go

          8  get an environmental crew, talk to a lawyer, try to

          9  contest it, because with that presumption you could

         10  be liable in torts.

         11                 Now, when the presumption does not

         12  apply in a tort lawsuit, then the landlord can

         13  freely go in and make those immediate repairs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We lawyers

         15  can do a lot of things with words, can't we?

         16                 You know, if the threat of lawsuit is

         17  there the landlord is going to go in and clean up

         18  his apartment. We are talking about prevention. We

         19  are not talking about a child who has already been

         20  lead poisoned. We are talking about it is the

         21  landlord who wants to avoid being sued is going to

         22  clean his apartment up so he doesn't have to go to

         23  his lawyer. Isn't that what you are going to have

         24  here? If he doesn't have any compulsion of being

         25  sued, if he can't be sued because he doesn't have
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          2  the benefit of the Juarez case and presumption of

          3  leaded paint, he is not going to have a problem.

          4                 MR. LEVY: If that would work, we

          5  wouldn't have a lead problem today.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We wouldn't?

          7                 MR. LEVY: No, because there is

          8  hundreds of millions of dollars in tort claims that

          9  have been paid up. There have been $11 million

         10  verdicts, there have been $7 million verdicts --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Based on the

         12  Juarez case?

         13                 MR. LEVY: If tort liability worked to

         14  prevent lead poisoning, it was even an incentive to

         15  prevent lead poisoning we wouldn't have it because

         16  the tort liability is out there.

         17                 The City has $500 million of tort

         18  liability now.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And do you

         20  know how many kids would have been lead poisoned if

         21  you hadn't had that threat of lawsuits? Do you have

         22  any idea? You have no idea, so you are just

         23  speculating, isn't that correct?

         24                 All I am trying to -- you are a

         25  lawyer, I don't want to argue the substance of the
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          2  case, I just want you to admit with without the

          3  Juarez case and the presumption that is in the

          4  current law, and taking it out, your difficulty is

          5  almost overwhelming to win a lawsuit in a multiple

          6  dwelling; isn't that correct?

          7                 MR. LEVY: I disagree with that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You disagree.

          9  Why do you disagree?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley, he

         11  can't disagree with you?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

         13  believe constructive notice is necessary in the

         14  Juarez case?

         15                 MR. LEVY: The constructive and actual

         16  notice --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Fine, actual

         18  notice. I am talking about constructive notice.

         19                 MR. LEVY: You are asking me in a

         20  landlord who fails to properly maintain his

         21  apartment --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

         23                 MR. LEVY:-- And a child who is living

         24  in his apartment gets lead poisoned --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.
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          2                 MR. LEVY: That child will be able to

          3  go in and successfully sue his landlord under the

          4  old bill, and likely under the new.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: He would have

          6  to show actual notice. He would have to show and

          7  prove in court that the landlord actually knew at

          8  the time he was poisoned that that paint was leaded

          9  paint. That is what you would have to show. I am a

         10  litigator also.

         11                 You would also have to show, as you

         12  probably know under this law, which is different,

         13  that the landlord knew that he lived in that

         14  apartment. You would also have to show that he gave

         15  a landlord written notice or actual notice of the

         16  condition. That is how far this bill goes to

         17  insulate landlords from liability. And you want to

         18  hide from it and change it around all you want, but

         19  you know something? I am a lawyer, thank God I am a

         20  lawyer and I can read.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         22                 Thank you, Corp Counsel.

         23                 Moving along now to Council Member

         24  Linares who has a question.

         25                 Well, let me complete HPD.
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          2  Commissioner, you are on another tight time frame.

          3                 Corp Counsel, please don't leave, we

          4  may have some more questions for you.

          5                 Council Member Linares, you have a

          6  question?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes.

          8                 Commissioner, the City Comptroller

          9  found several years ago that while the City had at

         10  that time some 66,000 lead paint violations in its

         11  database, some 43 percent of immediate hazardous

         12  violations still existed, an average of about one

         13  year after identification by HPD inspector. How will

         14  this bill that we are considering today improve that

         15  situation?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I am not

         17  familiar with the Comptroller report that you have

         18  referenced but it sounds as though it references

         19  what is kind of an ongoing issue of concern and

         20  discussion between the agency and this Committee as

         21  to how and when violations are removed, removed from

         22  the record and so forth.

         23                 The continued existence of the

         24  violation does not in and of itself represent the

         25  continued, or mean that the conditions still exist.
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          2                 In many of the same ways that our

          3  complaint system --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: How --

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Because, I will

          6  give you one example. In those instances, for

          7  example, where the City has performed work under our

          8  emergency repair system or program, the violations

          9  are not removed, even though we know that the work

         10  has actually been performed because we have done so.

         11                 In many of the same ways that the

         12  system is a complaint-driven system, the corrections

         13  are only removed when the landlord initiates a

         14  removal of the -- an action to remove the violation

         15  from the system. And so many circumstances that are

         16  repaired in fact don't get removed from the system

         17  and one of the discussions that we constantly have

         18  is around the over 2 million violations that

         19  continue on the record and I have no reason to doubt

         20  or disagree with the numbers that have been outlined

         21  by the Comptroller, but I don't think that

         22  necessarily is representative of the picture.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: But you do

         24  acknowledge that this a problem, that there have

         25  been difficulties in addressing it, when we talk
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          2  about 43 percent, that is almost half of the 66,000

          3  violations that were in the database, and I just

          4  raise this because this is a current problem that

          5  exists that is still needed to be addressed and I

          6  just don't know how this bill would help respond.

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I don't know

          8  whether the -- I do acknowledge that it is a

          9  problem, inasmuch as the violations exist. I don't

         10  agree necessarily that it is reflective of the

         11  condition of the housing stock. And so that is where

         12  I guess we would -- because the violation exists,

         13  continues on the record, it doesn't mean that the

         14  condition has not been corrected.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: But it still

         16  leaves pretty much up in the air, you know, what the

         17  answer is. You know, do you have a clear sense of

         18  what percentage, you know I know that it is 43

         19  percent here so we are assuming 63 percent within a

         20  one-year period which is a long period of time, by

         21  the way.

         22                 The question is, would this law

         23  aggravate that situation? And my sense is that the

         24  answer would be yes.

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I mean, I don't
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          2  follow that, why it would aggravate the situation. I

          3  mean, you are not going to have -- I mean, again,

          4  these conditions are C violations under the current

          5  system and I guess this legislation goes to a

          6  variety of different aspects of that system --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I guess this

          8  is an area of concern that is still consistent with

          9  your agency, and in terms of the resources that you

         10  would need, obviously you have not been able to

         11  comply to fulfill and to respond to the level of

         12  complaints in an expeditious way, either because you

         13  don't have the resources, the inspector and so

         14  forth. So, this is a serious area of concern that

         15  currently exists.

         16                 I guess my question is how would this

         17  law rectify or respond to this existing situation of

         18  the poisoning, or at least with the number of

         19  violations that you have on your database?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, again,

         21  without addressing that directly because I am not

         22  sure I understand, we can talk about that. But I

         23  guess the question also relates to, from a lead

         24  paint poisoning standpoint, that there are a variety

         25  of other circumstances which not only deal with the
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          2  reporting of the existence of the hazard in

          3  children, but also mechanisms for encouraging and

          4  giving incentives to owners to address this issue

          5  that occur outside of the context of just the

          6  complaint system.

          7                 So, the legislation deals with that

          8  as well.

          9                 So, you talk about the global issue

         10  of whether this can serve to assist in reducing the

         11  incidence of poisoning, yes, you know there are

         12  other mechanisms that work as well, in addition to

         13  just the complaint system.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: This is still

         15  a gray area, an area of concern that I think we need

         16  to look closely at.

         17                 I turn it back to you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 Council Member Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         22                 Is it true that under the proposed

         23  bill HPD would have no requirement to notify the

         24  Department of Health for violations?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I don't know if
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          2  there is a -- how we changed the notification of DOH

          3  in this bill, and I apologize for that. We will have

          4  someone --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I could tell

          6  you.

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We will have

          8  someone look at that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I just want to

         11  clarify how it is working now so I just wanted to

         12  get that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, great.

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: So I will have

         15  them get to that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I mean, my

         17  sense of just, as you are looking at the answer, you

         18  can correct if I am wrong, is that presently HPD

         19  notifies DOH of violations so that DOH can then

         20  follow up with the families and the children, and

         21  under this proposal, HPD would refer the families

         22  and the children to DOH so there wouldn't be direct

         23  communication between the agencies. So that is my

         24  understanding, so if you could get back to me on

         25  that, that would be very helpful. And just for the
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          2  record, if my understanding is in fact correct, that

          3  is in my opinion unsatisfactory notification and I

          4  would want and think that agencies could just speak

          5  to each other to really make sure we are going to

          6  get things cleaned up and prevent health problems

          7  for children.

          8                 Is there, under this proposal, what

          9  is the change in the landlord's duty to prevent?

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Meaning?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You know, their

         12  duty to prevent there from being future problems.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: You mean in

         14  terms of an ongoing basis? I am not quite sure what

         15  you mean by that.

         16                 You know, a threshold becomes created

         17  when you have got a building of a certain age, and

         18  then you have the notification that there is a child

         19  six or under in the unit and then you have an

         20  obligation to inspect. Now, all that being said, one

         21  thing I want to be very clear about is that does not

         22  take you out of the general system of code

         23  enforcement and compliance that occurs throughout

         24  the City of New York, so that being said, as

         25  inspectors may or may not --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That doesn't

          3  calm my fears.

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: -- Be visiting

          5  the building or particular units, that would also

          6  trigger inspections and obligations to actually

          7  remediate and so forth. But then you would be back

          8  into the process, articulated by the statute.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Once again, if

         10  you could just check, my sense is that presently

         11  there is -- that presently and then under proposed

         12  legislation which has been out there recently there

         13  was a desire to continue the duty to prevent and

         14  that this law we are talking about today doesn't do

         15  that.

         16                 Just a couple of last questions. What

         17  requirement or restrictions does the law we are

         18  talking about today have as it relates to common

         19  areas?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The common

         21  areas are not -- this particular piece of

         22  legislation does not address common areas, but I

         23  think that the Department of Health can talk about

         24  the health risks associated or that they perceive in

         25  those areas.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So you think it

          3  is efficient or satisfactory, enough protection not

          4  to have any restrictions in common areas?

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think that is

          6  the question for the Health Department. So, I don't

          7  know if you want to --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Does Health

         10  answer now or do we ask them later?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I want to finish

         12  up with Commissioner Roberts.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, then we

         14  will go to Health.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I have Council

         16  Member Ognibene, Council Member Perkins and Council

         17  Member Michels.

         18                 So, let's move now to Council Member

         19  Ognibene.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Welcome, Commissioner.

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE:

         25  Commissioner, as you know, this is probably one of
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          2  the most significant legislations I think that we

          3  are going to be working on, certainly in my tenure

          4  as a member of the Housing and Buildings Committee,

          5  and all of us are concerned that we are coming out

          6  with a piece of legislation that is going to get the

          7  job done, and I had been trying to compare some of

          8  the practices and procedures that were in place

          9  before or presently in force and effect and what

         10  this law will do to change that.

         11                 One of the things that concerns me is

         12  under the present scheme it appears that the City is

         13  not mandated to repair lead hazard where the

         14  landlord doesn't.

         15                 Would you clarify that, and how does

         16  that change under the present legislation?

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: As it currently

         18  stands we don't have a mandated duty to correct this

         19  type of violation under current law. This

         20  legislation does impose on the City a mandated duty

         21  to correct the violation if the owner does not do

         22  so.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And what

         24  kind of a time frame is imposed on that owner? What

         25  are looking at?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, there are

          3  a variety of different time frames outlined in the

          4  legislation. We have an obligation depending upon

          5  the time of year to actually issue the violations,

          6  to do the -- rather, to perform the inspection

          7  within 25 or 15 days, and then an obligation to

          8  actually issue, duly notify the owner within a

          9  60-day period.

         10                 Then there is a 15-day period, or is

         11  it 21 first? Twenty-one day period first, where the

         12  owner can actually perform the work consistent with

         13  the procedures that are outlined in the legislation.

         14  And then it goes on from there.

         15                 There are opportunities for a

         16  postponement that we can grant if the owner

         17  petitions us for that extention. We have to evaluate

         18  that and identify some criteria in which we would

         19  grant those extensions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Also, would

         21  you explain to me under the present law, what is the

         22  obligation on the part of an owner to correct a

         23  lead-based paint hazardous condition where there is

         24  no violation that has been issued? In other words,

         25  HPD hasn't issued a violation, what is his
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          2  obligation under present law?

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I assume that

          4  there is none, I don't think there is -- I mean, you

          5  have got to have a violation in order to be --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Now, does

          7  that change significantly under this present

          8  legislation that is being proposed?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It does. So

         10  there is an obligation to conduct an annual

         11  inspection and survey in connection with this

         12  specific condition which does not exist now under

         13  law.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: That

         15  represents a significant improvement certainly under

         16  the present --

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely.

         18  That is a significant change under the current --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: That there

         20  is now an affirmative duty on the part of the

         21  landlord to correct this --

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: To check this

         23  out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: To check

         25  this out, and if discovered, to correct the
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          2  condition.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Not present

          5  today.

          6                 One of the things that had concerned

          7  me was the discussion we had at the last meeting

          8  concerning the rules used to implement the previous

          9  law, and I believe that we will be using different

         10  rules under this new statute if it is passed.

         11                 And there was a discussion as to why

         12  the old rules weren't good enough. My sense was that

         13  the old law was draconian and therefore the rules

         14  used to implement it would also be draconian. But I

         15  think there was a concern as to which rules we would

         16  be applying if this law passed. Would you explain to

         17  me what are the rules and regulations that would

         18  apply if this law is passed?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The statute you

         20  know contemplates, I think the biggest thing,

         21  Council member, is the difference between what is

         22  contemplated under local law 1 and this piece of

         23  legislation, is the difference in approach.

         24                 The approach from a lead-safe

         25  approach that we are contemplating under this
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          2  current legislation to one that is lead-free, which

          3  we think gets you into a set of circumstances which

          4  might actually create more harm in terms of

          5  disturbing intact paint and so on and so forth.

          6                 So, that is I think the major

          7  difference. Now, as it relates to the specifics of

          8  implementing the legislation, that goes to the

          9  timeframes and the various obligations that we will

         10  have to correct and so forth, that come up that you

         11  have alluded to in your prior questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: It was my

         13  understanding that part of the rules and regulations

         14  that we would be adopting would be the rules and

         15  regulations that are in use or that have been

         16  promulgated by the Department of Environmental

         17  Protection and are in prevalent use throughout the

         18  United States; is that true?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, we do

         20  think that this is more consistent with what has

         21  been promulgated by federal agencies, whether it is

         22  DEP or EPA or HUD. But that is a significance

         23  difference in this legislation.

         24                 But, again, the approach is the

         25  approach that we think has a common acceptance
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          2  throughout the country.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          4  Perkins.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman.

          9                 Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's good to

         12  see you outside of your job.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Likewise.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I know your

         15  health is very important to you and I know that as a

         16  new father of a child under seven that you are

         17  sensitive to the concerns of children.

         18                 I enjoy the privilege of being a

         19  father, too, and I have on my staff an extraordinary

         20  person who unfortunately is a parent of a child that

         21  has been victimized by lead poisoning and whose

         22  child is suffering severely in terms of educational

         23  achievement, et cetera. So, this is a very serious

         24  concern of mine, and one aspect of the concern that

         25  I have relates to standards, relates to this bill

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            97

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  that seems to offer an incentive to landlords at

          3  what I would say is a second class standard. In

          4  other words, it is sort of a perverse form of social

          5  promotion in that, you know, if you comply within a

          6  certain period of time, you will get us an incentive

          7  that says you do not have to live up to the highest

          8  standards of the Health Code.

          9                 And I read the section here where the

         10  owner receives a notice of violation of Subdivision

         11  A of this section does not comply with the

         12  provisions for the timely correction of a violation

         13  pursuant to paragraph one of subdivision 1 of

         14  section 27-215 of this code.

         15                 The correction of the violation

         16  specified in subdivision A of this section shall be

         17  performed in accordance with section 173.14 of the

         18  Health Code of the City of New York. That is on page

         19  15, starting with line one going to line five.

         20                 So, basically what it says is there

         21  is an incentive, that we are going to encourage you

         22  to do this by punishing you if you don't, and making

         23  you do it right. So, you are allowed within a

         24  certain period of time to get away with doing it on

         25  a lower level, on a less healthy level, but if you
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          2  don't do it within that period of time, then you are

          3  going to be punished and you are going to have to do

          4  it right.

          5                 That seems kind of perverse, that

          6  seems kind of unfair, that seems kind of dangerous

          7  to children, and I am kind of wondering if that is

          8  in fact what this is saying and how do you feel

          9  about that?

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I will

         11  let my colleague speak to the Health Code and to the

         12  comparisons, although I think you obviously read the

         13  bill correctly and indicate that there is a

         14  distinction, and we are trying to I think

         15  incentivize owners to comply in a more timely

         16  fashion. But I guess the difference with what you

         17  have outlined is a concern or a characterization

         18  that what is contemplated by the statute is not a

         19  safe -- you know, is not a safe or effective means

         20  of dealing with the problem.

         21                 And I do think one of the reasons

         22  that in my prepared statement, I went through kind

         23  of in detail in numbering and laying out, that it is

         24  extensive in terms of what is required, and we do

         25  believe that it is sufficient to conduct a work in a
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          2  safe and effective manner.

          3                 You know, as it compares to the

          4  Health Code, you know, others can address that, but

          5  I do think it accomplishes, it gets accomplished

          6  what needs to be done.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is Dr.

          8  Cohen.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, that is the

         10  Commissioner of Health.

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That is the

         12  Commissioner of Health.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, you are

         14  going to wait until he testifies to respond?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         17  Whatever you want, Mr. Chairman, you know you will

         18  get.

         19                 Let me just ask HPD for

         20  clarification.

         21                 But you do agree that the highest

         22  standards should be the standard no matter what.

         23                 There should not be one standard for

         24  one time frame that is lower than the highest

         25  standard?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No. I think

          3  that the procedures that are outlined in the statute

          4  do constitute a high standard for effectively

          5  completing and accomplishing the work --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is that the

          7  highest standard?

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I don't

          9  know whether the Health Code -- I don't know whether

         10  he would characterize the Health Code as a higher

         11  standard or one that -- I suspect that it is one

         12  that is going to be maybe more onerous without

         13  necessarily accomplishing the public health goals

         14  that are outlined. I am not going to put words in

         15  his mouth, I will let him deal with that.

         16                 What I am saying is that I think this

         17  is a high standard that is effective for

         18  accomplishing the task at hand.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         20  very much, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to suggest

         21  another more positive incentive as it relates to the

         22  J-51 program. But I don't want to overwhelm the --

         23  so, maybe I will get to that on a second round. But

         24  I think J-51 offers something in a more positive

         25  vain as opposed to the negative approach that this
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          2  particular section seems to suggest.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          4                 Council Member DiBrienza.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Steve DiBrienza.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 Commissioner, I just want to make a

         11  brief preface to what I hope is a series of

         12  questions. I am trying to make sure I understand the

         13  comparison between Stan Michels' bill of which I am

         14  a co-sponsor and this bill that is being discussed

         15  which I do not support.

         16                 And let me preface it this way: There

         17  are five principles that I think should guide our

         18  efforts to protect children from lead poisoning, the

         19  work practices for removing lead paint must be safe.

         20  Lead violations must be corrected as quickly as

         21  possible. Older buildings must be presumed to have

         22  lead paint. The landlords must continue to inspect

         23  for lead paint hazards, as the law now requires and

         24  ultimately children who were lead poisoned must

         25  continue to have the right to bring civil action
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          2  against those who are responsible for their injury.

          3                 Now, with those five guiding

          4  principles, it seems to me the bill we are debating

          5  fails on virtually all five.

          6                 So, let me ask you a couple of

          7  things.

          8                 Is it correct that in this new bill

          9  only peeling lead paint or paint on deteriorated

         10  surfaces would have to be dealt with, as opposed to

         11  all five where any condition that causes exposure to

         12  lead, from lead-contaminated dust, soil, paint

         13  peeling or present or accessible services, anything

         14  that could harm a child would have to be dealt with.

         15                 This is more narrow; is that correct?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think this is

         17  my first interaction with you in this body, and,

         18  yes. I have seen enough of it --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         20                 Currently there is a duty to prevent

         21  and correct any lead hazard, new law only peeling

         22  lead paint; is that correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right. Let me

         24  say, again, this gets to the issue that I discussed

         25  with Council Member Ognibene, which is that the
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          2  approach to remediation is different under this bill

          3  which goes to these issues of the surfaces that are

          4  deteriorated as opposed to expanded. So, yes, both

          5  of those questions the answer is yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          7                 In terms of a kind of investigation

          8  and figuring out, our law sets up a situation

          9  similar to the window guard law, annual notices sent

         10  to tenant, et cetera, this bill uses essentially a

         11  model as best it has been analyzed that is similar

         12  to the old window guard law which was changed

         13  because it didn't work.

         14                 That is to say, no means to verify

         15  whether the landlord will send a notice, no penalty

         16  for non-compliance, exempt from liability unless

         17  actual notice, not just constructive notice -- so, I

         18  just want to make sure that we are in an area that

         19  when it comes to that kind of investigation where

         20  the law is very different.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I think we

         22  can get into that, I think with the exception of the

         23  liability questions, which I know you will get to

         24  later as well, I am not so sure that that - I mean,

         25  I think we could disagree as to the --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Not overall

          3  liability. That is a slightly different argument.

          4                 I was talking about just in regard to

          5  notices of children and so on.

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right and that

          7  is I guess what I am saying. I think as it relates

          8  to the -- with the exception of the last point, I

          9  think that some of the provisions actually work in a

         10  similar way.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Yes,

         12  actually, I am not necessarily asking you to defend

         13  the bill, which I think is ultimately indefensible.

         14  I am asking you to just see if I have the right

         15  comparison chart between what I would like and what

         16  I see is before us. So we can save some time.

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No, what I am

         18  saying is, I mean your question was old window guard

         19  law, new window guard law, requirements, you know

         20  annual, the second one so on and so forth. So, I

         21  guess with the exception of the last one you

         22  indicated, I guess I am not going to concede that

         23  there are major differences.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Okay, fair

         25  enough.
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          2                 In terms of the time that HPD has to

          3  act -- is it correct generally, let me try to add

          4  several points, I don't have to go through each and

          5  every one, that generally the time for inspections,

          6  and compliance, the time for issuing violations,

          7  inspections and the like, basically all of the time

          8  periods have been elongated in the proposed laws

          9  opposed to 205?

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: As compared to

         11  205, yes. But that was both in our conversations

         12  here with this Committee and also separately with

         13  the principal sponsor. We indicated that that was

         14  our concern.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: Right. I

         16  understand you don't have enough inspectors, you

         17  don't have enough personnel.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Again, as I

         19  said earlier this morning, it is making this

         20  hazardous condition consistent with other conditions

         21  in the Housing Maintenance Code. So we are not

         22  comparing it to 205.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: We don't

         24  want to work down to a lower standard though

         25  necessarily. We may bring those others up if there
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          2  are a lot of hazardous --

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Operationally I

          4  think certainly the performance of the Department I

          5  think has been good and is improving, and I think we

          6  are inside those time frames.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: I

          8  understand, but that is, again, not judging your

          9  performance, just to sum up, not judging your

         10  performance per se, which I do think is better under

         11  your tenure, it is whether or not the standard is

         12  high enough, even if you meet it. And I don't think

         13  you lower it, but rather, you know, (a) you keep it

         14  higher, either for this or for all of them, if you

         15  really think they all should be treated the same.

         16                 Lastly, there are a series of

         17  requirements regarding schools, day care centers,

         18  playground equipment, in other words, facilities way

         19  beyond the home, I think it is fair to say 205

         20  speaks to some, if not all of them, and this bill

         21  speaks and limits it to the home; is that correct?

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That's correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: So, for

         24  those whole host of reasons and others, it seems to

         25  me that the Administration is missing one point.
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          2  Intro. 205 is not a bill out somewhere in the

          3  extreme and that what should be juxtaposed to it is

          4  another extreme when we somehow find the middle. I

          5  submit to you Intro. 205 found the middle and you

          6  guys are bringing it to the far end and that is the

          7  problem.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right,

          9  Commissioner -- Council Member Freed is not in the

         10  room, or is she?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: There are

         12  two events going on, Mr. Chairman. As I am stepping

         13  down I will try to send her up for you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: One last

         15  question then for you, Commissioner.

         16                 Do you believe it is necessary for

         17  landlords of buildings that have been gut rehabbed,

         18  walls, ceilings, windows, et cetera, is it

         19  appropriate for them, this is a pre-60 building, gut

         20  rehabbed, to perform annual inspection of a

         21  lead-paint-based hazard, given that no lead-based

         22  paint remains in such a building; should we exempt

         23  such building from the annual inspection requirement

         24  contained in the proposed legislation?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well I think
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          2  that it is something that we should definitely look

          3  at because there would be significant removal of

          4  the, if not complete removal of the conditions that

          5  would be of some concern. But I think we would get

          6  ourselves into a discussion about definitionally

          7  (sic) what would constitute a gut rehab and so

          8  forth, but I think we would have to all be

          9  comfortable on that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner, I

         11  want to really apologize. I was distracted.

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think it is

         13  an important concept that I think we should address.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It should be

         15  addressed.

         16                 Okay, one other question. What is the

         17  purpose of the registry of lead-based paint

         18  violations, the registry, as it relates to

         19  lead-poisoned children? What is the purpose of the

         20  registry of lead-based paint violations? Are you

         21  aware of that, that there is a registry of

         22  lead-based paint violations?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: In terms of

         24  either the -- oh, that is in Local Law 1.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is in Local
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          2  Law 1?

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, that is in

          4  Local Law 1.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          6                 All right, I don't have any

          7  additional questions.

          8                 Council Member Michels, two minutes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, Mr.

         10  Commissioner, I think one of the problems here, and

         11  I don't blame you because I understand your

         12  situation, but the fact of the matter is, there is a

         13  lot here that people don't understand, the basic

         14  concept.

         15                 One of them is that the reason Local

         16  Law 1 had a problem is because of the

         17  state-of-the-art at that time believed that the lead

         18  poisoning was caused by lead chips. We are now

         19  understanding, and it is from the federal

         20  government, that it comes from lead dust, which

         21  bothers me terrifically because in the proposed

         22  legislation we have in front of us, there is not

         23  even mention of the word lead dust, which is the

         24  state-of-the-art. And we even changed the definition

         25  of lead-based paint hazard. The feds define it as
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          2  the lead contaminated dust, is one of the

          3  definitions. The Health Department rules talk about

          4  lead dust tests, but nowhere in this bill do we talk

          5  about lead dust. To me that really shows how

          6  misunderstood this legislation is, how bad it is,

          7  and how the complete concept is different.

          8                 That is not my question, I just made

          9  that statement.

         10                 This legislation and you keep talking

         11  in your statement about interim controls. Now,

         12  people should understand that interim controls is a

         13  word of art, because you are saying interim controls

         14  because you don't want to use the word abatement,

         15  and the word abatement is a very significant word

         16  and nowhere do we talk about abatement in this bill,

         17  as another way of changing things around. Because

         18  abatement, as you know, under the federal rules

         19  would require a certified worker, and that is why

         20  you say everything, no matter how terrible the

         21  condition is that the inspector finds he cannot

         22  issue a lead abatement order, he can only issue an

         23  interim control order, which says he doesn't follow

         24  the Health Department and EPA rules you have to

         25  follow within here.
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          2                 Now, to me that is so hypocritical

          3  and so revealing of the length that has been gone to

          4  here to protect the Administration and protect the

          5  landlord.

          6                 Now, I am looking right now at the

          7  federal rules, it says projects resulting in

          8  permanent elimination of lead-based paint hazards

          9  are those that are conducted to response to state or

         10  local abatement order.

         11                 Sir, my question is to you, why do

         12  you support a bill that does not permit you to issue

         13  a lead, a local abatement order, so that you would

         14  have to have a certified worker on a very dangerous

         15  condition?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your

         17  last question, Councilman.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: You know, I am

         20  not aware of any discussions around that particular

         21  principal, Council Member --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are not

         23  aware of it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         25  will you let him respond. Because it is a very long
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          2  day. We have got a very long day ahead of us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We do.

          4                 My comment on that is that we have a

          5  very important piece of legislation affecting the

          6  lead agency, HPD, and this is one of the most

          7  important issues --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: If you will let

          9  him answer --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the

         11  Commissioner has not had -- they have never had the

         12  opportunity with the people who have drafted this to

         13  discuss this issue with the Commissioner. That is

         14  reason enough why this bill should not be passed and

         15  we should delay it.

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Can I respond

         17  to that, because that is not what I said.

         18                 What I said was that particular

         19  technical issue that the Council Member outlined is

         20  not an issue that is aware of that has come up in

         21  the discussion or negotiation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because I

         23  have been there, that's why.

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I can't speak

         25  to where you have been or have not been, but what we
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          2  do know is that we have outlined a series of

          3  protocols, controls, what process, whatever you want

          4  to refer to it as, that I think outlines a manner

          5  for performing this work that we are comfortable

          6  with.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: All in

          8  violation, what I think of the federal rules, which

          9  calls for abatements and serious conditions. You

         10  have said everything is in interim control, that is

         11  what is in this legislation. Why don't we use the

         12  word abatement?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         14  you have made your point.

         15                 I don't see Council Member Linares.

         16                 Commissioner, I want to thank you for

         17  your testimony, and we will continue our discussions

         18  as we proceed.

         19                 Commissioner Neal Cohen of the

         20  Department of Health, if you will identify yourself,

         21  we will be happy to take your testimony.

         22                 Do you have written testimony, sir?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I am Dr. Neal

         24  Cohen, Commissioner of the Department of Health. To

         25  my left is Dr. Susan Clitzman, Assistant
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          2  Commissioner for Environmental Risk Assessment and

          3  Communication.

          4                 As I have testified before you on

          5  previous occasions, we, as a City, have experienced

          6  a very dramatic success in reducing --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are there copies

          8  of your statement?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't believe

         10  so at this time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So we don't

         12  have copies to follow.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We, as a City,

         14  have experienced dramatic success in reducing the

         15  occurrence of childhood lead poisoning over the past

         16  30 years.

         17                 In 1970 when the Health Code was

         18  first amended to require environmental investigation

         19  for the children with certain blood levels and the

         20  first lead poisoning control program was implemented

         21  at the Department of Health, there were 2,649 newly

         22  identified cases at the action level of 55

         23  micrograms per deciliter.

         24                 In 1998 there were 1,074 cases at or

         25  above the current action level for environmental
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          2  investigation and case management of 20 micrograms

          3  per deciliter.

          4                 Fewer than five percent of these

          5  cases had blood levels at the old action levels of

          6  55 micrograms per deciliter. In other words, we have

          7  managed to reduce the severity of cases by over 95

          8  percent.

          9                 The incidence in severity of

         10  childhood lead poisoning continues to decline each

         11  year. Just since 1994, the number of newly diagnosed

         12  cases declined by almost 50 percent. And as the

         13  City's public health leader, it is my responsibility

         14  to continue on this well-established course.

         15                 Last December I testified before this

         16  Committee and expressed my deep concern that the

         17  NYCCELP Court decisions would set us back.

         18                 We discussed the urgency of updating

         19  the current law enacted in 1982 to reflect new

         20  scientific evidence and new technology available

         21  since the law was enacted.

         22                 At that time I shared with you my

         23  conviction that the Court's interpretations of the

         24  law, which requires the disturbances on intact paint

         25  would create new lead paint hazards. Such a policy
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          2  is inconsistent with the National Consensus on Lead

          3  Poisoning Prevention and tragically could lead to a

          4  new wave of lead poisoned children in New York City,

          5  diminishing the dramatic progress in reducing lead

          6  poisoning which has been made over the past three

          7  decades.

          8                 A tremendous amount of work has been

          9  devoted to this very difficult issue of childhood

         10  lead poisoning prevention. A bill has been crafted

         11  that represents an incentive-based and workable

         12  approach to reducing lead hazards and contains many

         13  important advances over the existing legislation.

         14                 Most importantly, from a public

         15  health perspective, it incorporates many of the key

         16  principles of a responsible health-based approach

         17  that I discussed in my testimony last December.

         18                 I would like to briefly outline what

         19  I believe to be some of the many important

         20  improvements which this bill would engender in the

         21  City's childhood lead poisoning prevention program.

         22                 The proposed new law updates outdated

         23  standards, it defines lead-based paint as 1.0

         24  milligrams of lead per square centimeter or greater,

         25  modernizing the antiquated standard of 0.7
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          2  milligrams per square centimeter in Local Law 1.

          3  This definition is consistent with federal

          4  guidelines and state regulations.

          5                 The proposed law also represents a

          6  more accurate scientific approach to testing. It

          7  provides for lead paint testing based on a mass by

          8  area measurement of lead that is milligrams per

          9  square centimeter.

         10                 In the past, lead paint testing could

         11  also be based on a mass by weight measurement or the

         12  percent of lead by weight. This required that paint

         13  chips be collected and submitted to a laboratory for

         14  analysis. Taking chips from an already deteriorated

         15  component causes even further destruction to its

         16  service and increases the potential for young

         17  children to be exposed to a lead hazard if lead is

         18  present.

         19                 The proposed changes will reduce the

         20  hazards created by removing paint chips. The

         21  proposed law requires that more accurate equipment

         22  be used when testing for lead-based paint.

         23                 For example, correcting for substrate

         24  bias, that is elements in building material that can

         25  distort test results.
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          2                 The proposed law addresses the most

          3  critical lead-based paint hazards, namely lead-based

          4  paint that is peeling on a deteriorated or on a

          5  deteriorated subsurface in multiple dwelling units

          6  in which a child under six resides.

          7                 The peak age for childhood lead

          8  poisoning is between one and a half and two and a

          9  half years of age. Older children generally outgrow

         10  the hand-to-mouth behavior that puts them at risk

         11  for lead poisoning, unless they have pica or

         12  developmental disabilities.

         13                 Focusing on hazards in multiple

         14  dwelling units in which a child under six resides,

         15  will lead to more effective enforcement by enabling

         16  the private and public sectors to concentrate the

         17  expenditure of scarce housing and maintenance

         18  resources most appropriately.

         19                 The proposed language also addresses

         20  the major concern we had with the course

         21  interpretations of the current law that would

         22  require the abatement and disturbance of intact

         23  paint which would create unnecessary dust and

         24  potential exposure that experience has shown will

         25  increase the incidence of lead poisoning among
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          2  children.

          3                 This proposal requires many measures

          4  for safety, correcting peeling paint and minimizing

          5  and controlling lead-containing dust.

          6                 If enacted these amendments will

          7  require that for the first time safe work practices

          8  followed by an owner fulfilling the duty to correct

          9  lead-based paint hazards, even before a violation

         10  has been issued by HPD, the prescribed safe work

         11  methods are intended to minimize the creation of a

         12  lead dust and debris by prohibiting unsafe work

         13  methods such as dry scraping and dry sanding.

         14                 The bill requires that safer methods

         15  using a scraper and water mister to remove paint be

         16  used. As part of the correction, deteriorated

         17  subsurfaces must be repaired and all doors,

         18  including cabinet doors and windows must be adjusted

         19  to assure that no painted surfaces bind.

         20                 Where practicable, the work area

         21  would have to be sealed off to restrict access.

         22  Objectives on floors in the work would have to be

         23  covered, work materials would have to be safely

         24  stored, and any dust and debris would be removed and

         25  the work area surfaces thoroughly cleaned by washing
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          2  with a detergent solution or HEPA-vacuuming.

          3                 The proposed law will also reinforce

          4  and support the voluntary efforts of owners to

          5  comply quickly and consistently with their duty to

          6  maintain lead-based paint in good condition and to

          7  repair deteriorated lead paint conditions.

          8                 It creates an explicit duty of owners

          9  of multiple dwelling units before 1960 to determine

         10  if a child under age six resides in the dwelling

         11  unit and to inspect for and repair peeling paint on

         12  a regular basis. A process encompassing notification

         13  to tenants and annual inspections will create a

         14  reasonable method for owners to know if resident

         15  children are at risk, and to constantly monitor

         16  potential risks.

         17                 This process also provides incentives

         18  for landlords to act quickly and responsibly to

         19  correct problems before government involvement, and

         20  thus hold the promise of greatly reducing the number

         21  of lead exposures and the length of time a child may

         22  be exposed while such a hazard exists.

         23                 This preventive strategy is further

         24  strengthened by imposing an explicit duty upon the

         25  owner to repaint, repair peeling paint and
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          2  deteriorated subsurfaces and attend to other

          3  potential risks during each vacancy.

          4                 The law for the first time creates

          5  mandatory time frames for inspection, we didn't have

          6  that before, owner compliance and enforcement,

          7  including reinspections by HPD after the owner has

          8  certified that violations have been corrected.

          9                 This will lead to a reduction in the

         10  length of time during which children may be exposed

         11  to lead hazards.

         12                 It is important to remember that for

         13  the overwhelming majority of residential properties,

         14  the risk of lead hazards appear to be quite low.

         15                 More than 96 percent of these

         16  properties have never been issued a lead-based paint

         17  violation by the Department of Health. Even in the

         18  small percentage of dwellings where violations have

         19  been issued, the vast majority have been repaired

         20  and there is no evidence of recurrent problems. This

         21  bill will encourage responsible landlords to be

         22  vigilant in maintaining their properties safely

         23  without the need for government intervention, while

         24  focusing the City's enforcement resources on a

         25  smaller number of properties with significant and
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          2  recurring problems that require enhanced level or

          3  protection.

          4                 Finally, and of great importance to

          5  enforcement efforts, the legislation clarifies that

          6  the Department of Health and the Board of Health can

          7  address issues related to environmental

          8  interventions where children are lead poisoned as

          9  set forth in the Health Code.

         10                 This authority includes the ability

         11  to define lead-based paint and lead-based paint

         12  hazards and to order abatements of such hazards to

         13  be undertaken within specified time frames and in

         14  accord with work practice standards necessary to

         15  protect lead-poisoned children. This allows the

         16  Department greater flexibility in addressing cases

         17  of lead-poisoned children to assure immediate and

         18  effective remediation.

         19                 For the reasons I have mentioned, I

         20  believe that the provisions outlined when taken

         21  together go a long way in strengthening and

         22  improving a current law that has been unenforceable

         23  and improperly crafted, according to current

         24  scientific knowledge, and a long way in reducing and

         25  removing lead-containing paint chips, as well as
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          2  lead dust.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          5  Doctor.

          6                 What are your Department's, the

          7  Department of Health's expected costs associated

          8  with enforcing the rules and regs that are being

          9  established under this legislation?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We will have to

         11  get back to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As it relates to

         13  the rules and regs, prior to you appearing, issues

         14  were raised surrounding a clearance test to

         15  determine the efficacy of the remediation.

         16  Specifically what is your opinion on the use of dust

         17  wipe test to clear work areas in residences for

         18  occupancy after interim controls have been performed

         19  on lead-based paint hazards?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, I

         21  want to be very clear, that in my view we must

         22  ignore the dangers of lead-contaminated dust. We

         23  know now that lead-contaminated dust is the

         24  predominant source of lead poisoning, and most

         25  likely the best predictor of children's risk. And
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          2  there are studies at the federal level that confirm

          3  that preparation work for paint repair does

          4  frequently generate high levels of lead dust.

          5                 Even when performed with care by

          6  highly trained professionals, repairing peeling

          7  paint will often unfortunately still leave dust

          8  hazards behind. And because lead dust can be

          9  invisible to the naked eye, clearance tests I

         10  believe are important to confirm that the work has

         11  been done safely. And while wet scraping and wet

         12  sanding are beneficial in decreasing work exposures,

         13  we believe that they do not have a significant

         14  effect on the amount of lead dust generated and they

         15  cannot be seen as a substitute for dust clearance

         16  testing.

         17                 In my view, clearance dust testing

         18  provides the best quality control check that is out

         19  there. It is not a perfect test, it is flawed, there

         20  are many challenges to it, but in balance I am an

         21  advocate for having a dust clearance test that would

         22  allow us to feel comfortable that work is being

         23  carried out properly and safely and that does not

         24  pose any further significant exposure to lead dust

         25  to the children in those apartment units that we are
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          2  trying to protect.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What is the

          4  estimated cost of that test? Do you have any idea

          5  what it costs, in terms of collecting the

          6  information and submitting it to credible

          7  laboratories for analysis?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We can provide

          9  different estimates for you. It is a test whose

         10  price we understand have been coming down

         11  significantly over the course of years. I don't

         12  think the test itself is prohibited. There are

         13  issues, though, that we would very much welcome that

         14  the test be performed immediately upon completion of

         15  repair work. I think in fairness both to landlords,

         16  the family members, to anyone concerned that we get

         17  a result that is a responsible measure of the

         18  activity being carried out, that we create an

         19  opportunity for dust clearance testing to be carried

         20  out immediately upon conclusion of the work. The

         21  test itself is not expensive, and in my view,

         22  although we need to work up numbers, this will not

         23  add a significant cost to the program, whatever cost

         24  it adds to the program I think on balance will be

         25  well worth the results that we gain from carrying
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          2  this quality control check forward.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, what

          4  happens if the test has failed? Does that mean you

          5  have to start again from scratch? In your view?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, it is not a

          7  matter of starting from scratch. You know, we have

          8  in this bill some significant definition of safety

          9  standards for repair work.

         10                 For the first time we have safety

         11  standards that clarify the work methods, the

         12  materials and the clean-up that has to be done, the

         13  HEPA-vacuuming or the washing with detergent.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is already

         15  in the bill, right?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is in the

         17  bill. And it is our view that if carried out

         18  properly, dust clearance testing will be able to

         19  support that the work has been done effectively.

         20                 In the event that there is higher

         21  than acceptable threshold levels of dust, it signals

         22  the repair and maintenance staff that they need to

         23  go back and do absolutely more careful clean-up.

         24  This is a clean-up that doesn't necessarily change

         25  the maintenance work, so much as it impacts on the
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          2  way they leave the apartment for the tenant.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So the purpose

          4  of the task force would be to ensure that when the

          5  clean-up is completed, that there is no lead dust to

          6  contribute to further contamination. It doesn't say

          7  that there will never again be the evidence of lead

          8  dust, we know it comes from many sources, but as it

          9  relates to that specific job, it should meet some

         10  standards of clearance.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We understand

         12  that the strongest correlation with future lead

         13  poisoning in a child in a unit where repair work has

         14  been done would be lead dust level that was

         15  established at the site closest to the performance

         16  of the repair work.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask you a

         18  question. In terms of the complexity of the test, do

         19  we have to have some highly trained technician with

         20  various levels of degrees and licenses to perform

         21  this test? Or is collecting the dust for the test

         22  separate and apart from the laboratory that does the

         23  analysis; what level of worker could collect the

         24  dust samples, in your opinion?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In my opinion,
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          2  and I believe in the opinion of many, many people,

          3  the actual methodology to carry out the clearance

          4  dust test does not require a high level of

          5  professional expertise so much, it does require

          6  training in how to carry out the dust tests.

          7                 We would be able to look at the

          8  Department of Health resources or other resources,

          9  it is a relatively -- it is not a lengthy period of

         10  time that would be required to train people

         11  sufficiently. In some municipalities

         12  paraprofessional people, community people, are

         13  carrying out the tests. Individuals from

         14  community-based organizations have been known to

         15  carry out the tests. So the test itself does not

         16  call upon a level of professional expertise that

         17  would not be trainable in a recently short period of

         18  time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Finally, are

         20  there any areas within a dwelling unit where

         21  landlords and the City should concentrate their

         22  inspection efforts, because of the possibility of

         23  lead in those areas? Based on your history of

         24  violations and inspection results.

         25                 If you will identify yourself, Ma'am,
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          2  we will be happy to have your views on this.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: My

          4  name is Dr. Susan Clitzman, I oversee the Department

          5  of Health's Lead Poisoning Prevention Program. For

          6  the inspections that the Department of Health

          7  conducts, primarily in dwelling units where we have

          8  identified a child with a blood lead level of 20

          9  micrograms per deciliter greater, we do see as a

         10  result of the testing that we perform certain

         11  components in a dwelling unit tend to have higher

         12  levels of lead than other components.

         13                 I don't know how representative that

         14  data is with the housing stock of the entire City.

         15  You know, we would be happy to share that

         16  information with you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, I will

         18  accept that.

         19                 All right, my final question relates

         20  to the training.

         21                 Doctor, do you believe that the

         22  training, licensing and certification requirement

         23  for lead abatement workers, there is going to be a

         24  great deal more work out there once we get moving,

         25  recently adopted by New York State which goes into
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          2  effect in August, do these requirements, in your

          3  opinion, adequately acknowledge, adequately address

          4  your concerns?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: You are asking

          6  whether the EPA standards for lead abatement meet

          7  the requirement for quality controls and necessary

          8  expertise in carrying out lead abatement work?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The New York

         10  State requirements.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. Yes, there

         12  is no question that lead abatement does require a

         13  level of training and expertise in how to carry out

         14  the necessary safety standards that are currently

         15  under the jurisdiction of the Health Code and the

         16  Board of Health, and we continue to be vigilant to

         17  maintain our jurisdiction over those activities,

         18  because lead abatement in itself is certainly

         19  critical to reducing lead poisoning of children in

         20  this City and throughout the country and we would be

         21  strong advocates to ensure that people who are

         22  carrying out lead abatement work have the necessary

         23  training, knowledge and tools to do the work well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you.

         25                 Council Member Michels, followed by

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            131

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Council Member Freed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Commissioner,

          4  I am very glad that you are back and we are able to

          5  ask some questions of you. When you finished your

          6  statement you said the bill was acceptable to you,

          7  and then you now said that you need the clearance

          8  test and that it is very important, would you think

          9  the bill without the clearance test is an effective

         10  piece of legislation?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: My comments were

         12  to compare this bill with Local Law 1 and I provided

         13  you with a number of reasons where there were

         14  advances over what I think now was a totally

         15  unacceptable bill.

         16                 And with regard to peeling paint and

         17  also the likelihood that we would be able to safely

         18  reduce, if not eliminate, high lead dust levels,

         19  this bill I believe will accomplish what it sets out

         20  to do.

         21                 My testimony now, I am speaking to

         22  the significance of clearance dust testing as the

         23  best quality control measure we have.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you think

         25  the bill without the clearance test is an acceptable
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          2  piece of legislation? Without the clearance. The

          3  bill doesn't have a clearance test. You say you

          4  should have clearance tests, is the bill acceptable

          5  without clearance testing?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The bill has

          7  many, many significant qualities that advance it

          8  from the current legislation and my view --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Fine, but is

         10  it acceptable without clearance testing?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- In my view, I

         12  am an advocate for clearance dust testing and I

         13  stated the reasons why.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         15  trying to say, because your predecessor Margaret

         16  Hamburg testified before this Committee that the

         17  bill was not acceptable without clearance testing.

         18  And I am just wondering why you would not say the

         19  same thing.

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, my

         21  predecessor and I are in agreement about the

         22  potential value of clearance dust testing, and I am

         23  clear that it provides us with a necessary quality

         24  control measure --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We agree.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That even with

          3  the best trained of individuals who would carry out

          4  this work, we know from a number of studies that

          5  there remains a risk of lead dust that can be

          6  invisible to the eye.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. I have

          8  said the same thing.

          9                 And you are the Chairman of the Board

         10  of Health, aren't you?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, I am.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you know

         13  the Board of Health is the one that issues the Board

         14  of Health regulations for the City of New York, and

         15  you know that clearance testing is provided for in

         16  those health rules, the presently existing enforced

         17  health rules provides for clearance testing; isn't

         18  that correct?

         19                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. And it

         21  talks about lead dust.

         22                 Do you know there is no mention in

         23  this legislation about lead dust at all? Absolutely

         24  none.

         25                 You talked about how well thought out
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          2  this bill, and the improvements over Local Law 1,

          3  you know Local Law 1 and this bill is supposed to be

          4  a prevention, right? The whole idea is to get to the

          5  child, clean up the problem before you get a child

          6  lead poisoning. But yet, something that was in Local

          7  Law 1 is not in this draft, which was very

          8  important, and that is, when there was a violation

          9  placed, to refer that violation over to your

         10  Department, the Health Department so you could check

         11  out the children. That is not in this bill. That has

         12  been taken out of this bill. So, in a very big way

         13  we have done away with some prevention. You are not

         14  going to see a child until it is lead poisoned. It

         15  is horrible. Why is that not in here? Are you aware

         16  that is not in here, Commissioner?

         17                 There is no reference from HPD to DOH

         18  about the fact there is a lead hazard violation

         19  placed on an apartment?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As you know,

         21  Councilman, Local Law 1, which was crafted in 1982

         22  was before there was mandatory lead testing for all

         23  children in New York City --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- At the age of
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          2  one, at the age of two. So, we currently have in

          3  place a significant opportunity --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: A state law,

          5  I might add.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: State law.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- To reach out

          9  and with the compliance from practitioners and from

         10  clinics --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is not

         12  my question.

         13                 Don't you think --

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: -- We have an

         15  ability to look at which children are at highest

         16  risk throughout the City, even if their violations

         17  are not coming to the attention of HPD or to

         18  landlords.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Don't you

         20  think when HPD has found a lead hazard that you

         21  should be able to examine the children in that

         22  apartment to see if they were poisoned? Instead of

         23  having to wait around, it just so happened you may

         24  have tested a kid or somebody is tested, you know

         25  about 40 percent of the kids are not tested?
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          2                 I think you agree with me on this

          3  one.

          4                 Sir, I have another question for you.

          5  I will wait.

          6                 Isn't it true, sir, isn't it true

          7  that the paint removal and clean-up protocols in the

          8  preconsidered bill, the bill in front of us, for the

          9  first 21 days after issuance, are less specific than

         10  the Department of Health's existing regulations, and

         11  that they give more discretion to the landlords? The

         12  bill that is presently in front of us? Isn't that

         13  true?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The bill lays out

         15  safety standards for the conduct of work area

         16  preparation, work methods and materials, and clean

         17  up that are very, very clearly articulated.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But they are

         19  less stringent than the Department of Health rules,

         20  aren't they, sir?

         21                 You know they don't provide six mil

         22  polyethylene plastic to be applied to the apartment.

         23  Six mil disposable polyethylene sheeting, that is

         24  not provided for.

         25                 I can go down and spend 20 minutes
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          2  reading all of the things that are in the Department

          3  of Health regulations, you are the Chairman, they

          4  were issued under your auspices, that are not in

          5  this bill. Isn't that true?

          6                 So, you are supporting a bill that

          7  goes against the regulations that you as Chairman of

          8  the Board of Health have promulgated.

          9                 Do you find that acceptable?

         10                 In your considered medical opinion,

         11  sir, do you find that the health regulations or the

         12  language in this bill are more protective of

         13  children who are lead poisoned?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your

         15  last question, Stanley.

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I spoke to

         17  the success of the lead poisoning and prevention

         18  program. I do think this bill provides a sensible

         19  and enforceable approach to being able to carry the

         20  program forward in a very significant way. So that

         21  there are a specific duty for landlords to carry out

         22  inspections that doesn't exist now so that the very

         23  high safety standards that are articulated in the

         24  Health Code would not be required to be enacted as

         25  frequently as they are, because we would have
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          2  ongoing better maintenance and repair than we

          3  currently have. And, sir, I do think that is an

          4  advance, and I think that we will see fewer less

          5  poisoned children as a result of that, and the

          6  Department of Health will continue to work with HPD

          7  to make sure that apartment units where children are

          8  living where there are violations will have a full

          9  opportunity, we will look at the linkage with

         10  primary care health provider, we are moving into a

         11  Medicaid Managed Care environment and where one

         12  million and several hundred thousand children will

         13  be --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think you

         15  have answered my question by not answering it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         17  Doctor.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can I ask one

         19  other question?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No, no. Council

         21  member, you are out of order.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why do you

         23  use the word abatement in your statement --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And there is
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          2  no mention of abatement in this law? And you know

          3  abatement calls for a certified worker and there is

          4  not a word in this legislation that calls for an

          5  abatement; how can you sit there and do that?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right, thank

          7  you.

          8                 Thank you, Council Member.

          9                 Council Member Freed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

         11                 Commissioner, how long does it take

         12  for a child to be lead poisoned?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It can be very

         14  quickly.

         15                 It depends upon the amount of

         16  exposure, the amount of lead, whether it is chips,

         17  peeling paint, lead dust. So, you can have very high

         18  levels occurring very quickly, or it can be very

         19  gradual over an extended period of time.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, in a case

         21  where it has already been discovered that you have

         22  peeling paint where a child is capable of getting to

         23  that peeling paint where there is lead dust around,

         24  how long should that child continue to be exposed to

         25  that potential lead poisoning or continual lead
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          2  poisoning before the City actually moves in and does

          3  something about it?

          4                 Do you think it is appropriate to

          5  wait 20 days?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There is no

          7  question that from the public health perspective the

          8  quicker the better. There is no scientific data,

          9  Councilwoman, that I can give to you that would say

         10  if we get to it within six days, 15 days, 20 days,

         11  we will see different outcomes. There is no

         12  question, though, that we encourage there to be a

         13  rapid response -- we encourage our sister agency,

         14  HPD, to be able to address and use its resources as

         15  they can to shorten the time frames once these

         16  violations have been cited to carry out

         17  reinspections, so that we minimize any opportunity

         18  that children would have to have continuing exposure

         19  to lead.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right. But on

         21  the other hand, I have already asked the

         22  Commissioner of HPD why these standards in this bill

         23  are actually less than the ones that they previously

         24  recommended.

         25                 I mean, this bill basically says it's
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          2  all right, once you discover there is a violation,

          3  that it is all right to continue to expose children

          4  for potentially months. In fact, if you have a

          5  recalcitrant landlord, you could go for 60. 70, 90

          6  days, maybe even more.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Two-hundred.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Two-hundred.

          9  How can that be doing the right thing by the

         10  children of this City, how can we -- as responsible

         11  individuals, how can we allow this sort of condition

         12  to exist when the condition is there, when we know

         13  it is there, and we do nothing about it. How is that

         14  responsible and how is that fulfilling your job to

         15  protect the children of this City?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: If I

         17  could just respond. We certainly share your concerns

         18  about wanted hazards to be corrected as quickly as

         19  possible, but in our experience we also see that

         20  there are many things that can be done to reduce

         21  children's exposure, such as working with families

         22  to educate them about the risks.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Please don't

         24  put more of the onus on the tenants. I mean, they

         25  basically cannot go out and clean up and cannot
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          2  paint and cannot take care of their apartments. They

          3  are prohibited by law, it has to be done by the

          4  landlord.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: We

          6  aren't disagreeing with anything that you are saying

          7  or saying that education should take the place of

          8  addressing the hazard and correcting the violation,

          9  what I am saying is that we have seen that education

         10  is extremely effective in reducing children's blood

         11  lead levels, that when you tell parents, and you

         12  educate them to wash their children's hands

         13  frequently, stay away from the areas.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Excuse me. If

         15  you are living in an area where there is lead dust

         16  all around you can wash their hands, you probably

         17  can't wash their lungs.

         18                 The only way to get rid of it is to

         19  guarantee that someone goes in there and cleans it

         20  up immediately, and you have to have proper testing

         21  afterwards.

         22                 I mean, isn't it true, as Stanley

         23  pointed out, the regulations in this bill and the

         24  protocols are actually less specific than the ones

         25  that you have recommended. Isn't it also true they
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          2  are less stringent than the federal HUD guidelines

          3  for lead paint removal? Why can't we comply with

          4  that?

          5                 How do we get away with this where we

          6  continue to weaken the standards? I am sympathetic

          7  with landlords who may have actually made an effort

          8  to try and clean things up, but quite frankly, from

          9  what I have observed and from what I have seen, too

         10  many of them wait too long, they take too long and

         11  they will fight it to the last day before they

         12  actually take any steps.

         13                 And even then, as Commissioner Cohen

         14  pointed out, it is very difficult to do proper lead

         15  removal. I won't even say abatement. But who

         16  oversees that the proper treatment is done?

         17                 I have seen too many instances where

         18  unqualified people, in many cases they don't even

         19  know that working with lead go in, some cases they

         20  don't even wear masks because whoever is doing the

         21  job doesn't have the right certification and yet

         22  this bill doesn't talk about abatement, doesn't

         23  require certifications, who is going to oversee

         24  that?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your
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          2  last question, Council Member.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I didn't get

          4  any answer.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I can only

          6  guarantee your right to get a question in.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right.

          8  Well, I think lack of an answer probably speaks for

          9  itself.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I appreciate the

         11  concerns that you are raising. I pointed up earlier

         12  in my testimony that 98 percent of residential

         13  buildings that would be at risk have never been

         14  cited for lead violations by the Department of

         15  Health.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Have they been

         17  cited by HPD?

         18                 Have you done any analysis of when

         19  lead poison comes from dwellings where HPD --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You asked for an

         21  answer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I am sorry but

         23  this is a follow up.

         24                 Where HPD had previously issued

         25  violations for peeling paint or lead paint; has
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          2  there been a follow-up on that?

          3                 How many cases are there of children

          4  having been repoisoned?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

          6  you are being grossly unfair to your colleagues.

          7                 You can sit here and outshout me, but

          8  please don't do that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I just wanted

         10  to follow up on his response.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You have a

         12  second round.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I wave my

         14  time for her.

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilwoman, you

         16  asked how many children are repoisoned, it is very,

         17  very rare. We can get some numbers for you, but I am

         18  pleased to say it almost never happens and I think

         19  that speaks to the quality of our effort to address

         20  lead poisoning control in this City.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         22  Quinn.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: That is not

         24  what this says.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.
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          2                 In response to Council Member

          3  Michels' questions you described yourself,

          4  Commissioner, as an advocate for lead containment;

          5  is that correct?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We were talking

          7  about lead dust.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right. And you

          9  described yourself as an advocate for measures which

         10  would address and contain --

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Of course.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

         13                 Recently I know that there have been

         14  many public health experts who have reached out to

         15  you who based on their knowledge that that is your

         16  position as a public health professional have then

         17  asked you to take the public position that you would

         18  want the definition of lead paint hazard in this

         19  bill changed.

         20                 And since I share your position as an

         21  advocate on this issue, I can honestly say I cannot

         22  vote for a bill which doesn't have the definition --

         23  which has the present definition that this bill does

         24  for lead-based paint hazard and that it would have

         25  to be changed.
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          2                 Based on your statement to Council

          3  Member Michels, I can then assume, but correct me if

          4  I am wrong, that you have the same position that I

          5  do that you cannot and will not support a bill that

          6  has this definition of lead-based paint hazard and

          7  therefore are in agreement with the various experts

          8  who reached out to you.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I have stated my

         10  position that I do believe that dust clearance

         11  testing is the best thing that we have right now, it

         12  provides quality control to make sure that the work

         13  being done does not leave any lead dust that would

         14  pose a significant risk to children living in those

         15  units. And I am saying this publicly, I have said

         16  this to others before, and I would hope that by the

         17  end of the day when this bill is enacted we would

         18  see that those standards are met.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Let's just for

         20  complete argument's sake, let's go to a place in our

         21  minds where that doesn't happen, okay? And I vote

         22  no, and shockingly, even though I vote no, the bill

         23  gets out of the City Council and it gets to the

         24  Mayor's desk, are you as the Health Commissioner

         25  going to urge the Mayor not to sign the bill or not
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          2  stand with him when he signs the bill, based on the

          3  fact that people did not heed your advice as a

          4  public health professional?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I have no problem

          6  with sharing my views to the Mayor, Councilwoman.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And so will you

          8  publicly then as the Health Commissioner not support

          9  this bill with this definition if it is passed by

         10  the City Council?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I communicate

         12  with the Mayor frequently. I let him know my views

         13  on public health matters, and I will certainly let

         14  him know where I stand on this bill and how I think

         15  the bill can be strengthened.

         16                 What I spoke to in my testimony

         17  earlier where I think a number of meaningful and

         18  significant advances over what we have today, and I

         19  think what we have tomorrow, can be even better.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: The

         21  Commissioner of the Department of Housing

         22  Preservation and Development said that it would be

         23  your Department that could best address the

         24  weakenings that this bill proposes for protections

         25  in common areas; could you please pick up that ball
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          2  and run with it?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, in our

          4  view, common areas of multiple dwellings don't

          5  universally pose the same degree of risk as lead

          6  paint hazards that are inside multiple dwelling

          7  units, especially when you consider that the

          8  population at greatest risk are toddlers between the

          9  age of one and a half and two and a half. These

         10  toddlers would spend generally most of their indoor

         11  time inside their homes or apartments, it is our

         12  finding that -- no, saying that, common areas should

         13  be maintained by owners, but I think we are talking

         14  about a bill that is crafted to create priorities,

         15  in view of resource issues, and also what our own

         16  common sense is regarding where to focus those

         17  priorities, and in our view those lead hazards are

         18  much greater inside dwelling units so that universal

         19  mandates concerning all common areas in our view is

         20  not necessary. When HPD finds a lead paint hazard in

         21  a common area, where a parent or other guardian

         22  might report that his or her child routinely plays,

         23  the agency should have the discretion to issue a

         24  violation to the owner.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Let me just ask
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          2  two things to follow up to that.

          3                 I think we can all agree that there

          4  is more risk inside the apartment than in a common

          5  area, but are you saying there is no risk in the

          6  common area? Because the bill we are discussing

          7  today has no requirements for provisions in the

          8  common areas, so I am assuming you are then saying

          9  that there are no problems, therefore, no

         10  requirements needed.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, I am not

         12  saying that there is no risk. I am talking about

         13  prioritizing risk, having a risk-based approach to a

         14  bill that will make the activities required and

         15  mandated by the bill much more enforceable and

         16  likely to occur, than by putting in so many

         17  different categories that the bill actually is not

         18  carried out responsibly, that it is not enforceable

         19  and that we did not meet our public health target to

         20  safeguard the health of these children.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But to make no

         22  restrictions then because you have been unable to

         23  meet some you said, seems like quite -- it seems

         24  like we would then say children in this City are not

         25  meeting the reading levels we want in our public
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          2  schools, so therefore we are going to get rid of

          3  reading requirements for children. I mean it sounds

          4  like that is what we are doing here. Because the

          5  landlords can't make it and they can't meet the

          6  requirements for common areas and other things, then

          7  let's just take away the requirements, which I can't

          8  imagine any of us would ever propose as it relates

          9  to reading and math scores in our public schools.

         10                 And just one last question, you said

         11  if a common area --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That was a

         13  statement, now your last question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right. That is

         15  a statement, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your

         17  last statement too.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You said you

         19  will deal with common areas when notified, you know,

         20  if there is a violation by HPD, but as I understand

         21  it, HPD is no longer going to communicate with DOH,

         22  and the way you will find out if there are

         23  violations are from the families and the children,

         24  not from HPD, so how exactly would that DOH

         25  intervention in a common area be triggered by HPD if
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          2  they no longer have to communicate with you?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Council Member, I

          4  believe that HPD does have the authority to issue

          5  violations for peeling paint in common areas.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I am talking

          7  about notification to you, though, not issuing.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, Councilman

          9  Michels is saying it is not a C violation, but it is

         10  a violation that can be addressed by HPD, that is a

         11  violation nevertheless, and we expect that landlords

         12  and owners would respond to those HPD violations and

         13  address the concern in the common area.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. I

         15  would like a second round, please.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         17  Miller.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Commissioner,

         19  let me just try to understand this. With regard to

         20  the violations which HPD write for lead-based paint

         21  hazards, and the communication between your

         22  Department and HPD, did I understand this correctly

         23  that there is no communication there at all and that

         24  you don't do testing based upon HPD violations for

         25  any particular resident? You don't test the kids in
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          2  that resident based upon those violations; is that

          3  correct?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN:

          5  Currently it is a state law that health care

          6  providers do the testing and do the risk assessment

          7  on children. They must be tested at age one and two

          8  and have a risk assessment up through age six. So it

          9  is health care providers' responsibility to test

         10  children for lead, and we believe that is the

         11  correct approach, because children need

         12  comprehensive medical care.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: You do some

         14  testing for children for lead poisoning, right?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: We

         16  do very little direct screening of children, except

         17  primarily during emergencies. We have several

         18  mechanisms in place to assure that children have

         19  access to free or low-cost screening services.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: In other

         21  words, if something feels that their child has been

         22  lead poisoned and they call you, you help them?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: We

         24  will help them get a lead test and --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Why do you
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          2  help them?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: It

          4  is the state law that all young children have lead

          5  testing because young children in general, although

          6  not on a specific basis --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: You do it

          8  because your mission of the Department of Health is

          9  to help ensure that they are healthy kids in the

         10  City?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: In a

         12  general way that is correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right. So then

         14  it would seem to me, you know, I mean -- and it is

         15  your testimony essentially that the reason we have

         16  to have -- you are for certain parts of this bill

         17  because it creates an advancement in the terms of

         18  protecting children, with regard to removing lead

         19  paint hazards and addressing lead paint, which is a

         20  serious health problem for children, right?

         21                 I mean, that is the reason we are all

         22  here, because we want to see these hazards cured.

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is the

         24  reason we are here.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Then wouldn't
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          2  it seem then, if there is a hazard and you know

          3  there is a hazard, not you personally but the City

          4  knows that there is a hazard, and it is your mission

          5  at the Department of Health to protect children from

          6  these types of hazards and ensure that they get the

          7  appropriate medical care, wouldn't it seem that

          8  there would be sort of a higher priority from your

          9  point of view in terms of making sure that those

         10  kids get immediate testing?

         11                 Why wouldn't it? Is it expensive?

         12  What is the problem?

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We do that

         14  currently, Councilman. Any time we get referral of a

         15  potential lead paint hazard, we are vigilant to make

         16  sure that children in those units are attended to,

         17  we prefer to see them linked with their primary

         18  health care provider so that we don't do a lead test

         19  in isolation from a more complete picture of their

         20  health needs. We do that now and we would plan to

         21  continue to do that in the future.

         22                 In fact, I would hope --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But it is not

         24  in the legislation.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, it is not in
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          2  the legislation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So you would

          4  support it being in the legislation? Since you plan

          5  to do it, but we would have to make you responsible,

          6  Commissioner, and the responsible agency, but we

          7  want to make sure that future administrations behave

          8  just as responsibly, right?

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The legislation

         10  does articulate that HPD shall refer to appropriate

         11  medical providers. Any person who requests

         12  assistance in blood-lead screening testing -- you

         13  know, we are --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I am sorry, I

         15  am just trying to get -- because I was told that was

         16  not in the current bill. They are not referring it

         17  to you;-- they are referring it to who?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, they have a

         19  choice. They might refer it to a primary care

         20  provider, they might refer it to the Department of

         21  Health.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: They might or

         23  they have to?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Shall refer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So your
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          2  feeling, the current practice, what you are saying

          3  here is you engaged in the current practice, they

          4  refer it to you and you do something about it,

          5  right? Currently that is what happens? That is what

          6  you are saying happens?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I'm sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I am too.

          9                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: What I would like

         10  to communicate is that it is in the bill for the

         11  Department of Health to refer to medical providers

         12  any children who come to our attention that we

         13  believe are in need of lead screening and other

         14  health care --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: DOH refers,

         16  but HPD doesn't --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your

         18  last question, Council member.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: My last

         20  question is my first question, I am just trying to

         21  get an answer here.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: There will be a

         23  second round as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, but I am

         25  just trying to get an answer. I am not trying to
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          2  establish a new question, I am trying to get an

          3  answer for the same one.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You did receive

          5  an answer. It might not be the one you enjoy or

          6  understand.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: No, no, I am

          8  not clear. I don't think I did.

          9                 Let me just rephrase it, very

         10  quickly.

         11                 You are saying that currently HPD

         12  writes a violation and then refers it to you to do

         13  some screening of children where the violation has

         14  occurred.

         15                 Apparently it is not in the bill, or

         16  it is in the bill but you are saying you are going

         17  to continue to practice regardless of whether it is

         18  in the bill because it is a good practice; is that

         19  your testimony?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No. Currently

         21  what is required of HPD is to provide information to

         22  the family of the potential for alleged screening

         23  exposure that would be best addressed through their

         24  links with their primary health care provider. But

         25  by giving them information they have the numbers of
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          2  the Department of Health, it is not a direct HPD to

          3  DOH referral.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And that is

          5  different from the current practice?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is different

          7  from the current law, correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

          9  that is your last question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay. I will

         11  come back because I would love an answer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         13  Ognibene.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Just keep

         15  trying.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman.

         18                 Doctor, earlier you alluded to

         19  practices and procedures that could be implemented

         20  outside of the scope of this legislation which you

         21  thought were effective in reducing lead poisoning in

         22  children, I believe you were about to answer that

         23  but were cut off. I would like to hear your answer,

         24  and also your assessment on how effective these

         25  practices and procedures are, compared with the
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          2  effectiveness of the legislation.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: The

          4  point I was trying to make earlier was just that

          5  lead poisoning prevention is a multi-faceted process

          6  and we are not saying that one part is more

          7  important than another, we are just saying that

          8  there are several things that need to be in place.

          9  There needs to be access to screening and medical

         10  care. There needs to be information and education to

         11  all affected parties about preventing hazards and

         12  reducing hazards, and there needs to be fixing of

         13  lead-based paint hazards when they are identified.

         14                 So, all three pieces are important

         15  and I would be hardpressed to say which one is more

         16  important than the other, but we do have evidence

         17  that all of these pieces are very effective in

         18  reducing children's blood-lead levels, or in

         19  preventing lead poisoning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And you had

         21  talked something about the educational process. What

         22  are you doing to implement this educational

         23  training, and what does it involve?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN:

         25  Currently at the Department of Health we spend
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          2  significant amounts of time with families of lead

          3  poisoned children, giving them information about the

          4  multiplicity of things that need to be done to

          5  reduce a child's blood-lead levels and to prevent

          6  further poisoning from occurring, including

          7  nutritional, counseling, doing assessment of the

          8  child's typical diet and what improvements can be

          9  made in the diet to reduce the absorption of lead.

         10                 We address the issue of identifying

         11  what are the possible hazards that that child faces

         12  and what could be done to take that child

         13  immediately away of those hazards, like that day,

         14  even if the abatement or hazard reduction doesn't

         15  occur immediately, housekeeping, hand-washing, it is

         16  just so important to make sure that the children

         17  frequently wash their hands and have their toys

         18  washed so that the typical normal hand-to-mouth

         19  activity which toddlers engaged in as part of their

         20  normal development does not become a vehicle for

         21  lead exposure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And after we

         23  pass the legislation, whatever the bill is, whatever

         24  Mr. Michels' bill or the Spigner bill, you will be

         25  promulgating rules and regulations in order to carry
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          2  that forward. From what source will you draw most of

          3  the information or requirements for your rules and

          4  regulations?

          5                 Will you be adopting any particular

          6  standards?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, there

          8  is no reference to the promulgation of rules by the

          9  Department of Health to implement this particular

         10  bill. Our jurisdiction comes in where we are

         11  responding to violations that are in this bill go

         12  beyond 21 days after a notice of violation by HPD or

         13  where the Department of Health has issued a

         14  violation, when we are aware of the presence of a

         15  lead-poisoned child.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That continues to

         18  be under the jurisdiction of the Board of Health,

         19  and over time we can continue to make modifications

         20  in the Health Codes to meet the standards and

         21  knowledge that will be acquired regarding how to

         22  strengthen lead poisoning prevention standards.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Now, as you

         24  know we have had a lead abatement law on the books

         25  of the City of New York now for some 17 years, and
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          2  my understanding is that it has been an ineffective

          3  piece of legislation, simply because carrying it out

          4  may also increase the risk to children who were

          5  exposed to lead paint hazards.

          6                 In view of that, it has become clear

          7  to most of us that we need a new piece of

          8  legislation. One that is not draconian and one that

          9  is capable of being carried out in a fair manner so

         10  that we can prevent lead poisoning in children.

         11                 You have read through this statute

         12  that is being proposed here today, is it your

         13  opinion that this statute will be effective in

         14  reduction the incidence of lead paint poisoning and

         15  reduce that risk to children under the ages of six

         16  years?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I think that

         18  there is no question that it is an advance over

         19  Local Law 1. I don't believe that that is really a

         20  controversial statement on my part.

         21                 Councilman Michels is shaking his

         22  head in agreement, so that is saying something. But

         23  let --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I have always

         25  agreed.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            164

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Wait a

          3  second --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:-- That when

          5  the state-of-the-art was --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE:  Stanley,

          7  when it is your Committee you can jump right in

          8  there when you are the Chairman. But you are not the

          9  Chairman so you have to wait.

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There are a

         11  number of advances, there are opportunities that

         12  will create a maintenance program that will not lead

         13  to the deterioration of paint surfaces that will

         14  pose the risk of exposure to children to lead dust

         15  and to peeling paint. This is something that doesn't

         16  exist right now. There are safety standards for the

         17  work methods and materials and the clean-up for the

         18  carrying out of these maintenance and repair work

         19  that doesn't exist now, and I have gone on record

         20  today as saying that in my view, a clearance dust

         21  testing measure will significantly afford us a

         22  degree of comfort that these safety standards will

         23  have been carried out successfully so that there

         24  wouldn't diminish any risk of leaving behind an

         25  exposure to lead dust in the apartments that we are
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          2  striving to make lead-safe.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          4  Doctor.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          8  Linares.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 Commissioner, I am going to raise

         12  something here referring to the statistics, unless

         13  you or some of my colleagues have raised it

         14  previously, but it is something quite disturbing and

         15  sort of underlies a great concern, and that is the

         16  reality of the statistics of children that are left

         17  poisoned, which are glaring and are very direct in

         18  how the numbers speak.

         19                 I am talking about 80 percent of the

         20  children that are identified and reported on are

         21  either black, which is about 47 percent, or

         22  Hispanic, which is about 33 percent. Those two

         23  numbers constitute 80 percent of the children that

         24  are poisoned or exposed to be black and Hispanic

         25  while only six percent happen to be white. That is a
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          2  reality of the situation that we are addressing

          3  here.

          4                 Now, I take it that you mandate is to

          5  protect, regardless of ethnicity and otherwise the

          6  health of children in the City of New York,

          7  according to the law. But I wanted to highlight

          8  this, because this is a matter that really speaks

          9  about race and how we approach this, and there is a

         10  context there that is quite disturbing, and I happen

         11  to be Latino, but it is in districts like mine that

         12  is mostly concentrated by Hispanics, and by

         13  African-Americans that are mostly affected. And when

         14  you analyze the map in the City of New York, it is

         15  precisely the areas where you have those

         16  concentrations, and the poor and the most

         17  indefensible that are affected.

         18                 So, my question to you in terms of

         19  having said this, which, again, I say it and I say

         20  it intentionally because there is something in my

         21  mind and it has to be in the minds of a lot of

         22  people of conscience, when we consider this type of

         23  legislation.

         24                 Doesn't this legislation undermine or

         25  compromise your mandate to protect children at all
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          2  costs when this legislation does not give you the

          3  most important tool for you to be able to determine

          4  whether a child is lead poisoned or not, which is a

          5  test after the reparations of the -- repairs have

          6  been done in a given apartment which is most likely

          7  to be where black and Hispanic children are.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, I

          9  appreciate your question and your concern for the

         10  minority community and the potential exposure that

         11  children of color have to potential lead toxicity.

         12                 I know that Councilman Michels knows,

         13  because he attended the last hearing we had at the

         14  Health Committee when we were discussing the budget,

         15  where I formally announced that the Department of

         16  Health was taking measures to be in full compliance

         17  with CDC guidelines, so that effective this summer

         18  we will be lowering the threshold of the blood test

         19  level, lead blood test level that will trigger an

         20  environmental risk assessment and case management

         21  from the current level 20 to 15.

         22                 We also have announced that we are

         23  going to step up our activities for children who for

         24  whom we get blood levels between the levels of ten

         25  and 14, so that we will do significant outreach and
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          2  education, both to the family members to alert them

          3  to the fact that they are now in sort of a zone in

          4  their lead level that requires close monitoring and

          5  attention by their health care provider, so we will

          6  be reaching out to the family, as well as reaching

          7  out to the health care provider to alert them to the

          8  fact that this level is consistent with the need to

          9  maintain very close monitoring and attention to the

         10  child's blood level and to do a nutritional

         11  assessment and look at that in the full context of a

         12  child's health picture.

         13                 So, we are not doing that with

         14  legislation, we are doing it because in my view it

         15  is the right thing to do. We are going to of course

         16  have an increased number of children who are going

         17  to be officially labeled as lead poisoned, because

         18  whenever over the course of the 30 years we have

         19  gone from one threshold level to another threshold

         20  level, the number of children goes up because we are

         21  casting a wider net. We are casting this wide net

         22  because we think that even without a law, that we

         23  can do a better job of identifying those children

         24  who are at risk, and those children are in the

         25  communities that you described and I think over
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          2  time, I think we all can agree that there have been

          3  successes, significant successes, in the lead

          4  poisoning prevention program. I didn't make up those

          5  numbers, they are real. I feel we should feel good

          6  about that, but our efforts don't stop here. So --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          8  Doctor.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Let him

         10  finish.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We will continue

         12  through the implementation of this program to have a

         13  very effective and outreaching lead poisoning

         14  prevention program in New York City.

         15                 In my view, what we have here is an

         16  opportunity to have landlords have more incentive to

         17  responsibly do clean-up and monitoring of their

         18  units so that they don't reach a level of

         19  deterioration that could pose a significant risk to

         20  our children that would lead to a much greater

         21  likelihood, that their blood lead levels would be

         22  elevated and that at that point they are ready, they

         23  are cognitive and their behavioral response to those

         24  levels will have already put them at significant

         25  risk and set them apart from their peers.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Even though

          3  at the end of that process and that effort we are

          4  not considering a scientific, inexpensive testing

          5  that needs to take place according to this law.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In my view, I am

          7  speaking favorably today for that, and I will speak

          8  out and continue to inform the crafters of this bill

          9  from a public health perspective I strongly

         10  encourage them to incorporate that into that into

         11  the --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I appreciate

         13  that very much. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         15  Michels and Quinn, for a second round of two

         16  minutes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, very

         18  quickly, I wanted to remind the Commissioner, I have

         19  a copy of Local Law 1 in front of me. Local Law 1

         20  does provide that the Department and the HPD shall

         21  transmit the Department of the list of violations

         22  placed pursuant to this section, by premises. The

         23  purpose of that was very clear, that was in order to

         24  give you the premises to check the children to make

         25  sure they weren't poisoned, and that is left out of
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          2  this bill.

          3                 So that is one way the present bill

          4  is not as good as the past law. And I remind you

          5  that the state-of-the-art at that time was pica you

          6  said and lead paint chips, now we know since that

          7  time that is lead dust, and that is why I agree with

          8  you that it is better, the law that we have in front

          9  of us is better but not good enough than Local Law

         10  1.

         11                 Let me just ask you this: You have

         12  said that we should give every incentive to the

         13  landlord to clean up. Do you believe by insulating

         14  the landlord so that he cannot be effectively sued

         15  in court to recover damages for a lead poisoned

         16  child, we are giving the landlord an incentive or

         17  disincentive from cleaning up his apartments?

         18                 Did you get that, Commissioner? I

         19  know you were talking to someone.

         20                 Do you want me to repeat the

         21  question?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Just the last

         23  part of the question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I said you

         25  have said that we should make every incentive to
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          2  give the landlord to clean up his apartment to

          3  remove the dangerous substance of lead paint hazard

          4  so the children wouldn't be lead poisoned. Do you

          5  believe that is an incentive or disincentive to tell

          6  landlords that we are putting something in the

          7  current proposed legislation which will make it

          8  extremely more difficult, almost impossible, for you

          9  to bring a lawsuit against an owner to recover

         10  damages for a lead poisoned child. Is that an

         11  incentive or disincentive?

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, you are

         13  asking a physician, not a lawyer, to answer that

         14  question.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I am

         16  asking a motivational psychiatrist.

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, I certainly

         18  believe in incentives, but I don't believe in

         19  incentives that create quick and dirty solutions

         20  that don't meet public health standards.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We agree.

         22                 But do you think that telling a

         23  landlord no matter what you do you are not going to

         24  be sued and you can't lose a lawsuit, because that

         25  is what this bill does, it says to the landlord that
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          2  the Juarez case no longer applied, you cannot be

          3  recovered against for a lead poisoned child, because

          4  we are putting something in the legislation to help

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley, that is

          7  the last question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is why I

          9  call this piece of legislation nothing more than a

         10  landlord protection act, and that is what this thing

         11  is.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That doesn't

         13  require an answer, Doctor.

         14                 Council Member Freed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 I had a question. Are we in agreement

         18  that you would include lead dust in this, the

         19  definition of dust and part of the removal, as

         20  opposed to what is now in the bill?

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: In my view we

         22  cannot ignore the dangers of lead contaminated dust,

         23  and dust should be incorporated into the bill in the

         24  language of what constitutes lead-based paint

         25  hazards.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: As far as the

          3  bill requires wet scraping of all peeling paint and

          4  water misting, are we in agreement that that may not

          5  be all that is necessary as far as keeping the dust

          6  down?

          7                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I don't

          8  understand the question.

          9                 No, wet scraping of peeling paint is

         10  an alternative to other measures that pose a greater

         11  risk.  In and of itself it is not sufficient to

         12  eliminate the potential for lead dust getting kicked

         13  up. Of course not.

         14                 We prohibit dry scraping and sanding,

         15  there is a requirement in work methods and materials

         16  that would adjust all doors and cabinets, as well as

         17  look at windows, keeping all paints and flammable

         18  materials in their original containers, minimizing

         19  the dispersion of debris, and very importantly, each

         20  and every day there would be HEPA-vacuuming or

         21  washing with a detergent of all surfaces prior to

         22  repainting. On a daily basis this kind of

         23  wash/vacuuming to be done, and this again would

         24  further minimize the chance that any lead dust would

         25  be left unattended for potential exposure for a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  child.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right. But

          4  do you think that goes far enough? Would you require

          5  that there be some training course for the people

          6  who are actually doing the -- the technicians who

          7  are actually doing these procedures?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I believe that

          9  these measures carried out are a safe and effective

         10  way to reach our goal, minimizing any chance that

         11  contaminated, lead contaminated dust would remain

         12  the apartment as a result of the repair work, and

         13  the clearance dust testing will be our quality

         14  control measure to make sure that the work has been

         15  done properly and that no risks have remained to the

         16  children in those apartment units.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. Because I

         18  know EPA is now developing a one-day training course

         19  for sampling technicians to reduce the cost and

         20  expand the availability of dust sampling. Do you

         21  think it would be a better bill if you required

         22  that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The EPA standards

         24  are referring specifically to lead abatement

         25  activity and --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: It is not

          3  abatement.

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Right.

          5                 This bill we are referring to

          6  maintenance and prevention of deterioration that

          7  would lead to necessary lead abatement.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          9  Doctor.

         10                 Council Member Miller, the last

         11  questioner for the Doctor and Commissioner of

         12  Health.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 Let me just return to the issue, and

         16  Stanley mentioned this as well, I am trying to get

         17  an answer to this because I don't understand why the

         18  difficulty, what the confusion is.

         19                 Under Local Law 1, and under current

         20  practice, rather, HPD when it issues a violation

         21  refers the violation to DOH and you do some

         22  follow-up screening; is that the case? Yes or no?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: My

         24  understanding is that currently, again, it is health

         25  care providers' responsibility to do the actual
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          2  screening, the Department of Health --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Ensures that

          4  some screening is done?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: When

          6  we find out, when we get a referral from any source,

          7  whether it is HPD or from a tenant, we will do

          8  referrals and link the child up with a way to get

          9  tested.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Then you do

         11  get referrals currently from HPD?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: We

         13  get referrals from a number of different sources.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Including HPD?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And you think

         17  that is a good practice? I mean, I believe,

         18  Commissioner, you testified that was a good practice

         19  and you would continue that practice; is that not

         20  the case? You did say that, are you withdrawing

         21  that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, I am not

         23  withdrawing that. We will continue to have close

         24  working relationships with City agencies that can

         25  work collaboratively with us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Do you think

          3  it is a good idea for HPD to notify you -- in other

          4  words, when HPD discovers there is a lead-based

          5  paint hazard in an apartment, is it a good idea for

          6  them to notify you that there is this hazard?

          7  Because that would be a child who it would be your

          8  mission to try to protect, right? Is that a good

          9  thing?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There is no

         11  question, Councilman, that the goal here is to get

         12  children who may have a lead exposure to be linked

         13  with their health care provider and make sure --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And that is

         15  the role that you guys play?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is a role

         17  that we can play, but it is also a role that health

         18  care providers play.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Yes, but the

         20  health care provider --

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: HPD provides

         22  information to individuals that would allow them to

         23   --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I am

         25  understanding you to say that it is a good thing
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          2  that HPD advises you of these situations, isn't it?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We will continue

          4  to have the close-working relationship to allow us

          5  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Is it a good

          7  thing for them to advise you of the violation? Just

          8  yes or no. Because it is not in the bill now.

          9                 So, what I am saying is, if you think

         10  that it is a good thing, why isn't it in the bill?

         11  Is it expensive? I mean, I am just trying to

         12  understand. I have to vote on this legislation, do

         13  you see what I am saying? And I need to know whether

         14  it is a good idea for you to be notified or whether

         15  it is a bad idea, because it either has to be in the

         16  bill or not in the bill.

         17                 If it is in the bill, we would assume

         18  it should be in the bill, if it is a good idea, and

         19  you are the Commissioner of the Department of

         20  Health, you ought to be able to tell us whether it

         21  is a good idea or a bad idea for HPD to notify you

         22  of these violations; yes or no -- well, no, I am

         23  sorry. Good or bad?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: I

         25  know you are thinking one word from us and we are
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          2  giving you much more.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: It is either

          4  good or bad.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: Let

          6  me just tell you, our real world experience is that

          7  there are a number of ways that work for different

          8  people, linking people up with testing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, this is

         10  one way that might work. Is it a good way for it to

         11  work or a bad way for it to work? Is it good or bad?

         12  I am not going to stop, I will follow you, all

         13  right?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLITZMAN: It

         15  is not necessarily the most efficient way. It is not

         16  necessarily in all cases the most efficient way.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, so it is

         18  the position of the Department of Health that it

         19  would be a bad thing for this bill to include a

         20  referral to the Department of Health when HPD finds

         21  a lead-based violation. You are saying to me and the

         22  members of this Committee, that the Department of

         23  Health would prefer not to learn when there are

         24  lead-based violations in people's apartments that

         25  threaten their children? That would be a yes or no.
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          2  Yes, you would prefer not to learn; or no, you would

          3  prefer to learn?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is your

          5  last question, Council Member.

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The answer is

          7  that we prefer to know that children are getting the

          8  necessary health care they need to ensure their

          9  health and safety.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, you would

         11  like to know then? You would like us to include it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         13  you have asked your question. Please, I have got a

         14  long list of witnesses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: They don't

         16  answer, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I can't make

         18  them answer, neither can you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Well, we could

         20  try.

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As it appears in

         22  Local Law 1, Councilman, that was before the state

         23  mandate that children be tested for lead at age one

         24  and two, so we had practically no other way to

         25  ensure that these children were getting the
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          2  necessary attention that they require. Now there are

          3  multiple ways. We have the Medicaid Managed Care

          4  Program at the Health Department. I am pleased we

          5  will be holding contracts with HMOs, and lead health

          6  and safety will be an issue that will be closely

          7  monitored by the Health Department with our HMOs to

          8  make sure that children are getting the necessary

          9  testing they need, when they show higher levels we

         10  will expect higher standards by the health care

         11  provider, and I think in numerous ways we have the

         12  opportunity at the millennium to be more successful

         13  in making sure these kids are linked with good

         14  health providers and good health practices.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Dr.

         16  Cohen, for your testimony. That concludes the

         17  doctor's testimony and we move now to the

         18  Comptroller, who I see has entered the room.

         19                 Comptroller Hevesi, will you take a

         20  seat at the table.

         21                 Mr. Comptroller, if you will identify

         22  yourself for the record.

         23                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: My name is Alan

         24  Hevesi, New York City Comptroller.

         25                 Should I start, Mr. Chair?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Surely. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I would like to

          5  thank Chair Spigner and the Council's Committee on

          6  Housing and Buildings for giving me the opportunity

          7  to testify today on the lead paint legislation.

          8                 This legislation is extremely

          9  important to children, to taxpayers and all New

         10  Yorkers. Children, especially poor and minority

         11  children, need effective protection from the

         12  devastating affect of lead poisoning. Prevention

         13  must be the primary goal of any legislation. But

         14  let's be clear that an effective lead bill benefits

         15  every New Yorker. The City already has a housing

         16  shortage, many of its housing units are old enough

         17  to have lead paint, an effective bill will preserve

         18  the viability of all of the city's housing.

         19                 In addition, taxpayers now pay

         20  millions of dollars on claims for children injured

         21  by lead poisoning. In Fiscal Year 1998 alone the

         22  City paid out $11 million. This money cannot restore

         23  a poisoned child's health. Both children and

         24  taxpayers would be better served if the children

         25  were protected from lead poisoning so the City could
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          2  spend its money improving education and other vital

          3  services.

          4                 Let me be very clear. What I do for a

          5  living, among other things, is my office serves as

          6  claims officer for the City. When claims against the

          7  City are made, we are the ones who have to approve

          8  them in conjunction with the Corporation Counsel.

          9  Last year we paid out $11 million in claims for

         10  suits against the City for lead paint poisoning.

         11                 But the issue here should not be

         12  about liability in the first instance, it has to be

         13  about prevention in the first instance. That is

         14  really crucial. And a real preventive program will

         15  save lots of money for landlords for the City in

         16  liability.

         17                 The best way to establish preventive

         18  programs is to ensure that those responsible do the

         19  work they are supposed to do.

         20                 My staff received the latest draft of

         21  this bill last Friday. That did not provide us or

         22  anyone else concerned with this issue sufficient

         23  time to do a detailed analysis.

         24                 Unfortunately, it appears that this

         25  bill is being rushed through to meet a June 30
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          2  deadline, as stipulated in an agreement with the

          3  plaintiffs in a suit against the City, that is my

          4  understanding. And by the way, anybody on the

          5  Committee can correct me if I am wrong, but I

          6  understand the draft was introduced Friday

          7  Afternoon, today is Monday, the public hearing, and

          8  there is some rumors about passing this bill this

          9  week some time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me say,

         11  Comptroller, I have been chair of this Committee now

         12  about 15 years, and this has been a front issue

         13  burner. I have held more hearings on this issue, and

         14  as a matter of fact, both your hair and mine were

         15  dark when we started discussing this issue. This

         16  issue has been discussed from every perspective and

         17  we could spend the rest of our career discussing it,

         18  but there must be a time when closure has to come

         19  and that is what we are trying to arrive at.

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, I

         21  appreciate that you and I purchased the same gray

         22  hair dye to look mature in our business.

         23                 As to whether this needs to be

         24  closure by June 30th, let me say that in fact there

         25  is no need to rush through a bill, and risk passing
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          2  legislation that does not effectively deal with the

          3  problem.

          4                 I have with me a June 17th letter

          5  from Matthew Chachere, if I am prouncing it

          6  correctly.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Correct.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: An attorney for

          9  the plaintiffs. Mr. Chachere notes that the deadline

         10  for legislation has already been extended twice. The

         11  last time the plaintiffs offered an extension to

         12  October, but the City refused and demanded that the

         13  extension last only until June 30th.

         14                 Mr. Chachere states that the

         15  plaintiff stand ready to extend the deadline again

         16  to October. This is in a letter to me as I indicated

         17  dated June 17th last week. He writes, "Plaintiffs

         18  believe that it is in the best interest of the class

         19  they represent, young children in multiple

         20  dwellings, that any legislation modifying the

         21  current law be the product of as much careful study

         22  and consideration as possible.

         23                 It is Plaintiffs' observation that

         24  the current artificially created June 30th deadline

         25  crisis will only result in ill-considered
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          2  legislation that would be extremely harmful to the

          3  interest of the children in this City."

          4                 Tenants organization, and here again

          5  I will be corrected by anybody in the room, tenants

          6  organizations and the New York Public Interest

          7  Research Group apparently agree with Mr. Chachere,

          8  so do I, I urge the City to extend the deadline.

          9                 The City's first lead law had severe

         10  flaws. We cannot allow that to happen with the

         11  second law.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I am just

         13  reminded that we had Corp Counsel who testified

         14  earlier that there is no indication from the judge,

         15  is Corp Counsel still in the room? Yes, he is still

         16  in the room. He indicated that there is no

         17  indication, and he is the lawyer assigned

         18  specifically to this issue, that he would extend the

         19  deadline.

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: There may be no

         21  indication too that he predicts the end result of

         22  the NBA playoffs, somebody has to file a motion with

         23  him with stipulations from both sides. If he then

         24  has rejected that, then your point would be well

         25  taken, sir.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            188

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

          3  I just want to say that the testimony of the

          4  Corporation Counsel was he has not gone to the Judge

          5  to ask him to extend the time.

          6                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Okay.

          7                 Now, as to the substance. Seventeen

          8  years ago the City passed Local Law 1, which among

          9  other things requires residences where young

         10  children reside to be lead free. Today virtually

         11  everyone agrees that a law which creates lead-safe

         12  homes is a better way to protect both the public

         13  health and the public purse. Therefore, passage of a

         14  new lead-paint abatement law is needed.

         15                 And, again, let me put on the record,

         16  as claims officer for New York City, we have

         17  expended an enormous amount of time and money to

         18  reform the method by which we pay out our claims,

         19  30,000 claims a year come into the City, $380

         20  million was paid out in claims last year in total,

         21  and we have spent a million dollars with Price

         22  Waterhouse and the Corporation Counsel to reduce

         23  that number to make early claims payments and so on.

         24                 I am committed to reducing the

         25  liability of the City, but I want to emphasize that
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          2  in this case the best way to reduce everybody's

          3  liability for suits against the City is to have a

          4  prevention program that works, and the notion from

          5  the testimony of the Commissioner of Health that

          6  this is better than the existing law, well, the

          7  answer is the existing law for 1982 is

          8  unenforceable, we all agree. So, anything would be

          9  better. But we should not substitute the search for

         10  the better for the search for the best, and there is

         11  room to turn this process into an accomplishment

         12  where the best legislation, protecting to the extent

         13  possible the liability issues, but first protecting

         14  children is the priority.

         15                 As I have noted, we only have time

         16  for a quick analysis of the proposed legislation. We

         17  have several concerns about the current provisions

         18  of the bill. The bill only defines peeling paint as

         19  a hazard, but lead dust poses the greatest hazard to

         20  young children. So, a bill should define the hazard

         21  as any condition that causes exposure from lead

         22  contamination, whether from dust or lead-based

         23  paint.

         24                 The current bill places too much

         25  responsibility on the tenant to notify the landlord
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          2  about the occupancy of young children. The tenant

          3  should play a role, but there has to be an ultimate

          4  determination as to the fact that a six-year-old or

          5  younger is living in the building and that is a

          6  joint responsibility.

          7                 Also, the current bill gives

          8  landlords an unlimited number of 30-day extensions

          9  before they are required to actually fix hazardous

         10  conditions.

         11                 To effectively protect children a new

         12  law should include the following:

         13                 1) The legislation should protect

         14  public health. This will require active involvement

         15  by both the Department for Housing Preservation

         16  Development and the Department of Health in drafting

         17  rules, procedures and oversight responsibilities.

         18                 Legislation should require the joint

         19  submission of a detailed annual report to the City

         20  Council, which should be available to the general

         21  public. The legislation should also mandate a

         22  publicly accessible registry of lead paint

         23  violations and repairs.

         24                 2) Legislative purposes should be

         25  able to be carried out. The purpose of Local Law 1
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          2  lead-free housing, has proved to be unachievable.

          3  New legislation should establish an effective

          4  lead-safe housing program.

          5                 3) There must be good definitions of

          6  lead-based paint and lead-based paint hazards and

          7  underlying defects.

          8                 These are essential to establishing

          9  the parameters of both the problem and the mandated

         10  solutions. Peeling paint, underlying defects and

         11  sources of lead-based paint dust should be included.

         12                 4) There must be credible

         13  notification requirements. Legislation should

         14  establish a tenant notification and owner inspection

         15  program. New York City's window guard law could be a

         16  model for lead-paint notification. The burden of

         17  knowledge about the presence of a child under six

         18  years of age should rest on the landlord. The

         19  landlord should be required to inspect for children

         20  in residence and for lead paint hazards at regular

         21  intervals, say once or twice a year.

         22                 In between those inspections the

         23  heads of households should be obligated to report

         24  the arrival of a new child under six.

         25                 The tenants must be regularly
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          2  notified of such obligation.

          3                 Legislation should provide only

          4  stringently limited defenses to landlords, standards

          5  for regular landlord inspections should be

          6  promulgated by HPD and DOH. This is not an excessive

          7  burden to have the landlord find out are there kids

          8  living in those apartments, to notify parents that

          9  if there is a kid to let them know and to do this

         10  periodically. It is not a heavy burden.

         11                 That is not the liability issue that

         12  the tenants bring to us and there are legitimate

         13  liability issues that the tenants have.

         14                 Five, public health must be protected

         15  during abatement. Abatements of violations should be

         16  limited to 30 days and must be carried out pursuant

         17  to City rules and technical standards. Provisions

         18  for the courts to extend clean-up have deadlines

         19  under extenuating circumstances should be included.

         20                 A landlord post abatement self

         21  certification program that will be enforced is

         22  essential.

         23                 Incentives for landlord compliance

         24  can take the form of tax abatements, partial

         25  reimbursements or small grants. The City must play
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          2  its role here too.

          3                 Six, there must be an efficient post

          4  remediation inspection program. It should include a

          5  requirement for past abatement air monitoring.

          6                 Seven, there must be prompt City lead

          7  paint abatement if a private landlord fails to abate

          8  or fails to properly abate. Again, this is the

          9  City's obligation now.

         10                 The public health justification for

         11  this provision is obvious. Owners should have liens

         12  imposed on their property for the cost of such

         13  abatement and an effective mechanism to recover such

         14  costs in bankruptcy should be created.

         15                 Eight, there must be clarity about

         16  the City's programmatic requirements and its legal

         17  liabilities. Clarification would stipulate the

         18  City's responsibilities and therefore clarify both

         19  the costs to the City of such legislation and the

         20  limits of its legal liabilities.

         21                 I believe that the City as landlords

         22  should be held to the same standards as private

         23  landlords, except that the City should be given some

         24  grace period, say one year, for properties duly

         25  acquired in rem.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            194

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 Right now one of the motivations for

          3  the City to go out of the in rem business is this

          4  lead paint liability question.

          5                 The law should also hold the City

          6  responsible for promulgating appropriate regulations

          7  within a stipulated time period. The City's failure

          8  to promulgate regulations should not create a cause

          9  of action in tort, but should be handled in Article

         10  78 summary proceedings in New York State Supreme

         11  Court. An Article 78 is the quickest way to get

         12  action by the City and thus the quickest way to

         13  ensure that measures to protect children are

         14  enacted, that is the bottom line, protecting

         15  children.

         16                 No doubt there are other important

         17  issues that should be included in the effective lead

         18  paint bill that puts prevention first. But to go

         19  back to my original point, that is why we should not

         20  be rushing this legislation, but making sure it does

         21  the job for our children and for all New Yorkers.

         22                 Let me close with one last point. I

         23  urge the Council to pass a resolution, asking the

         24  State Legislature to create a licensing and

         25  certification program for lead abaters as required
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          2  by federal regulations. For any program to work,

          3  there must be companies that landlords in the City

          4  can count on to perform lead abatement work

          5  properly.

          6                 Again, this is fundamentally about

          7  kids and their ability to learn, their ability to

          8  survive in this society, their ability to avoid

          9  injury. So the guiding principle must be prevention

         10  of lead poisoning.

         11                 The other issue, such as liability,

         12  must serve the issue of prevention.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Comptroller,

         15  I want to thank you for --

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: And Mr. Chairman,

         17  let me interrupt to apologize to you. I gave a half

         18  snippy answer in response to one of your questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How long have I

         20  known you?

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: You have known me

         22  since the days you were younger than me.

         23                 I apologize.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I just want to

         25  say, too, that I appreciate the concern as to the
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          2  need for additional discussion and more discussion,

          3  but I will tell you, I know firsthand that there

          4  have been people for the last two weeks that have

          5  been working 24 hours a day on this issue, and I am

          6  sure as a long-time member of the State Legislature,

          7  you are fully aware of the complexities of the

          8  legislative process. And that is all I will say to

          9  that. That is all I will say to that, that this

         10  issue has long been before us.

         11                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I appreciate

         12  that, Mr. Chairman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That we have met

         14  with the total spectrum of points in this

         15  discussion, and I feel that it is time that we

         16  moved, and if some would call us expeditious, some

         17  would call it a snail space, but nonetheless, that

         18  is the view and I respect your view.

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I appreciate it.

         20  I respect our disagreement. We agree to disagree.

         21  And I do know the legislative process and the

         22  pressures that people are under, and I am sure there

         23  were people working around the clock 24 hours a day

         24  to put this draft together.

         25                 On the other hand, the draft is a new
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          2  work product, and it would require the view of many

          3  experts who represent all points of view and I would

          4  expect that the people working 24 hours a day on the

          5  draft did not represent all of the perspectives that

          6  should be brought to the table on this issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: If you can ever

          8  get to them, I have got about three dozen additional

          9  experts who want to get on the record again on this,

         10  again for the third and fourth time.

         11                 But in any event, speaking from your

         12  expertise, your current expertise, have you analyzed

         13  the total impact to the City as a landlord under the

         14  current law? And what is the City's current exposure

         15  to lead liability?

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, it is hard

         17  to say what the liability is, also understanding the

         18  distance and time between the filing of a lawsuit

         19  and the payouts, there are a number of years

         20  difference. Last year was $11 million, it might be

         21  lower this year, it might be in the neighborhood of

         22  $7 million. That depends on the cycle of suits that

         23  are brought. The City's liability of course comes

         24  from the City determining that there have been code

         25  violations and then nothing being done to solve the
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          2  problem.

          3                 It is hard to predict, this is a

          4  fairly new area of City liability, so it doesn't

          5  have a long history that you can grade on a chart.

          6  But it is substantial, and the liability issues are

          7  very, very important. They are less important,

          8  however, than making sure that the City's

          9  expenditures for children who are injured as a

         10  result of lead paint also has to be calculated and

         11  it won't be necessarily directly in payouts subject

         12  to lawsuits, but children who have deficits who need

         13  special education who are unable to earn income and

         14  pay taxes down the road. There is a huge expenditure

         15  that flows from our failure to properly abate, that

         16  is why we need the best bill possible.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         18  Michels.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr.

         20  Comptroller, I very much appreciate your statement,

         21  I very much appreciate your interest in this issue

         22  over the years. But I think you would agree with me,

         23  and that is the question, whether you agree with me,

         24  that the real object of all of the work that has

         25  been done here and all of those drafts is to stop
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          2  children from being lead poisoned, which we know is

          3  a preventable disease.

          4                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I think

          6  you would also agree with me that the best way to do

          7  that is to have landlords keep their property in

          8  good repair and make sure that this lead dust

          9  doesn't appear.

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes. To the City

         11  included as a landlord.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I think

         13  you would also agree with me, that the best

         14  incentive for that is for them to know that if they

         15  don't do it they are going to have to compensate

         16  children who have been seriously lead poisoned, have

         17  huge medical bills, have pain and suffering and will

         18  have to have special care for education the rest of

         19  their lives.

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I will accept

         21  what I believe is the true, which is the

         22  overwhelming majority of landlords are decent,

         23  caring people.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I agree with

         25  you.
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          2                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Who want to

          3  provide safe and proper housing for their tenants,

          4  and also want to make a living. But that the threat

          5  of a liability often is a motivator. We found that

          6  in other aspects of the law and it is an aspect here

          7  as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I don't

          9  know of any other place in the housing and

         10  maintenance code where we have removed that threat,

         11  except when it comes to these thousands of kids who

         12  are lead poisoned every day. And why we are picking

         13  on these children, I don't know.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         16  Ognibene.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman. And thanks for your testimony.

         19  Actually, I enjoyed it, too, because it is very

         20  concise, too, where a lot of people tend to get

         21  emotional about it you gave us some good ideas in

         22  terms of the legislation.

         23                 One thing I always want to clarify

         24  that Stanley, my good colleague, always brings up,

         25  somehow that those people who are opposed to this
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          2  bill, you know, are favorable to children, and those

          3  that want this bill somehow are opposed to safety in

          4  children and nothing could be further from the

          5  truth. I think all of us have an interest in seeing

          6  that the lead paint hazard is abated and the

          7  children are cared for.

          8                 The issue that I am always concerned

          9  with is sometimes there is a degree of overkill. I

         10  suppose that it is an unfair comparison but to make

         11  it a comparison, we could have public safety for

         12  pedestrians in this City by lowering the speed limit

         13  to  five miles an hour, and I am sure that everybody

         14  would agree that if cars went five miles an hour,

         15  that there hardly would be any injuries or damage,

         16  but the problem is that we can't do that, that it is

         17  not practical, that we tried it under local law 1,

         18  and so we have at least resolved here to come up

         19  with a piece of legislation that we think is

         20  workable, that accomplishes the goals that we want

         21  to accomplish and fortunately, or unfortunately,

         22  people may disagree but that we do it in a way that

         23  has the least necessary fiscal impact, both on

         24  private landlords and as the City as a landlord and

         25  as a regulator. And you had indicated that there
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          2  wasn't enough information or certainly enough time

          3  to evaluate this piece of legislation but in terms

          4  of just your experience as the Comptroller, what do

          5  you think will be the reduction in the liability

          6  exposure for the City of New York as a result of

          7  this legislation that is passed?

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I haven't done

          9  the calculation, I don't know the answer to that,

         10  and I know you will forgive me for not accepting

         11  your analogy between the five mile an hour rule for

         12  citizens, the overwhelming majority of whom are

         13  adults, and whether we should have an analogous five

         14  mile rule for children who are aged up to six years

         15  old. When it comes to children and their health.

         16  This is not about the taste quality of their peanut

         17  butter sandwiches, this is about their health, and

         18  there I think the five-mile rule absolutely applies.

         19  You go the safest route, whatever the expense. You

         20  try to minimize the expense but that is the

         21  secondary consideration.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Would you

         23  agree that that when we are talking about safety for

         24  children from lead poisoning, I will use the word,

         25  term lead poisoning, that there are additional
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          2  components besides simply the requirement that the

          3  illness of property, whether they be the City or

          4  privately make it lead safe, that there is also an

          5  important function to be served through education,

          6  through public health testing, through not only

          7  education but adequate cleanliness. You know, in

          8  other words, the parents and the families had to

          9  ensure that they play their role in this, it simply

         10  can't be done simply by the owner of the building.

         11                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, what can be

         12  done is the elimination to the extent possible of

         13  the lead hazard, and that as a landlord obligation.

         14  In the same way that landlords are obligated to

         15  provide a minimum amount of heat in the building,

         16  particularly during the winter. But I will accept

         17  the premise that the parents, or families certainly

         18  have a large responsibility to be on alert, and in

         19  the legislation they were proposing they would play

         20  a role in the notification, letting the landlords

         21  know there is a problem. We are not imposing on

         22  families that don't have children, any obligations

         23  in children over the age of six. We are trying to

         24  limit the hit on the landlord.

         25                 And there are ways to help the
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          2  landlords as well, through abatements or grants or

          3  some other financial arrangements that I would be

          4  amenable to. But the bottom line is zero tolerance

          5  for lead paint poisoning.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: I have been

          7  advised that the City currently has approximately a

          8  $250 million lead liability exposure under current

          9  law, would you --

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, the people

         11  who would advise me as to those numbers are sitting

         12  here making faces which indicates to me they never

         13  heard of that before. This is, the one whispering

         14  her, his lips don't move as I speak, seems to

         15  indicate that the 250 is probably a little bit high.

         16  It is maybe the number for existing claims against

         17  the City that have not yet been adjudicated.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right.

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: At the level that

         20  the plaintiff puts in as a number. It is as if

         21  somebody puts in I am suing the City for $60 million

         22  when the end result is a million dollar claim. So

         23  that probably would be high; on the other hand, I

         24  don't want to minimize it. It's a serious issue. And

         25  the best way to reduce claims down the road is lead
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          2  paint prevention. Let's prevent it. Let's abate it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Do you also

          4  agree that making the rules and regulations to

          5  strident, that there is a potential for a great deal

          6  of abandonment of property in the City of New York

          7  and that we ought to take that into consideration

          8  before we make it nearly impossible for people to

          9  comply in their financial means?

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I think as a

         11  generalization and a truism you are absolutely

         12  right. How that applies to a particular provision,

         13  for example, of the Michels bill we may not agree

         14  what is onerous and what isn't onerous.

         15                 If it is onerous for a landlord to

         16  abate, to prevent, and in order to save the landlord

         17  money we allow a child to be injured then I wouldn't

         18  accept the proposition applies.

         19                 So, there is a balance, we will find

         20  the balance. But we won't find the balance, I don't

         21  think, by a draft that is introduced on Friday and

         22  passed on Wednesday.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Yes. Well, I

         24  would agree with you on that, except I do want to

         25  stress for the people out here, that although the
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          2  draft was introduced on Friday, I know that

          3  discussions concerning the provisions of it had been

          4  going on for some time, so it wasn't something that

          5  was put together hastily, it was something that was

          6  well thought out and there was a lot of input from a

          7  lot of segments of the community.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we continue

          9  to --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Please. I

         11  could have stayed home and be treated like that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We continue to

         13  take suggestions and all of the points made by

         14  subsequent witnesses will be given every

         15  consideration.

         16                 Council Member Linares.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I appreciate

         21  your testimony, Mr. Comptroller, with regards to

         22  this legislation, and just by following up on the

         23  last question that my Republican colleague just

         24  asked, one would tend to think and wonder --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Can't I just
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          2  be your colleague.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: My colleague

          4  that happens to be Republican.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I want to be very

          6  clear for the record, that the people who reacted to

          7  Mr. Ognibene were reacting to the public, Mr.

          8  Ognibene. The private, Mr. Ognibene, is the nicest,

          9  most decent caring people you would imagine. On the

         10  other hand, there is the public, Mr. Ognibene.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: I think my

         12  wife would disagree though.

         13                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I have had

         14  conversations with your wife about it, Tom.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Sometimes I

         16  wonder, getting back to my statement, whether what

         17  is driving this piece of legislation is not so much

         18  the financial liabilities that are at stake in terms

         19  of what is mandated to protect children as opposed

         20  to the health and well-being of our children, which

         21  should be the fundamental issue to drive this type

         22  of legislation.

         23                 I want to refer to some effort that

         24  your office undertook several years back where you

         25  found approximately 66,000 lead paint violations in
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          2  the database held under HPD I believe, and where

          3  about 43 percent of those violations had not been

          4  tended to a year after. And I am wondering whether

          5  that particular situation that seems to prevail

          6  would again continue to persist or worsen under this

          7  new legislation.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We have not done

          9  a follow up yet on whether that situation has

         10  improved. It was a very serious finding that a

         11  series of thousands of violations are found and they

         12  are not pursued, and we do periodically follow up

         13  and this will be on our agenda. This was a second

         14  report that he is referring to.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So, given the

         16  fact that it seems to be a lack of a mechanism

         17  between DOH and HPD, HPD having to intervene to

         18  monitor and enforce and DOH having to make sure that

         19  whatever the appropriate testing needs to take

         20  place, given the lack of a mechanism to help

         21  articulate that type of intervention, reconciling

         22  enforcement with protection of children, doesn't

         23  this put a greater number of children at risk?

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Absolutely. The

         25  issue that you were pursuing, Mr. Miller was
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          2  pursuing a little while ago, about the connections

          3  between HPD and the notification through the

          4  Department of Health, that should be in the

          5  legislation. That should be codified. It should be

          6  mandated, it will reduce the number of children who

          7  are injured, and one would hope that whoever is

          8  drafting the final version of this legislation would

          9  include that provision, otherwise there will be

         10  greater risk and greater liability to the landlords

         11  and to the City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you

         13  very much. I turn it back to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Comptroller,

         15  one final question, have you analyzed, have you

         16  analyzed how the City's liabilities are affected by

         17  this proposed legislation?

         18                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We have not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Have you

         20  analyzed the total fiscal impact to the City of this

         21  legislation?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We have not. We

         23  received it Friday.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         25                 Now, how much of the judgment in
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          2  1998/1999 were paid by the City in one instance as a

          3  landlord, in another instance as a regulator?

          4                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: It was mostly as

          5  a landlord.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mostly as a

          7  landlord.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes. That is of

          9  the 11 million, for fiscal '98. Mostly as a

         10  landlord.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Comptroller,

         12  and good friend, I want to thank you for your

         13  testimony.

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Wait. One more

         17  question.

         18                 What impact will this proposed

         19  legislation have on co-ops and condos?

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We don't know,

         21  but we know that there would be less enforcement and

         22  unequestioned level of liability that we haven't

         23  analyzed as a result of the draft that we have. Sort

         24  of chaotic, don't know the answer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member
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          2  Michels, one last question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I would like

          4  to know from the Comptroller as to how much time he

          5  thinks he would need to study and give us a report

          6  on the fiscal impacts of this legislation, as well

          7  as the impacts from the course of lawsuits as well

          8  as --

          9                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: If I was being

         10  cute I would say, oh, about October 1st but -- a

         11  couple of weeks. Give us a couple of weeks and we

         12  could run some numbers for you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just have one

         15  question.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         17  Quinn.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr.

         19  Comptroller, I assume that your office would be more

         20  than willing to do that for us over the next couple

         21  of weeks?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Sure. We are now

         23  committed, I am being taped I understand.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Perfect.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Comptroller, and we are going to take a five-minute

          3  break and then we are going to the general public.

          4                 (Recess taken.)

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The first person

          6  I am calling is Celia Irvine, from the Manhattan

          7  Borough President's Office. Is she here? Celia

          8  Irvine. Will you please take a seat.

          9                 We are going to begin with two

         10  gentlemen from Washington, D.C. Gentlemen, will you

         11  have a seat and identify yourselves, please, and we

         12  will be happy to take your testimony. If you have

         13  any copies of your testimony, if not we will have

         14  whatever it is that you are prepared to present to

         15  us.

         16                 Identify yourself, sir, and then

         17  begin.

         18                 MR. FARR: My name is Nick Farr. I am

         19  the Executive Director of the National Center for

         20  Lead Safe Housing, which is a non-profit

         21  organization.

         22                 Our mission is to help prevent child

         23  lead poisoning, while preserving the nation's stock

         24  of affordable housing. In other words, we are

         25  interested in the balance between protecting
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          2  children and recognizing the realities of the

          3  housing market.

          4                 Before I had this job, I was the Vice

          5  President of the Enterprise Foundation and set up

          6  the program in New York City which has rehabilitated

          7  thousands of houses in New York City, so we care a

          8  lot about affordable housing, just as we do about

          9  preventing kids from being poisoned.

         10                 We agree that Local Law 1 needs to be

         11  changed because removing intact lead-based paint, as

         12  has been stated, is as likely to cause harm as it is

         13  to do good. So, I think there is no question about

         14  that.

         15                 I wanted to focus mostly on the

         16  importance of clearance testing, but since the

         17  Health Commissioner has already eloquently indicated

         18  why that is appropriate, I will cut out a lot of my

         19  testimony, but I want to leave you with a few

         20  statistics.

         21                 Our organization is primarily a

         22  research and evaluation organization. We have taken

         23  dust samples and lead samples from hundreds of

         24  thousands of places around the country, including

         25  hundreds of units in New York City, and thousands of
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          2  samples taken from New York City houses, as part of

          3  our evaluation of HUD's lead-based paint poisoning

          4  control grant program, of which New York is one of

          5  the grantees, and also because we have been engaged

          6  in three research projects here in New York City

          7  with the Health Department, and others. So we have a

          8  lot of data on New York City.

          9                 The first statistic I want to give

         10  you is to indicate why disturbing lead-based paint

         11  in connection with preparation for repainting is a

         12  dangerous thing to do. I think the Health

         13  Commissioner alluded to a study carried out by the

         14  Environmental Protection Agency precisely to

         15  determine what kinds of activities which renovators

         16  and painters might carry out which would cause lead

         17  paint hazard.

         18                 What they did in one part of this

         19  test was they got a contractor to sand a door and

         20  they found that in the area from where the door hit

         21  the floor out six feet, that the amount of lead in

         22  the dust in the floor was as much as 43,000

         23  micrograms per square foot. That is against EPA's

         24  standards for floors of 50 micrograms per square

         25  foot.
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          2                 So, this was dry sanding, but sanding

          3  can create an awful lot of lead in the dust. And it

          4  has been indicated wet scraping and wet sanding is a

          5  good thing, principally because it protects the

          6  workers. It doesn't in any way reduce the amount of

          7  lead that is created, it just turns it into a

          8  slurry, which sometimes is harder to clean up than

          9  if it was dry dust.

         10                 So, it also was pointed out to me by

         11  one of the representatives of the property owners,

         12  that it probably is likely to induce owners to put

         13  down plastic sheeting on the floor so it won't make

         14  such a mess, so it's a good thing to do but it by no

         15  means prevents the spread of lead in dust and

         16  floors.

         17                 A second set of statistics that I

         18  want to give you based on New York City's dwelling

         19  units is to note that there is a lot of lead in the

         20  paint in New York City dwelling units.

         21                 We looked at 425 dwelling units and

         22  took about 100 XRF tests to find out whether there

         23  was lead in the various surfaces, and we found that

         24  in 27 percent of those units there was lead in the

         25  paint on walls and ceilings.
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          2                 In 45 percent of those units there

          3  was lead in interior trim. In 46 percent of those

          4  units, there was lead in the paint in windows.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: These are

          6  pre-'60 buildings, right?

          7                 MR. FARR: They are all pre-'60

          8  buildings, yes. It happens they are all pre-'50 as

          9  well. And indoors 29 percent, so there is a lot of

         10  lead in the building. So repairing and stabilizing

         11  paint on interiors in New York City can create a lot

         12  of lead in dust, and don't let anybody tell you to

         13  the contrary.

         14                 On the other hand, if this work is

         15  done with the kind of containment that is

         16  recommended in this legislation that is further

         17  described in Health Department safe practices,

         18  regulations which I think are very reasonable and

         19  sensible regulations should be retained for all

         20  circumstances, if the work is done reasonably

         21  carefully and if the property is cleaned up

         22  reasonably well, it is not rocket science to get the

         23  lead levels on the floor down way below whatever

         24  standard you want to adopt, and we have -- again, we

         25  have looked at all of these houses, and we found
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          2  that pre-intervention, that is before you do

          3  anything, you are just going cold to a house, that

          4  the median level of lead in dust on floors is 35

          5  micrograms per deciliter. After the work has been

          6  done and clean up has been carried out, it goes down

          7  to 17 and a year later with nothing further being

          8  done, we found the median level of lead in dust on

          9  floors was five micrograms per deciliter. Now, all

         10  of this is against the standard which EPA is

         11  proposing of 50 micrograms per square foot on

         12  floors.

         13                 So, as you can see, property owners

         14  will not have difficulty in getting the lead in the

         15  dust down to acceptable levels if they do the work

         16  carefully, if they do the cleaning carefully. The

         17  levels on windowsills and window wells are

         18  considerably higher, but again they can be brought

         19  down to very acceptable levels with reasonable care

         20  and reasonable cleaning activity.

         21                 However, as the Health Commissioner

         22  indicated, even when fully trained abatement workers

         23  do this work, they sometimes fail. In New York City

         24  we found that eight and a half percent of the work

         25  which was done with full clean up failed the dust
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          2  test in floors. We found that three and a half

          3  percent failed on windowsills and eight percent

          4  failed on wells. Now, you multiply that by the

          5  number of houses in New York City, you've got a lot

          6  of houses.

          7                 So, as the Health Commissioner

          8  indicated, you simply can't tell by looking at a

          9  floor or a windowsill or a window well whether or

         10  not the lead that remains sticky on the surface is a

         11  hazard or not.

         12                 I mean, most people realize that a

         13  microgram is a millionth of a gram, a millionth of a

         14  gram, or one-five-millionth of a nickel which weighs

         15  five grams.

         16                 Another way of looking at it is, you

         17  get a packet of coffee sweetener, and each one of

         18  those little particles is about 100 micrograms. So,

         19  that you drop one of those on the floor and you are

         20  double the standard that EPA is setting up.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are saying

         22  that the standard is a little unreal?

         23                 MR. FARR: No, I have given you the

         24  statistics of what is happening in New York City,

         25  where they have gotten the lead in the dust on
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          2  floors down initially to 17 and then a year later it

          3  is down to five. What I am saying is that you can't

          4  tell whether there is too much lead on the floor

          5  simply by looking at it, because we are talking

          6  about tiny, tiny particles of lead, which of course

          7  are picked up on the hand, get into the mouth, get

          8  into the small intestine, the smaller the particles,

          9  the easier it is to absorb into the children's blood

         10  stream. So, what we are worried about are very small

         11  amounts of lead, which you cannot see, which is why

         12  the Health Commissioner is 100 percent correct when

         13  he says that you cannot be sure that you have a

         14  house, a dwelling unit, which is safe for children

         15  to live in and to play on the floor on and to get

         16  their hands on the windowsills and so on, unless you

         17  take dust tests.

         18                 So, dust tests, at least we think,

         19  are absolutely essential if you care about

         20  protecting children.

         21                 Now, we know, I mean we have been

         22  advised lots, because we have worked on this issue,

         23  as you know, in New York City for years, and have

         24  talked to a lot of New York City property owners

         25  about it, we know they oppose dust testing, and I
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          2  assume they pose dust testing for one of two

          3  reasons.

          4                 Reason number one, they might fail.

          5  As I have indicated, if you do it carefully, you

          6  will not fail, and if you do fail you are going to

          7  subject children to a serious health hazard, so I

          8  don't have a lot of sympathy to that issue.

          9                 And one of the reasons we want to

         10  have dust testing is because if the person who is

         11  doing the cleaning knows that somebody is going to

         12  come behind them and do a dust test, they are going

         13  to clean a lot better.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, if you fail,

         15  then you should clean again.

         16                 MR. FARR: If you flunk, and I mean I

         17  gave the example of eight and a half percent of the

         18  units I am talking about failed, they went back and

         19  cleaned again.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You can clean to

         21  the point of you get acceptable clearance?

         22                 MR. FARR: Absolutely. I mean,

         23  ultimately all of the units that we looked at

         24  cleared. It is just that a few of them didn't clear

         25  right away.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What about

          3  carpeting?

          4                 MR. FARR: Competent, careful

          5  cleaning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Carpeting.

          7                 MR. FARR: Carpeting?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

          9                 MR. FARR: The carpets, carpet levels

         10  are about half the levels of bare floors, we have

         11  found. EPA has not yet set a standard for carpets

         12  but we have been working with them on that. And we

         13  have found that the levels of lead in carpets tends

         14  to be, in the same house tends to be about half the

         15  level of lead on bare floors.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But can you get

         17  clearance on a carpet?

         18                 MR. FARR: Yes. So we therefore

         19  obviously strongly feel that there should be lead

         20  testing in this legislation.

         21                 The question is what kind of lead

         22  testing, by whom and so forth. And I have got some

         23  suggestions that I would like to make to you, so as

         24  to make it -- because the other reason the property

         25  owners object to it is because it is expensive or
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          2  time-consuming or both, and they don't like that and

          3  I don't blame them for not liking it.

          4                 So, it seems to me that the City

          5  Council here should, (a) provide for dust testing,

          6  and (b) make it as easy and inexpensive as possible.

          7                 Now, the Environmental Protection

          8  Agency is presently --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Easy and

         10  effective, but yet inexpensive.

         11                 MR. FARR: That's right. You want to

         12  protect kids but you don't want to put an undue

         13  burden --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we can

         15  accomplish both.

         16                 MR. FARR: You can accomplish both.

         17                 Now, the reason it is thought to be

         18  expensive is that under some states, even after

         19  interim controls, abatement, they require any work

         20  to be done by so-called certified paint inspectors

         21  or certified risk assessors, so there are

         22  qualifications to take training to be that, and in

         23  the case of inspectors it is a three-day training,

         24  most of which is irrelevant to dust testing and in

         25  the case of risk assessors, it is a five-day

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            223

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  training, most of which is irrelevant to dust

          3  testing.

          4                 We finally persuaded both HUD and EPA

          5  to authorize a new discipline called "clearance

          6  technicians". And EPA is presently developing a

          7  six-hour, not three-day, a six-hour training program

          8  for clearance technicians, and it is their plan that

          9  anybody can qualify to take these tests. You do not

         10  need to have five years experience, you do not need

         11  to have a BA in economics or whatever. It is the

         12  expectation that appraisers, I mean there are a lot

         13  of appraisers that are out of work right now,

         14  because most appraising is being done by computers.

         15  Home inspector, whom I know are very interested in

         16  doing this, I mean, the Health Department, the

         17  Housing Department could have a lot of people

         18  trained in this six-hour training.

         19                 Then the City should provide for some

         20  method of certifying that these people have taken

         21  the training and passed the test.

         22                 The reason you need to certify them

         23  is because HUD in its new regulations says, that

         24  whenever virtually any HUD money is used to

         25  rehabilitate a house or whether it is Section 8 or
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          2  whatever, you are going to have to do a certain

          3  amount of work, mostly the same work you are talking

          4  about, i.e. paint stabilization, and then you are

          5  going to have to give clearance testing, and HUD is

          6  going to require that those clearance testers, those

          7  clearance technicians be certified. So, New York

          8  City, if it wanted to, if it wanted to make things

          9  simple, easy and effective, could provide for

         10  clearance technicians, it could provide the training

         11  which is required, and they can borrow the training

         12  that EPA will have had finished by this fall, if

         13  they want to. They can provide a simple test, they

         14  can provide some sort of a certification. And the

         15  net effect of this will be that the cost and delay

         16  of dust testing will be reduced to an absolute

         17  minimum.

         18                 I mean the laboratories charge $4.75

         19  to do a test, and they provide all the equipment and

         20  the mailing and everything, they will send it back

         21  to you by fax or letter so you can get it within 24

         22  hours. So that dust testing need not be this great

         23  terrible thing--

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Will HUD require

         25  that the person be independent, the testing agency
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          2  be independent of the property owner?

          3                 MR. FARR: HUD will certainly require

          4  that the people who do the cleaning, do the work,

          5  cannot also provide the test. I am just not sure

          6  whether they will provide that somebody else --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: In other words,

          8  you can't clean and test?

          9                 MR. FARR: No, they are not going to

         10  let the fox guard the chicken coupe.

         11                 So, therefore, it seems to me that

         12  the arguments against dust testing fall if the City

         13  goes after the thing intelligently, as I am sure it

         14  will.

         15                 There are a couple of other points

         16  that I would like to make which have already been

         17  made, or at least the questions have been asked by

         18  people before. One of them has to do with halls and

         19  stairways, common areas, the common areas we are

         20  talking about are halls and stairways. My person

         21  position is that when properties turn over, which is

         22  a simple, easy time to do things, you already have

         23  people in the building, they should stabilize the

         24  paint on the halls and stairways. Some children do

         25  play there, some children do get poisoned, I don't
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          2  have good statistics exactly to what percentage of

          3  them are poisoned that way, but they are clearly are

          4  exposed in those circumstances. That is not a big

          5  deal. At turnover, I am not talking about when you

          6  go in at a complaint and you are fixing up one wall

          7  or one window or whatever, I am talking about a

          8  turnover when people are already there. You should

          9  do, you should stabilize the paint on halls and

         10  stairways as well.

         11                 Secondly, the present statute for

         12  some reason has HEPA-vacuuming and wet washing as an

         13  either/or. That makes no sense. The vacuuming is for

         14  one purpose - the vacuuming is to pick up larger

         15  debris of any kind or other, and the wet washing

         16  with a detergent, and I would say any detergent, EPA

         17  has found that no detergent is better than any

         18  other, so you don't need to get fancy on that. The

         19  wet wash picks up, and only the wet wash, the

         20  detergent, followed by a rinse, picks up the little

         21  tiny particles that I was talking about, so you need

         22  both.

         23                 I personally am not as hung up as

         24  others are on the vacuum cleaner being a HEPA-vacuum

         25  cleaner. It is much better. I mean, a HEPA-vacuum
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          2  cleaner doesn't pick up any more than a regular

          3  vacuum cleaner does. The reason you have a

          4  HEPA-vacuum is because there is a very fine filter

          5  and it doesn't spit out little particles of lead out

          6  the back end. So a HEPA-vacuum cleaner is much

          7  better, but I would much rather have vacuuming and

          8  wet wash than just vacuuming or just wet wash.

          9                 Thirdly, I agree with this

         10  contentious issue that property owners should take

         11  the same care to find out whether there is a young

         12  children in the unit, as they do to protect the

         13  child from falling out of the window. I mean, it is

         14  the same thing so that the window guard rule should

         15  just apply. It should just apply the present rules

         16  of the situation, and it seems to me it is a

         17  no-brainer.

         18                 And finally, I agree with the

         19  Councilwoman, that there should be training for the

         20  people who do paint stabilization and cleaning. Not

         21  a two-week training or anything like that. Indeed,

         22  HUD has already created a two-day training program

         23  for people who do repair work and so on, which is

         24  publicly available. I personally think that for

         25  painters you could do a training program, which
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          2  would be a half-day training, indeed we have been

          3  pushing EPA to develop such a training program,

          4  mostly for remodeling and painting, and I am quite

          5  sure they are going to do that but they haven't done

          6  it yet. So for the City to develop a simple training

          7  program so that painters, remodelers and the repair

          8  people who do this kind of work have enough so they

          9  know what the problem is, they know basically what

         10  they have to do, and it will cost practically

         11  nothing and it will make it somewhat safer, it would

         12  seem to me it is an easy thing to do and you should

         13  do it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, do you have

         15  something to add?

         16                 MR. RYAN: My name is Don Ryan. I am

         17  with the Alliance to End Childhood Lead Poisoning, a

         18  national public interest policy and advocacy

         19  organization in Washington.

         20                 First, this is my first time to New

         21  York and I very much appreciate the opportunity to

         22  appear before you today. I have for some years

         23  followed the debate and the contentious debate in

         24  New York City. I know many of you have struggled

         25  with this issue for years, if not decades. And the
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          2  reason you struggle with this issue is because there

          3  is lead-based paint in two-thirds of the housing

          4  stock in New York City.

          5                 The message I want to bring to you is

          6  that there is also lead-based paint in two-thirds of

          7  the housing stock across the United States, other

          8  cities, other states are struggling with this issue

          9  just as the New York City Council is.

         10                 You are in the process of making a

         11  fundamental shift, a shift from worrying about the

         12  presence of lead paint, to worrying about lead-based

         13  paint hazards and controlling those hazards.

         14                 I want to say that I fully support

         15  the shift that you are making, from the

         16  preoccupation with the presence of paint to lead

         17  safety and controlling lead hazards. But making this

         18  shift has inherent risks. It must be done carefully,

         19  it must be done properly.

         20                 The shift needs to, number one,

         21  protect children's health, and to do that it must be

         22  based on the science.

         23                 When Local Law 1 was written in 1982,

         24  relatively little was known about the sources and

         25  pathways of children's exposure to lead, about
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          2  cost-effective measures to protect children from

          3  lead poisoning.

          4                 We now know much, much more. Over the

          5  last five years the research has greatly expanded

          6  our base of knowledge, and this base of knowledge

          7  needs now to inform New York City's new approach.

          8                 What does the science tell us? Well,

          9  number one, it tells us the paint condition is more

         10  important than the lead content, that peeling paint

         11  in and of itself is always of concern. It is a

         12  concern because kids can eat paint chips, it is also

         13  a concern because it is the primary source of lead

         14  dust. So that science tells us we need to worry

         15  about the source, the peeling paint, and the pathway

         16  of exposure which is the lead dust.

         17                 So we have a dual challenge to

         18  promptly and safely repair the peeling paint, as

         19  well as to control, contain and clean up the lead

         20  dust.

         21                 This is what the future looks like,

         22  this is how we, as a nation, can protect our

         23  children from lead hazards in their homes.

         24                 And this is where the Vallone bill

         25  fails, because it does not pay attention to lead
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          2  dust. I want to tell you that as an advocate for

          3  children's health, I am deeply concerned and I have

          4  been, and I saw the first version of this bill about

          5  ten days or two weeks ago. It is a great concern

          6  because of its failure to control and to check for

          7  lead dust.

          8                 I will tell you this is not an idle

          9  fear or an empty fear or a bargaining chip in the

         10  equation. This concern is based on the science of

         11  what we know.

         12                 The environmental protection agency

         13  undertook detailed studies of different activities

         14  and how much lead dust they generate. In paint prep,

         15  the work that is done to prepare a surface of

         16  peeling paint, and to prepare it for repainting is

         17  among the most dust generating of all the

         18  activities. From the HUD national evaluation, the

         19  National Center has taken detailed studies, research

         20  in ten cities around the country over the last five

         21  years.

         22                 In those cities, work done with

         23  trained contractors, with certified abatement

         24  specialists, 30 percent of the time those units are

         25  left with lead dust hazards behind, and as Nick

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            232

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  said, it is invisible, the only way to check for it

          3  is to do a clearance test and when you find a

          4  problem, the answer is elbow grease and a detergent

          5  to clean it up and then pass.

          6                 So, I would reiterate four major

          7  changes that are needed to the bill.

          8                 Number one, lead dust hazards must be

          9  put on the same level with peeling paint. The

         10  definition of a lead-based paint hazard must

         11  encompass lead dust, and a standard needs to be

         12  established by the City in terms of the lead dust

         13  levels. Until EPA standards are promulgated, you

         14  should use 50 micrograms per square foot for floors.

         15  Nothing certainly higher than 50.

         16                 Number two, requirements must be

         17  routinely plugged in for clearance dust testing,

         18  both at unit turnover and after paint repair work.

         19                 As Nick said, the clearance

         20  technician is the way that this can happen, quickly,

         21  easily, efficiently and in a way that on a broad

         22  scale can be enforced to protect children's health.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And you also

         24  said inexpensively.

         25                 MR. RYAN: Yes. I know landlords are
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          2  so concerned they are going to be held hostage by

          3  the certified industry. This is an opportunity for

          4  the City of New York to take the course that EPA is

          5  developing specifically for this purpose, the

          6  clearance technician, and with one day's training, a

          7  cadre of different kinds of people, Health

          8  Department, Housing Department, inspectors,

          9  appraisers, community groups, can provide this

         10  function at low cost.

         11                 In most situations the regulated

         12  industry is always pounding their fists, we want a

         13  performance standard, not command and control. Well,

         14  the dust clearance test is the bottom line, that is

         15  the quality control, that is the performance check

         16  on this system.

         17                 Again, I would second Nick Farr's

         18  recommendation that basic training in lead safety, a

         19  half day's training should be part of every painter,

         20  every super in the City, every remodeler. When

         21  anyone is fussing with old paint, which is probably

         22  leaded, they need to understand the dangers of lead

         23  dust. This won't make them abatement contractors, it

         24  won't prepare them for tackling the complex job or

         25  following up on an EBL child, but lead safety needs
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          2  to be mainstreamed into our basic and rehab work.

          3                 Finally, I would again second the

          4  comment that the approach of holding tenants

          5  responsible for notifying the landlord of the

          6  presence of the young child is not workable. It is

          7  not going to protect the children at highest risk.

          8  It will work to protect property owners who aren't

          9  taking the steps needed to make units safe.

         10                 So, I would say in closing that what

         11  you decide will be important to the children of New

         12  York and to the affordable housing stock of New

         13  York, it will also be important to our nation.

         14                 Local Law 1 has not worked, but it

         15  aspired to be as protective as possible. It would be

         16  a great tragedy now from New York, for New York City

         17  to move from where you have been on this spectrum to

         18  the back end of the line. So, I would hope that the

         19  City Council can apply the scientific knowledge, the

         20  experience it has gained, and develop a model that

         21  will be protective of children's health and that the

         22  rest of the country can follow.

         23                 So, I would urge you to take the time

         24  to master the science. It is incredibly complicated,

         25  I will grant you that, but it is complex, and
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          2  children's health is too important simply to decide

          3  in a process of political compromise that splits the

          4  difference.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, let me

          6  say, sir, I don't know how we ever can reach a point

          7  in a democracy, I don't know how we are going to

          8  reach a point in a democracy where often times, more

          9  often than we like that we have to split the

         10  differences. This is a system that just calls for

         11  consensus. The system calls for consensus, it calls

         12  for bringing divergent groups together, the one who

         13  is controlled and the one who is doing the

         14  controlling, if it is to achieve its goal, to

         15  operate by fiat, some more autocratic style, does

         16  not fit the City government of New York. Maybe it

         17  fits Washington, D.C., but we have to be more

         18  sensitive to all views and opinions in this City.

         19                 Let me ask you one question. Mr.

         20  Farr, are there areas within a dwelling where

         21  landlords and the City should concentrate their

         22  inspections because of a greater prevalence of lead

         23  in those areas?

         24                 MR. FARR: Well, I gave you the

         25  statistics on the percentage of various surfaces
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          2  which we found, and half a thousand houses have

          3  lead-based paint on them. But the lowest percentage

          4  I gave you was 17 percent, for walls and ceilings,

          5  which means that 17 percent of them have lead-based

          6  paint on them. If what we are talking about is

          7  stabilizing paint, and stabilizing paint is a

          8  requirement in every Housing Maintenance Code in the

          9  country. It is not as though we are saying that the

         10  landlord has to cover the wall with wall borders,

         11  all we are saying is you have to stabilize the paint

         12  which is not very much to ask.

         13                 Now, we are presently, we have taken

         14  an awful lot of tests, 75 dwelling units in New York

         15  City last summer, and we are presently analyzing

         16  them to determine what are the best places to take

         17  dust tests, to determine whether a house is safe or

         18  not. And by the fall, I mean we are doing this for

         19  HUD so that it will have in its guidelines, which we

         20  actually drafted the original guidelines, that when

         21  we revise the guidelines they will say where are the

         22  places in a house where you should take dust tests

         23  so that the results of the dust test best correlate

         24  with children blood-lead levels, and we did it in

         25  New York because we have 75 houses, we took like 50
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          2  dust tests in each house, and then we got the blood

          3  lead levels of the children in those houses and then

          4  by various statistical techniques, which fortunately

          5  I have a statistician, several of them to do, we

          6  will determine exactly where you should take a test.

          7  But in answer to your first question, there is

          8  really no surface which you can assume does not have

          9  lead-based paint in New York City, and then the next

         10  question is where you should take the test, and you

         11  should leave that up to regulations by the Health

         12  Department or the Housing Department or preferably

         13  both, and we and others will be able to provide you

         14  an awful lot of data to help you make, as a sensible

         15  -- we think four tests will probably be enough.

         16  Four tests, that's all.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         18  Linares, you had a question?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: In terms of

         20  this law and actually the way things are approached,

         21  what triggers the intervention by the Department of

         22  Health is, you know, when there is a complaint and

         23  that their request for intervention in an apartment,

         24  but that is really what gives us the uniform of

         25  violations that exist. And what I was wondering is,
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          2  if in your experience in analyzing different cities,

          3  is there a way that we can figure out how many

          4  children are poisoned and affected because of lead

          5  paint, the universe of children that we have, that

          6  would allow us to be more efficient in preventing,

          7  not just preventing but intervening in cases where

          8  children are exposed?

          9                 MR. FARR: Well, the Department of

         10  Health and Human Services does the survey every two

         11  years, and the last survey which was done found

         12  estimated, I mean I don't test every house in the

         13  country, it is a statistical survey, that there are

         14  about 900,000 kids nationally who have elevated

         15  blood levels, as has been indicated that has been

         16  going down. We don't know if it is going to go down

         17  any further without work.

         18                 But as you, yourself, pointed out,

         19  all over the country, not just in New York City,

         20  African-Americans and Hispanics have the highest

         21  level of lead poisoning because if they correlate

         22  for better or worse with older housing, with lower

         23  incomes and all of the conditions, demographic and

         24  housing conditions which are conducive to lead

         25  poisoning.
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          2                 So if I had a certain amount of money

          3  which HUD gave me, for example, one of these HUD

          4  grants, I would focus that money on those areas. But

          5  there are kids all over the City who are getting

          6  poisoned, so it seems to me that the approach that

          7  this legislation is taking, which is requiring

          8  property owners to do the reasonable thing, to make

          9  their houses reasonably safe, not 100 percent safe,

         10  reasonably safe, is the best way to prevent

         11  childhood poisoning.

         12                 If you have a windfall or a HUD grant

         13  of $3 million or $4 million, I think you can do what

         14  you have done, is focus that money on the areas who

         15  have the greatest need, I certainly think that. But

         16  as a prevention measure it seems to me you should do

         17  it Citywide.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So, from your

         19  response I gather that the reality that we face in

         20  80 percent of children that are identified with lead

         21  poisoning, based on the trigger mechanism that we

         22  have, being black and Hispanic, is that more or less

         23  the trend or the circumstances as far as minority

         24  children are when you look at other cities in the

         25  country?
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          2                 Pretty much, I mean it varies

          3  obviously around the country.

          4                 I would say there are two kinds of

          5  kids who are most addressed, one child is a child

          6  who lives in a poorly maintained older house, and

          7  that is what we are talking about here.

          8                 The other situation is where

          9  renovation or repainting work is redone without

         10  taking the kind of precautions which you require.

         11  That goes across the demographic board. Those are

         12  really the two classes, if you will, or groups of

         13  kids who are most at risk.

         14                 MR. RYAN: Nationwide, Mr. Linares,

         15  poor children are eight times more likely to be lead

         16  poisoned than well to do. Black children are five

         17  times more likely and Hispanic children, I think it

         18  is about two and a half to three times.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you

         20  very much. I will turn it back to you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         22  Michels.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:

         24  Unfortunately, gentlemen -- first of all, I

         25  appreciate you both coming here, and I recognize the
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          2  great expertise you have and the fact that you are

          3  national leaders on this subject from Washington and

          4  you should be afforded the respect that you deserve

          5  as to who you are and what you are trying.

          6                 MR. RYAN: We are from Washington and

          7  we are here to help.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right, and I

          9  think that is one of the things I wanted to be said.

         10                 The other thing, you are harboring

         11  under a fiction here, and the fiction being that the

         12  legislation in front of you has been around for a

         13  long, long time, and that it is the latest

         14  state-of-the-art and nothing could be further from

         15  the truth.

         16                 The truth is the legislation that has

         17  been around is Intro. 205, it has been around two

         18  and a half years, never had a hearing. You have seen

         19  it, both of you I think have seen it, I think you

         20  commented on it, and that is the legislation if you

         21  would like to comment on it, I would appreciate

         22  hearing your comments on Intro. 205, which we should

         23  have been having a hearing on today.

         24                 I wish I could take all of the credit

         25  for it, but I can't. The work of a lot of people

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            242

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  went into that.

          3                 MR. RYAN: I have reviewed Intro. 205.

          4  It has been some months, I guess, since it has been

          5  on the table for discussion. I will say that in

          6  virtually all respects it seems to me that Intro.

          7  205 provides a better framework, a better departure

          8  point, for a preventive piece of legislation.

          9                 I would add that I think that intro.

         10  205 needs additional emphasis on lead dust. It needs

         11  to be made very clear that a lead dust standard

         12  needs to be included in the definition, and

         13  established in the Health Code, and additional

         14  triggers for lead dust testing at turnover and

         15  possibly Intro. 205 invokes those dust tests by

         16  virtue of referring to regulation. But I think it is

         17  important for the statute itself to put lead dust

         18  hazards on a par with peeling paint, to send the

         19  right message to property owners and to the rest of

         20  the country.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, it has

         22  been a while since you read it, you have seen it.

         23  Actually, you define in Intro. 205 lead-based paint

         24  hazard shall mean any condition in the multiple

         25  dwelling that causes exposure to lead from lead

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            243

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  contaminated dust. It is there, it is the same

          3  definition as in the HUD regulations, EPA, which is

          4  unfortunately not to be found in the current

          5  proposed legislation.

          6                 MR. RYAN: I would hope that the local

          7  law could instruct I suppose the Health Department

          8  to establish a standard for lead-contaminated dust

          9  on floors and windowsills.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Would you

         11  like to comment on 205, Mr. Farr?

         12                 MR. FARR: Well, I agree that it was a

         13  good starting point.

         14                 I had little differences on exactly

         15  what should be done to windows, which is not

         16  terribly clear there. I think that the change which

         17  has been made quite recently in this legislation we

         18  are talking about today, which requires windows to

         19  be opened and closed smoothly, as well as doors

         20  which will prevent the friction.

         21                 I also personally think --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: 205 is not

         23  the bill we have before us today.

         24                 MR. FARR: No, that's right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: 205 is the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            244

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  old bill and it does do those things on windows.

          3                 MR. FARR: I would have changed the

          4  window treatment required in 205 a little bit.

          5                 Secondly, I personally think that it

          6  is very inexpensive to cap window wells, and I

          7  didn't give you the statistics on the amount of lead

          8  found and dust in window wells, but it is much

          9  higher, it is several orders of magnitude higher

         10  than that found on floors.

         11                 Now, children don't play in window

         12  wells as much as they play on floors, so if it is a

         13  combination of the amount of lead that is found some

         14  place, and the amount of time kids spend in that

         15  which results in child lead poisoning. But if I were

         16  drafting the statute I would at least enable the

         17  Health Department to require having window wells,

         18  which is a very inexpensive thing to do,

         19  particularly on framed houses with framed windows.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Is that the

         21  same thing as providing smooth and cleanable

         22  horizontal surfaces, including floor, window sills

         23  and window wells so the dust can be removed by

         24  normal cleaning without special equipment?

         25                 MR. FARR: That's right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's 205 by

          3  the way.

          4                 MR. FARR: I would go beyond floors to

          5  windowsills and window wells.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

          7                 MR. FARR: Floors are the biggest

          8  source of exposure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me ask

         10  you this.

         11                 In your studies, what percentage of

         12  lead dust found in these housing is from lead paint?

         13                 MR. FARR: It varies a lot from place

         14  to place.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In New York

         16  City.

         17                 MR. FARR: In New York City I would

         18  assume most of it is because there is not a lot of

         19  soil in New York.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Ninety

         21  percent would you say?

         22                 MR. FARR: I honestly don't know.

         23                 You can't tell that without

         24  extraordinarily expensive techniques, but it is

         25  generally thought that in most places deteriorated
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          2  paint and lead-based paint in windows and doors are

          3  the principle sources in places like New York City.

          4                 In some places, like Cleveland, which

          5  have pretty low levels of lead-based paint inside

          6  the houses, but very high levels of lead in the

          7  soil, and there are a lot of bare yards, big bare

          8  yards around the low-income housing, their tracking

          9  in lead from contaminated soil and children playing

         10  in the soil is a significant problem.

         11                 So, I would say, like politics, all

         12  that is local, and it just differs from place to

         13  place.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because as we

         15  know, you know, lead is cumulative in the child no

         16  matter where he gets it from. Once it gets into the

         17  system, he licks it off his fingers and lead dust,

         18  and you should be aware that 205, and I think you

         19  probably are, dust contained prevention from school

         20  yards, around schools where the children are under

         21  five, and playgrounds as well, which we have found

         22  --

         23                 MR. FARR: In some places that is a

         24  problem. The schools that have preschool in them, I

         25  mean not a whole lot of kids over five years old
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          2  crawl around on the floor very much. But school and

          3  certainly day care situations are also places where

          4  kids can get poisoned.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

          6  thing I wanted to point out to both of you is, you

          7  keep talking about abatement, and the legislation in

          8  front of us only keeps talking about interim

          9  control, and there is a reason for that, you know

         10  that, right?

         11                 You know the reason of interim, these

         12  are terms of art, isn't that correct?

         13                 MR. FARR: Well, yes. I mean, I

         14  personally --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, they

         16  call for different things to be done, they call it

         17  abatement --

         18                 MR. FARR: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And under the

         20  HUD rule. One calls for a certified worker, and the

         21  adherence to the EPA rules and regs. The other does

         22  not. And sometimes there is a situation which you

         23  really should have an abatement when there is a real

         24  problem an they define when it should be; can you

         25  tell us about that?
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          2                 MR. FARR: Well, we have found, as I

          3  say, we have looked at about 3,000 units nationwide,

          4  and looked at what was done an what the

          5  effectiveness of what was done, and we found that at

          6  least up to two and three years, that kind of

          7  interim controls are as effective as abatement. So,

          8  I am not a major proponent of full abatement, if you

          9  can afford it and if you have a house which is in

         10  terrible shape you need to abate it or you need to

         11  tear it down.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But you see

         13  this legislation in front of us doesn't have any

         14  reference to abatement whatsoever.

         15                 MR. FARR: I understand that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And also

         17  interim control doesn't call for lead testing,

         18  clearance testing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Second round,

         20  Stanley.

         21                 MR. FARR: Well, you have heard what I

         22  think about clearance testing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask a

         24  question of Mr. Farr and your colleague. You said

         25  you should put dust at the same level of concern as
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          2  peeling and cracking and blistering. Are you

          3  suggesting that a property owner has to just

          4  periodically go and wipe around the building and see

          5  where there is a possibility, because you can't see

          6  it, so how can you put it on the same level --

          7                 MR. FARR: No, we are not. We are

          8  certainly not.

          9                 What we are saying is that when a

         10  property owner at turnover, at turnover, which is a

         11  very convenient time to do things, the property

         12  owner should deal with dust on the floor.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: This bill talks

         14  about a protocol for turnover.

         15                 MR. FARR: That's right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And cleaning and

         17  all of that stuff.

         18                 MR. FARR: That's right. And I would

         19  add dust testing to that, that's all.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         21                 MR. FARR: And then in the case of

         22  when you are responding to a complaint, I would make

         23  sure he cleans up and then does a dust test where he

         24  has done the work. Not all over the house, but just

         25  where he has done the work.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, if you

          3  don't know, in a vacant apartment, you don't know

          4  whether a child under six is coming in, you don't

          5  know. You want to raise the level of no matter where

          6  there is a vacancy in a pre-'60, there should always

          7  be the presumption --

          8                 MR. FARR: I certainly do. Because New

          9  York City has less mobility than some other cities

         10  do, but low-income renters move around a lot.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I don't think

         12  so.

         13                 MR. FARR: They move around less in

         14  New York City than they do in Baltimore or Milwaukee

         15  where the average time a person lives in places is

         16  like six months. But there is a fair amount of

         17  mobility, and also, you don't know for sure when

         18  children are going to play in the apartment next

         19  door. You don't know for sure when children are

         20  going to play in grandma's house. So, if the

         21  requirements of the property owners are reasonable,

         22  which I think what we are talking about are, and you

         23  really care about prevention, you should do what you

         24  are requiring, plus the dust test which we have

         25  mentioned, whenever the house turns over. It is not
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          2  a big deal.

          3                 MR. RYAN: I would add, the treatments

          4  called for at turnover in the Administration bill I

          5  think are focused in the right direction. Turnover

          6  is the best opportunity, vacancy is the best

          7  opportunity for the property owner to do the work.

          8  They don't have to worry about the belongings, the

          9  furniture, any of that, clean-up is very good.

         10                 So, absolutely, turnover is, we want

         11  to capture that opportunity fully and we want to

         12  have a dust test done taken at the end to make sure

         13  when the keys are handed over, that there are not

         14  dust hazards as well as peeling paint.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         16  Ognibene, followed by Council Member Miller, and the

         17  Chair has to be excused for five minutes, so I am

         18  asking the senior member of the Committee, Council

         19  Member Michels, to assume the chair until I return.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you.

         22                 Gentlemen, one of the things, the

         23  sense I get from your testimony is that, well, we

         24  concentrate on the chipped paint on the wall, or

         25  other factors, actually it is the dust that
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          2  generated from these processes that represents the

          3  greatest hazard.

          4                 If I am wrong on that, let me know

          5  because I don't want to start off with the wrong

          6  premise.

          7                 MR. FARR: Don't let me mislead you,

          8  when I suggest lead dust should be put on parity

          9  with peeling paint. Peeling paint is the source of

         10  the problem. That is where the lead is coming from.

         11  The lead contaminated dust is the pathway of

         12  exposure, and you can't protect children from lead

         13  poisoning without dealing with both of those.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: The problem

         15  with the statute is somehow that the dust aspect of

         16  it isn't at the same level that the treatment for

         17  the peeling paint is.

         18                 MR. RYAN: With respect, sir, the

         19  draft bill is, for all intents and purposes, ignores

         20  the hazards of lead dust.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: What is the

         22  best way to get rid of lead dust? Or to abate it. I

         23  mean, assuming --

         24                 MR. RYAN: The thing that is so useful

         25  about focusing on lead dust as the pathway is lead
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          2  dust is the easiest and the cheapest point of

          3  intervention.

          4                 The answer is specialized cleaning to

          5  remove the lead dust.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Now, what is

          7  specialized cleaning?

          8                 MR. RYAN: A HEPA-vacuum to pick up

          9  large particles, followed by a wet wash, literally

         10  elbow grease. A good detergent and two buckets, one

         11  for the soapy water and one for the rinse water.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Would it be

         13  helpful, for instance, if once or twice a week the

         14  floors in these apartments and the windowsills were

         15  washed with wetwash? A detergent, Spic and Span,

         16  whatever the hell it is. Mr. Clean. But they would

         17  clean twice a week or once a week, would this be

         18  helpful in debating lead?

         19                 MR. FARR: Very few people clean that

         20  up. But the answer to that question is yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: My mom used

         22  to clean every day.

         23                 MR. FARR: She was a special mom. My

         24  mom didn't.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: I bet you
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          2  she cleaned once a week though?

          3                 MR. FARR: I doubt it. My mom was a

          4  lawyer and, you know. No, she was not big on

          5  cleaning.

          6                 No, but if you want to protect kids,

          7  first of all what you do is you try to control the

          8  source, which is peeling paint for the most part.

          9  And the second thing you do, which the statute

         10  requires, on turnover is to make the floors and

         11  other horizontal surfaces, smooth and clean so mom

         12  has a shot at keeping it clean. And then the third

         13  thing you do is make sure that it is cleanable

         14  because when the owner is finished at turnover and

         15  does his work and cleans it up and passes, that

         16  proves that this is a cleanable apartment, right?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: But that

         18  doesn't mean it is not going to subsequently become

         19  contaminated from airborne dust and --

         20                 MR. FARR: Exactly right. Well, there

         21  is very little airborne-related dust anymore.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: What would

         23  it become contaminated from?

         24                 MR. FARR: If lead-based paint peels

         25  subsequently it would be contaminated from that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: How would

          3  the landlord know that?

          4                 MR. FARR: We are not suggesting that

          5  the landlord has a duty to do more than inspect once

          6  a year and respond to complaints and work a

          7  turnover.

          8                 I mean, I agree, and also I am a

          9  lawyer, forgive me, but I don't think --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: That was

         11  probably from all of the congestion of lead-based

         12  paint.

         13                 MR. FARR: Yes, that's right. That is

         14  why I am such a bad lawyer.

         15                 But we don't think the property owner

         16  should be responsible above and beyond what I have

         17  just said. He should be responsible for turning over

         18  a clean and cleanable apartment with no peeling

         19  lead-based paint.

         20                 Then he should be responsible for --

         21  I mean, I personally would have the requirement to

         22  respond be true whether or not there was a child

         23  there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right.

         25                 MR. FARR: But I can understand the
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          2  efficiency of that. Then he should be responsible

          3  for finding out if there is a child there, and if

          4  there is one, responding to complaints, and

          5  inspecting once a year. So, the issue of notice is

          6  not an issue, because at turnover he has got notice,

          7  it is empty. When he gets a complaint he has got

          8  notice, and if he inspects once a years he's got

          9  notice. So, we are not requiring the apartment owner

         10  to do anything without notice.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council

         13  Member Miller.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you.

         15  Most of my questions actually have been answered by

         16  my colleague, but I just want to ask, you say that

         17  your concern as national advocates is in the message

         18  and the precedent and the model that the City would

         19  be adopting; are there any other cities or states

         20  that have adopted legislation regarding this issue?

         21  Because this is not a new issue, this is an issue

         22  that people have known about for a long time. Is

         23  there another model that you can recommend to us for

         24  us to follow?

         25                 MR. FARR: Several, actually.
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          2                 The State of Maryland has a law which

          3  is fine, except that it doesn't require dust

          4  testing. They require a visual inspection after the

          5  work is done and, frankly, the Health Department in

          6  Baltimore and HUD were worried about that, so they

          7  have arranged for us to come in after the visual

          8  test and do dust tests, and what we have found is

          9  that, with respect to floors, 75 percent of them

         10  failed, which is sort of another reason why --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And what were

         12  the work safety standards in Maryland? Were they

         13  similar?

         14                 MR. FARR: Very similar.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: The ones in

         16  this bill are similar to the ones under the current

         17  DOH guidelines?

         18                 MR. FARR: No, they were very similar

         19  at turnover, which is what we are talking about, to

         20  the requirements in this piece of legislation.

         21  Pretty similar to that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: What does the

         23  State of Maryland have -- that is only for turnover,

         24  it is not for cases --

         25                 MR. FARR: No, they have to respond to
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          2  the complaints. It is similar, it is frankly more

          3  comprehensive than this. It has insurance divisions

          4  in it and much more -- it has provisions for

          5  so-called -- what do they call them -- payment,

          6  qualified offers. It is a much more complicated

          7  piece of legislation.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Clearance

          9  tests?

         10                 MR. FARR: Pardon?

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Clearance

         12  tests?

         13                 MR. FARR: No, it doesn't require

         14  clearance tests, and that is the failure. Because,

         15  as I said, we went in after, HUD arranged for us to

         16  evaluate the effectiveness of this law and what we

         17  found is that the failure to require clearance

         18  testing is what we consider to be a fatal flaw.

         19                 MR. RYAN: The Maryland law passed

         20  four years ago. Vermont passed legislation three

         21  years ago, and the Vermont model focuses on

         22  essential maintenance practices, integrating lead

         23  safety into --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Yes, but does

         25  that include clearance testing?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            259

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MR. RYAN: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Is there

          4  anywhere that they included clearance tests?

          5                 MR. FARR: Massachusetts requires

          6  clearance testing.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: New York

          8  City in its health rules requires clearance tests.

          9                 MR. RYAN: We are on the cusp of a new

         10  age of understanding sources and pathways of

         11  children's exposure to lead. And literally it has

         12  been research over the last 18 to 24 months that has

         13  emphasized the importance of lead dust, children's

         14  sensitivity to lead dust, what a strong predictor

         15  lead dust is of the risk to children, and that is

         16  why we come with such passion to plea for the

         17  inclusion, incorporation in a mainstream way at

         18  every opportunity for clearance dust testing.

         19                 It is the bottom line, the

         20  performance test of quality control.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: If this

         22  legislation included a clearance test, clearance

         23  dust test, would you say that it would be

         24  legislation that you would be inclined to support?

         25                 MR. FARR: Well, we have some other

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            260

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  things we would like, but I think that is the most

          3  important.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you.

          5                 MR. FARR: We think common areas, and

          6  finding out whether a child is there are two others.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:

          8  Gentlemen, thank you very much. We really appreciate

          9  your time, and everyone appreciates the fact that

         10  you came here. You were up previously and working

         11  with us.

         12                 MR. FARR: Thank you. We will come

         13  back again any time.

         14                 MR. RYAN: We welcome the opportunity.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I hope we

         16  will be able to see a new draft, and in fact I hope

         17  we just do 205, but that is my opinion.

         18                 Thank you very much. We appreciate

         19  it.

         20                 Next witness is Celia Irvine, from

         21  the Manhattan Borough President's Office, C.

         22  Virginia Fields. Celia, thank you very much for

         23  being here. Thank you for your patience in allowing

         24  these wonderful gentlemen from Washington to come up

         25  to testify before you.
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          2                 MS. IRVINE: Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Please

          4  proceed.

          5                 MS. IRVINE: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Celia Irvine and I am presenting testimony on

          7  behalf of Manhattan Borough President, C. Virginia

          8  Fields. The Borough President regrets that a

          9  scheduling conflict precludes her from testifying in

         10  person at such short notice.

         11                 Also, I would like to inform the

         12  Committee at the start of my statement, that I won't

         13  be commenting on the substance of the

         14  Administration's proposed legislation, due to the

         15  short time frame and limitations within our office

         16  in terms of analyzing and thoroughly reviewing that

         17  legislation.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't

         19  have staff that works over the weekends and at

         20  night?

         21                 MS. IRVINE: We are not experts on the

         22  subject like some of the other people.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 MS. IRVINE: As many of you know, the
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          2  Manhattan Borough President is working to create

          3  Manhattan's first lead safe house. The lead safe

          4  house will accommodate households while their

          5  apartments are undergoing lead paint abatement.

          6                 It is a testament to our collective

          7  failure to prevent lead poisoning that such a

          8  project is necessary in 1999. Together with

          9  legislation requiring identification and safe

         10  correction of lead hazards, the Manhattan Lead Safe

         11  House will work to mitigate the damage caused by

         12  childhood lead poisoning.

         13                 Unfortunately, this is not enough. We

         14  must to eradicate this entirely preventable disease.

         15                 Each year between 1,200 and 1,500

         16  more children become lead poisoned. Lead poisoning

         17  is insidious, it targets low-income children of

         18  color who face numerous obstacles to their health

         19  and well-being.

         20                 We all agree that New York City needs

         21  a new lead paint law, one that is workable and

         22  enforceable. We have learned a lot about lead

         23  poisoning prevention since 1982 when the City

         24  Council passed Local Law 1.

         25                 First, we now know that improperly
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          2  removing or disturbing lead paint can increase,

          3  rather than lessen, the hazard.

          4                 Any legislation must require safe

          5  work practices and properly trained workers whenever

          6  the work is done that could affect lead paint.

          7                 Second, we understand the

          8  significance of lead dust. Lead dust is one of the

          9  primary sources of lead poisoning, as the gentlemen

         10  before me I think very articulately put it,

         11  scientific research has proven that children are

         12  poisoned by ingesting lead dust through regular

         13  hand-to-mouth activity.

         14                 Lead dust has very little to do with

         15  peeling paint. It is created primarily from friction

         16  when two painted surfaces, such as windows and

         17  window frames rub against one another and by

         18  disturbing lead paint.

         19                 Any legislative framework must

         20  adequately define the problem of lead poisoning by

         21  including lead dust in the definition of lead

         22  hazard.

         23                 Finally, we better understand the

         24  weaknesses of the City's discretionary code

         25  enforcement system. Any legislation must strengthen
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          2  rather than weaken the current system by continuing

          3  to require owners to inspect apartments for peeling

          4  paint and the presence of preschoolers, and by

          5  imposing enforceable time frames for owners and the

          6  City to correct hazardous conditions where they

          7  exist.

          8                 Intro. 205, the Childhood Lead

          9  Poisoning Prevention Act, represents a reasonable

         10  middle ground. It recognizes that tenants, landlords

         11  and City agencies all must play a role in the fight

         12  against childhood lead poisoning.

         13                 Intro. 205 reflects what we know

         14  about lead poisoning prevention, and takes into

         15  account the legitimate interest of property owners

         16  and the City. However, at no point does Intro. 205

         17  compromise the safety of New York City's children.

         18                 New York City needs lead paint

         19  legislation that is based upon science, not

         20  politics. We cannot forget that while lead paint

         21  presents a legislative and economic dilemma, it is

         22  more importantly the cause of a debilitating and

         23  preventable disease.

         24                 Along with public health

         25  professionals, children's advocates and two-thirds
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          2  of the City Council and Manhattan Borough President

          3  supports Intro. 205 and urges the members of this

          4  Committee to demand that that legislation move

          5  forward.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think

          8  whoever helped prepare the statement should be told

          9  that there is a blatant mistake in your statement,

         10  especially from the testimony that has been heard,

         11  and that is the sentence that lead dust has nothing

         12  to do with peeling paint. All experts say that that

         13  is not so.

         14                 So, I appreciate your statement, but

         15  that is an inaccuracy in it.

         16                 I thank you very much.

         17                 MS. IRVINE: Thank you for that

         18  correction.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think

         20  you are convinced that I am right, too.

         21                 MS. IRVINE: I am convinced that you

         22  are right. I didn't read nothing to do, I was

         23  emphasizing that it is a separate issue.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes,

         25  okay. Thank you very much.
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          2                 MS. IRVINE: Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, we

          4  are going to do panels now, I am told by my counsel.

          5                 Carol Lamberg, Richard Tanenbaum,

          6  Michael Lappin and John McCarthy. Are any of them

          7  here? Michael is here, good. We may need an extra

          8  chair. Please take your seats. Any one of you who

          9  would rather sit up there separately, you are

         10  welcome to. We will hear all of you.

         11                 Welcome. I appreciate the fact that

         12  you have waited all of this time.

         13                 MS. LAMBERG: Well, thanks for the

         14  opportunity. I guess I will start and I will be very

         15  brief.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You will

         17  have to identify yourself.

         18                 MS. LAMBERG: Carol Lamberg.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know

         20  who you are but we have a machine that doesn't.

         21                 MS. LAMBERG: I know. Thank you. And I

         22  am Executive Director of Settlement Housing Fund, a

         23  Citywide non-profit development and services

         24  organization.

         25                 We have developed over 7,500
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          2  affordable apartments, we own 22 buildings with

          3  1,300 plus apartments in Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan.

          4  Our buildings are pristine, beautifully maintained

          5  and we have community programs, including a program

          6  called Bronx Helpers, where we actually train

          7  teenagers to assist and mediate in buildings where

          8  there is peeling paint and inform people about the

          9  problems. So we are aware of the issues and we have

         10  been in the housing business for 30 years.

         11                 My problems are, I wish every time

         12  there was a seismic law or a fire prevention law and

         13  building codes and other changes, that somebody

         14  would do an affordable housing impact statement,

         15  because these have tremendous impacts on housing all

         16  together, and housing certainly is a health issue

         17  too.

         18                 But whereas there are 900,000

         19  incidences of lead poisoning, there are 5 million

         20  households who pay over 50 percent of their income

         21  for rent or live in deteriorated, disgraceful

         22  housing.

         23                 So, with this dilemma there is always

         24  a conflict of goals on many of these issues, but I

         25  would like to request that gut rehabilitated units,
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          2  the units that we own mostly are the result of the

          3  excellent City programs that were part of the

          4  ten-year program, that where the walls were

          5  completely replaced, the ceiling --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That

          7  makes abundant sense. I am sure that Mike will also

          8  agree with that.

          9                 MS. LAMBERG: Yes, that you focus the

         10  resources where they are needed.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well,

         12  because what you have done in a sense is you got rid

         13  of the lead paint.

         14                 MS. LAMBERG: Yes, there are no walls,

         15  so that should be --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Gut

         17  rehab.

         18                 MS. LAMBERG: Yes, gut rehab.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All

         20  right, that makes sense. There is no chance of being

         21  leaded paint, and we agree leaded paint is what

         22  makes the dust, why should you be covered.

         23                 MS. LAMBERG: Then I worry about these

         24  notice provisions, and only because you get cynical

         25  after doing this for a long time, the child guard
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          2  provisions work, we send out a letter to every

          3  family, they send back something certifying whether

          4  they are children under ten. And we have to do

          5  annual inspections of our buildings because we care

          6  about who lives there and the condition and we have

          7  social workers on staff who intervene where

          8  necessary for many, many kinds of reasons. But I

          9  can't tell you how surprised we are sometimes. There

         10  are ten children one day, oh, no, they don't live

         11  there, they are just visiting -- it is very tricky

         12  and I worry about liability issues for landlords if

         13  the notification provisions become too onerous.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you

         15  satisfied with the window guard provision?

         16                 MS. LAMBERG: Yes.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well,

         18  that is incorporated in 205, so I think you should

         19  be satisfied with that.

         20                 MS. LAMBERG: Well, if it is a letter

         21  and it is written and it is clear --

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: 205

         23  mirrors the window guard law. Unfortunately the

         24  proposed legislation --

         25                 MS. LAMBERG: It has been told both
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          2  ways. I have read the law, I can't say I am as

          3  familiar as I am with every housing law that I read,

          4  but --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am sure

          6  you are not familiar with the proposed legislation

          7  in front of us, because very few people have seen

          8  it.

          9                 MS. LAMBERG: No. I have read it, but

         10  I haven't memorized it.

         11                 Okay, gut rehab, the notification,

         12  and then the cost. If you have buildings where there

         13  is a rent regulatory agreement or a program or you

         14  have only low and moderate income families and you

         15  have to absorb the cost. I am here because I

         16  panicked when I heard that possibly the inspection

         17  requirements alone could cost several hundred

         18  dollars a unit.

         19                 I know the swipe is $10, but just to

         20  hire somebody with the right certifications --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There is

         22  no certification in the state.

         23                 MS. LAMBERG: A professional to come

         24  in and send whatever you do.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            271

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  in the future, possibly.

          3                 MS. LAMBERG: Okay, well, future

          4  possibly, I am worried enough about it to say it now

          5  that I have the opportunity loud and clear because I

          6  added up the cost and it was some $800,000 just for

          7  the buildings I own and that would certainly put us

          8  out of business.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I would

         10  be very interested to see those statistics, but I

         11  doubt very much if it is going to be that much of a

         12  cost to you.

         13                 MS. LAMBERG: So, just to raise the

         14  consciousness of the impact on affordable housing,

         15  if we had to spend a few hundred dollars.

         16                 Last, I heard about the sprinklers,

         17  the most that could cost is $20 to $30 a month, the

         18  seismic regulations add $6, $7 per square foot to

         19  the cost. It mounts, it mounts, it mounts and there

         20  are --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The only

         22  time you have to do any testing is when you clean

         23  up. When you do the actual work.

         24                 MS. LAMBERG: Whatever the cost is --

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Somebody
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          2  is trying to scare you unnecessarily.

          3                 MS. LAMBERG: Okay. But in case the

          4  fears are correct and --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are

          6  not.

          7                 MS. LAMBERG: Assuming they are not,

          8  that's great. Even if there is a chance that they

          9  are, I would urge that there is money in the budget,

         10  just like the low-flow toilets, to pay for the cost

         11  of remediation and that it doesn't become an

         12  unfunded mandate and that non-profits or the Housing

         13  Authority or even the good for-profit owners, and

         14  there are many, many of those, shouldn't be forced

         15  to --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Some of

         17  us believe we should incorporate J-51 --

         18                 MS. LAMBERG: J-51 or new

         19  construction, like your elderly housing at

         20  Washington Heights Y, all those buildings can't

         21  afford the impact.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Wien

         23  House.

         24                 MS. LAMBERG: Wien House. Which a lot

         25  of my blood is in.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

          3  Thank you. I was there at the ground-breaking and

          4  the opening.

          5                 MS. LAMBERG: I shook hands with you

          6  there and enjoyed it.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: My

          8  pleasure.

          9                 Who is next, Mike?

         10                 MR. LAPPIN: Yes.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: State

         12  your name for the record, even though I know you 20

         13  some years.

         14                 MR. LAPPIN: I am Michael Lappin, I am

         15  President of the Community Preservation Corporation,

         16  we are an organization that has been involved in the

         17  renovation and upkeep of over 65,000 apartments in

         18  New York City in low and moderate income areas. We

         19  are a non-profit organization, organized by the

         20  major banking institutions in the City.

         21                 I, like some of your previous panel

         22  members, was honored to be part of the National Lead

         23  Paint Task Advisory Committee, so we have had quite

         24  a bit of experience, at least in examining this

         25  issue.
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          2                 I would just second what Carol

          3  Lamberg said. I think it is important, and any of

          4  these same kinds of legislations, some of the same

          5  points we made regarding the sprinkler legislation,

          6  that there be some kind of affordable housing impact

          7  statement on it so that people are aware that there

          8  are many dimensions which are affected by the

          9  various requirements. The thing that we don't want

         10  to have happen, which has happened in other places,

         11  in our zest to write the problem down to the last

         12  iota, we create a greater problem by not being able

         13  to afford it, we can do nothing at all.

         14                 The previous speaker mentioned, which

         15  was a very severe lead abatement standard for the

         16  State of Massachusetts, which the result of that has

         17  virtually brought all renovation in low and moderate

         18  income areas to a halt, that is something I am sure

         19  that the Councilman, and we have done I think

         20  probably over 10,000 units in your district --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I always

         22  remember the number eight.

         23                 MR. LAPPIN: It has gone up a little

         24  bit. Either that or maybe your district has

         25  expanded.
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          2                 I am going to ask -- so one of the

          3  things we are very concerned of is that some of the

          4  cost that have been spoken about, particularly some

          5  of the cost for testing, may not be necessary, and

          6  if it is not necessary, it just may in fact burden

          7  some of the low and moderate-income housing, and in

          8  fact when we look at the pattern of where there are

          9  some real lead belts in the City and we would hope

         10  that the legislation could put some extra resources

         11  in those particular areas where there seems to be a

         12  disproportionate number of lead poisoned cases.

         13                 I am going to ask my colleague, John

         14  McCarthy, who was my assistant on the National Lead

         15  Paint Task Force. And who is well known in this

         16  area, and has followed this research for many, many

         17  years, to provide a little more detailed commentary

         18  which would both reflect some of the things that we

         19  think should be in the bill and some of, what we

         20  think are some of the areas that have been put out

         21  and some of the misunderstandings that might have

         22  already been floating around.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr.

         24  McCarthy, welcome.

         25                 MR. McCARTHY: Thank you. John
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          2  McCarthy from CPC. I will just take one of these

          3  microphones.

          4                 Is it on?

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is on.

          6  Just keep it close to you and you will be fine.

          7                 MR. McCARTHY: Okay.

          8                 We wanted to comment on the lead safe

          9  standards in the proposed bill, with the annual

         10  inspections, the verifications of the presence of a

         11  child, the safe work methods and the reinspection

         12  and repair on a vacancy turn-over, all of which

         13  would embody the lead safe standard that was in the

         14  HUD task force recommendation, and also in the most

         15  recent local consideration of this, which is a 1993

         16  City task force, that made the same recommendations

         17  and concluded that implementation of these would

         18  produce an immediate reduction in potential lead

         19  paint hazards.

         20                 One of the things we would like to

         21  comment on especially is the dust wipe issue, that

         22  has been so controversial here today.

         23                 I would like to just state clearly

         24  what a dust wipe is. It is a damp cloth, like a baby

         25  wipe, that thoroughly wipes up a measured area,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            277

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  usually one square foot. It is analyzed by a lab

          3  which can take a few days to measure the micrograms

          4  of lead particles per square foot. HUD prescribes

          5  clearance standards and EPA has done this as well.

          6                 A wipe test in a single apartment

          7  would cost several hundred dollars, mainly for the

          8  technician's hourly costs to come to the apartment,

          9  travel back, prepare the --

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You

         11  realize you use discrepancy on those costs. People

         12  are saying, you have heard testimony, and this is

         13  the first time I have ever heard such enormous

         14  numbers.

         15                 MR. McCARTHY: Well, one of the things

         16  that I think was a big omission in the Health

         17  Commissioner's testimony is he implied he had no

         18  idea what these costs were and that he would get

         19  back to you with a schedule.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: He said

         21  they were cheap, inexpensive. That is not

         22  inexpensive.

         23                 MR. McCARTHY: Well, I think one thing

         24  everybody agrees is that not anybody can perform

         25  this. It requires some technical competence, and Don

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            278

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Ryan --

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We had

          4  one of our staff go over to the Health Department,

          5  somebody was very much against the wipe test, she

          6  came back convinced that there is nothing to it.

          7  Somebody can be trained relatively easily to do it.

          8                 MR. McCARTHY: Well, I think the

          9  counter to that is what the -- you know, Don Ryan

         10  from the Alliance and Nick Farr from the National

         11  Center for Lead Safe Housing, they have pressed EPA

         12  to come up with a one-day training program just for

         13  this purpose --

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And they

         15  say it is relatively inexpensive.

         16                 MR. McCARTHY: It also doesn't exist.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know.

         18                 MR. McCARTHY: And as you know, in New

         19  York City we have no training and certification.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it is

         21  part of the health rules of this City to wipe that.

         22                 MR. McCARTHY: The point here really

         23  is the practicality of a wide spread requirement for

         24  dust wipe tests. At present we don't have the people

         25  who can do it, and it is unlikely to be a trivial
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          2  cost.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, you

          4  have heard them say that without that test you have

          5  a bill which isn't worth the paper it is written on.

          6                 MR. McCARTHY: Yes, but one of the

          7  points you made is that you tried to, in your Intro.

          8  205, use the term interim control as the way of

          9  attempting to address the concern that any

         10  requirement would force certified workers to be

         11  employed, and you didn't want to have that resolved.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am very

         13  much in favor of wipe tests. I favor the health

         14  rules which provide for it, I favor the EPA rules

         15  and the HUD rules that provide for it. But you are

         16  entitled to your opinion. I am listening to you.

         17                 MR. McCARTHY: Right. The point only

         18  is that some technical competence is needed. You

         19  know, the EPA people believe it is a day-long

         20  training program. It is unlikely to be a very cheap

         21  test.

         22                 Another point, though --

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't

         24  have to train them, though, every time you do the

         25  wipe test. You get one person trained and they can
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          2  do it for awhile.

          3                 MR. McCARTHY: That's right. I mean,

          4  the travel time and the hourly costs for whoever

          5  does it are the issue. If it gets down to nothing,

          6  well then it is a very small cost. Right now --

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All

          8  right.

          9                 MR. McCARTHY: The lab cost may be

         10  $8.00 but the person's time to do it and report it

         11  is something else.

         12                 But I think another point that is

         13  worth making, and it merits serious attention, is

         14  that the wipe tests can falsely measure, they can

         15  give a false assurance of lead safety, if lead dust

         16  contamination from soil from outside the apartment

         17  can cause levels to reaccumulate within the unit.

         18                 A few facts on lead dust. Lead dust

         19  in soil is chiefly traceable to past deposits of

         20  microscopic lead particles from leaded gasoline

         21  exhaust.

         22                 Leaded gas was phased out in America

         23  during the 1980s, and EPA and medical researchers

         24  who studied nationally the health of the US

         25  population credit this phase-out of leaded gas for
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          2  the drop of 78 percent in American's average blood

          3  levels, between the late 1970s and early '90s when

          4  the researchers studied the population.

          5                 This nationwide decline in blood

          6  levels, which is seen in all populations, all age

          7  groups, all income levels, was called the public

          8  health success of the decade by EPA's commissioner.

          9                 The phase-out of leaded gas in the

         10  eighties stopped new contamination from that source,

         11  but lead deposited from earlier years doesn't

         12  biodegrade. It can only be washed away, covered by

         13  clean soil, or blown someplace else by the wind.

         14                 Research correlates soil lead

         15  concentrations with proximity to highways, bridges,

         16  and tunnel approaches.

         17                 New Orleans, for example, has

         18  documented extremely high hazardous levels of lead

         19  in playgrounds and open yards. Similar findings have

         20  been recorded in Baltimore and other towns. St.

         21  Paul, Minnesota, surprisingly the same thing.

         22                 Homes are protected from

         23  contamination by leaded soil and dust, by regular

         24  detergent cleaning of the floors and the windowsills

         25  and that is the reason that HUD recommends these
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          2  measures in the pamphlet that since June of 1998 is

          3  required by federal law now to be handed out to

          4  tenants upon any new tenancy.

          5                 No extensive analysis has ever been

          6  done in New York City of ambient dust levels. High

          7  levels do exist in some parks. This was done in a

          8  Throggsneck Park examination under a highway

          9  approach, and another example it was well known was

         10  the Williamsburg Bridge.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The

         12  Williamsburg Bridge, and just recently they were

         13  cleaning off the George Washington Bridge, they

         14  encapsulated the bridge for the fear of lead.

         15                 MR. McCARTHY: Oh, that's right.

         16                 On the plus side, you know, on the

         17  past leaded dust accumulations issue, though the

         18  extensive paving in many City neighborhoods means

         19  that most past deposits of leaded gas exhaust

         20  probably have long ago been washed away by rainfall

         21  and snow melt.

         22                 This may account for the fact that

         23  under the City Department of Health data, many New

         24  York City neighborhoods show an incidence of

         25  elevated blood levels, it's one-third or even less,
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          2  of the US average.

          3                 Under the federal study of national

          4  health that I referred to, 1.1 percent of American

          5  kids had blood leads of over 20. New York City's

          6  average incidence is one-third of one percent, under

          7  the Department of Health figures and this has been

          8  pretty steady from the early '90s to 1997, which is

          9  the most recent year for which I have seen data.

         10                 The federal study documented a 78

         11  percent drop in blood leads between the late '70s

         12  and the early '90s had a counterpart here in the

         13  City, or the similar results in 1980 when the action

         14  level for lead poisoning was 40 micrograms per

         15  deciliter, the City Department of Health reported

         16  976 kids at that level.

         17                 In the mid-nineties, that level,

         18  there were 192 kids at that level, which was a drop

         19  of 80 percent, similar to the nationwide drop.

         20                 These City results, in comparison

         21  with US averages, bear out the consensus that it is

         22  not the age of housing by itself that is a lead

         23  hazard, but a condition of housing.

         24                 In most of the City's 30 health

         25  districts, we show incidence of kids with blood
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          2  levels above the action level of 20 now. For

          3  instance, one-half of a percent in 1997, in

          4  Bushwick, a tenth of a percent in Mott Haven, a

          5  tenth of a percent in East Harlem. But some pretty

          6  wide disparity among the health districts. There is

          7  an adverse disparity that exists year after year in

          8  a small number of them, that the showings are so

          9  consistent that the term lead belt is applied to

         10  these. It is kids in Bushwick, Bedford Stuyvesant,

         11  Flatbush and Ft. Greene that consistently make up 30

         12  to 35 percent of the City's lead poisoning cases,

         13  and those four districts, plus North Bronx, Tremont,

         14  Washington Heights, and Jamaica, produce over 50

         15  percent of the City's cases.

         16                 What this argues is that when there

         17  is data like this year after year showing where lead

         18  risks obviously are concentrated, it makes sense to

         19  concentrate resources in those areas, you know,

         20  inspection, clean-up, including soil clean-up.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is

         22  the furtherance of Mr. Lappin's statement.

         23                 MR. McCARTHY: Yes. And it is here

         24  where resources, public resources would be most

         25  effective.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What type

          3  of cleaning is suggested?

          4                 MR. McCARTHY: I think soil clean-up

          5  would be extremely important. Certainly

          6  deterioration in housing, you know, is a contributor

          7  to childhood lead poisoning.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are

          9  not denying that dust comes from lead-based paint?

         10  Deteriorated lead-based paint peeling are you?

         11                 MR. McCARTHY: No. That is a

         12  contributor, but what I am asserting, which is not,

         13  you know, hasn't been discussed today, is the

         14  research that shows contributions from non-paint

         15  sources.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the

         17  fact of the matter is, when you get lead dust, it is

         18  very difficult to determine where it is from; isn't

         19  that right? Isn't that the testimony of the two

         20  gentlemen you spoke so favorably about said?

         21                 That is what I heard them say. They

         22  said they can't tell where it is without doing

         23  extensive work. Have you done the extensive work to

         24  determine where the lead comes from in housing?

         25                 MR. McCARTHY: I don't pretend to be a
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          2  scientific expert, but I have read quite a few of

          3  the articles that actually distinguish between the

          4  appearance and the size of the microscopic particles

          5  and that they are able to distinguish between leaded

          6  gas as the initial source and other sources.

          7                 The point on this, though,

          8  Councilman, is that a wipe test might give a false

          9  assurance of lead safety, if track-in from outside

         10  is simply going to reaccumulate within --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is

         12  why they say the test is done immediately after the

         13  finishing of the repairs, before anybody can get a

         14  chance to track it in.

         15                 MR. McCARTHY: The difficulties for an

         16  owner in the wipe test, aside from the cost, are

         17  several:

         18                 One is the fear of, you know,

         19  creating a liability risk, in that any competent

         20  owner with an initial fail would continue to clean

         21  up until they get a pass.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is

         23  what they should do.

         24                 MR. McCARTHY: It is what they should

         25  do, but that initial fail is presumed lead hazard
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          2  which under the HUD notification rule since June of

          3  '98 --

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No

          5  accountability, you don't know if you have got it

          6  until you do the work. In fact, if you are not a

          7  good landlord, like you guys are, there is no

          8  testing to see if they have even done the work at

          9  all.

         10                 MR. McCARTHY: But the assurance of

         11  lead safety that the test seems to give, may not be

         12  true, if there are external sources of lead from the

         13  soil.

         14                 I think the point really from a

         15  universal requirement of wipe tests, that shouldn't

         16  be implemented without some knowledge of the

         17  Throggsneck Park situation, some knowledge of the

         18  amount of contribution of lead into units from

         19  outside from soil or dust.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sir, with

         21  all due respect, you are doing it in an apartment

         22  where children are five years of age or under, no

         23  matter where they get the dust from, and I am not

         24  agreeing or disagreeing with you, that child unless

         25  that dust is removed is going to get lead poisoning;
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          2  isn't that correct?

          3                 The lead dust is what causes

          4  childhood lead poisoning.

          5                 MR. McCARTHY: It may be a hazard but

          6  we are trying to point out, Councilman --

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Where it

          8  comes from is null, it is if the child is going to

          9  ingest it and be poisoned.

         10                 MR. McCARTHY: But one of the problems

         11  of the Local Law 1, you know regime of the statute

         12  and the regulations, was that it was an unworkable

         13  system.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It was

         15  the state-of-the-art at that particular time, that

         16  is what we were told, that it comes from the paint

         17  chips, children consume them. That is what we were

         18  told, I was told by all of the experts, but we have

         19  now learned differently so that is why we are

         20  changing the law. That is why 205 does not contain,

         21  doesn't require you to remove all of the lead, only

         22  the lead which is in deteriorated paint or comes

         23  from friction surfaces.

         24                 MR. McCARTHY: Right, I understand

         25  that. But --
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are

          3  trying to keep up the state-of-the-art and be

          4  reasonable.

          5                 MR. McCARTHY: But the point in

          6  pursuing these facts about non-housing sources is,

          7  you know, in the absence of trained technicians who

          8  had actually performed these, to avoid creating

          9  another set of regulations that look good, that are

         10  based on some incomplete knowledge of the current

         11  state-of-the-art really aren't.

         12                 I mean, it is striking that the

         13  National Housing, you know, Nick Farr and Don Ryan

         14  point out that it is only within the last 18 to 24

         15  months that there really has been much research on

         16  the contribution of dust.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is

         18  what they are telling us. You know, this is snapshot

         19  in time, we can only do what they are telling us and

         20  that is what they are telling us it comes from.

         21                 It seems to me and I think maybe you

         22  are someone who agrees with me, what we should be

         23  doing is including playgrounds and other places

         24  where the dust may come from and be tracked into the

         25  apartment, so we should clean them up since it is a
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          2  cumulative thing with children.

          3                 It is our objective, and I am sure

          4  you feel the same way, our main objective here is to

          5  prevent children from being lead poisoned.

          6                 MR. McCARTHY: Yes, it is. And we have

          7  acquired a lot of knowledge on that, studying in

          8  these various task forces over the years.

          9                 But one of the things that is true --

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I better

         11  not engage in this dialogue, as interesting as I

         12  find it, maybe we will continue some other time. Can

         13  you sort of wrap up your testimony?

         14                 MR. LAPPIN: Just one of the things

         15  that might be appropriate.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sure,

         17  Mike.

         18                 MR. LAPPIN: One of the things we

         19  think there is a real possibility of is a continual

         20  failure to be able to pass a wipe test because of

         21  ambient levels of dust in the area of that

         22  particular building and such.

         23                 And one of the things we think that

         24  is appropriate, that has not, to my knowledge, and I

         25  think my knowledge is complete in this regard, there
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          2  has not been in this City, as with all the concern

          3  about childhood lead poisoning, there has not been

          4  any study as to what is the ambient level of dust

          5  that comes from the streets or comes from the soil,

          6  or whatever else. We believe that there is, it does

          7  appear to us that there is real ambient dust in the

          8  streets that does come into the house, and it would

          9  seem to me as an appropriate measure, as part of

         10  this bill, that there be sufficient funds that such

         11  a study be done so that we can see how severe a

         12  problem this really is.

         13                 If we are going to shoot at

         14  something, let's not aim at the wrong thing here.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, I

         16  think that is not a bad idea. But unfortunately, it

         17  is not something that we are considering in this

         18  Committee. We are considering a piece of legislation

         19  in this Committee, and I think maybe if this

         20  legislation is given some more time to be developed,

         21  that is something we should look into.

         22                 I thank you gentlemen very much for

         23  being here, but I am afraid I have to call some

         24  other witnesses.

         25                 MR. LAPPIN: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. McCARTHY: Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr.

          4  Tannenbaum was not here.

          5                 Next is Meryl Viener, John F. Rosen,

          6  and Dr. Evelyn A. Mauss. Are they here?

          7                 Please join us. Thank you, again, for

          8  waiting all of this time. I hope it has not been

          9  without merit.

         10                 You can choose among you, between

         11  you, I should say.

         12                 DR. ROSEN: Mr. Chairman, I am going

         13  to lead off. My name is Dr. John Rosen, I am

         14  Professor of Pediatrics at the Albert Einstein

         15  College of Medicine and Montefiore Medical Center.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I

         17  would like to say myself, sir, knowing you for many

         18  years, and knowing of your work, that I consider you

         19  the leading expert, maybe nationally on the issue of

         20  childhood lead poisoning, and I applaud you for the

         21  work you have done and I appreciate you coming here.

         22                 DR. ROSEN: Thank you very much.

         23                 Our group is currently the only New

         24  York State funded resource center for lead poisoning

         25  prevention in all of the five boroughs in New York
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          2  City and treat the majority of lead poisoned

          3  children across the City.

          4                 In 1985 and 1991, I was Chairperson

          5  of CEC's Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead

          6  Poisoning, which set the standard for the treatment

          7  and management of childhood lead poisoning, as well

          8  as abatement, which is a word that should be in a

          9  bill but is not.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: For good

         11  reason. Bad reason, though, but good reason.

         12                 DR. ROSEN: I have also in my

         13  experiences to date or in three decades' worth of

         14  work in this field treated directly or indirectly

         15  over 15,000 children with childhood lead poisoning.

         16                 Several experts in the field, both

         17  clinicians, scientists, and lead toxicologists have

         18  expressed their dismay in writing concerning the

         19  Vallone bill.

         20                 These experts include Dr. Maury

         21  Markowitz, Dr. Herbert Needleman, Dr. Sergio

         22  Piomelli, Dr. Paul Mushak, and Dr. Joseph Graziano.

         23                 The specifics of this bill have been

         24  framed without sufficient input by medical experts,

         25  public health experts and affected communities
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          2  throughout New York City.

          3                 Instead the bill has been framed by

          4  the Speaker with support from the Mayor and these

          5  individuals do not qualify as pediatricians,

          6  doctors, public health advocates, nor members of

          7  affected communities. In this regard, it is my

          8  understanding that the Department of Health set the

          9  public health policy in this City together with lead

         10  experts nationally and, again, effect local

         11  communities.

         12                 Unfortunately, it has fallen to the

         13  uninformed staffs of the Speaker and Mayor to frame

         14  a bill which is untenable because it fails, totally

         15  fails to protect children from childhood lead

         16  poisoning.

         17                 One area that has been covered

         18  somewhat superficially before but yields lead dust

         19  which has not been mentioned enough, and those are

         20  friction surfaces of old doors, wooden doors and

         21  wooden windows, the bulk of which are

         22  characteristically found in pre-1960 housing.

         23                 Those friction surfaces must be

         24  mediated and abated to control the whole lead dust

         25  problem, which I will skip over because it has been
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          2  mentioned so many times, to tell you specifically

          3  about one child who was transferred to our center

          4  last week.

          5                 This was a three-year-old child who

          6  was treated at an outlying hospital in Brooklyn, was

          7  sent home with a blood lead of 21, and went home to

          8  an apartment that was loaded with dust. There was

          9  lead debris, there were paint chips all over the

         10  apartment.

         11                 Within one week that child was

         12  referred to our center with a blood lead of 52, and

         13  this further points out the importance of cleaning

         14  up of clearance testing, of debris, of training

         15  programs, of certified abatement programs throughout

         16  the City and meeting finally US HUD and EPA

         17  guidelines in terms of clearance standards.

         18                 In summary, as the largest treatment

         19  center in the City where I could hospitalize a

         20  child, treat with a chelating agent and sent that

         21  child home under the provisions of the bill that

         22  have been discussed today it would be medical

         23  malpractice.

         24                 What I urge is that Intro. 205

         25  receive as much, if not more attention, by this
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          2  committee to open up a democratic process so that

          3  all of the issues can be on the table and a

          4  preventive bill, such as your own, can achieve full,

          5  full disclosure, full discussion and support by

          6  public health advocates.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And

          8  hopefully passage as well. And implementation as

          9  well.

         10                 DR. ROSEN: That I assume.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank

         12  you, Dr. Rosen. I appreciate it.

         13                 Next.

         14                 MS. VIENER: Hi. My name is Meryl

         15  Viener --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Put the

         17  microphone closer.

         18                 MS. VIENER: Okay.

         19                 I am an attorney and I specialize in

         20  lead litigation. I represent well over 100 children

         21  who were poisoned from lead, who suffer from brain

         22  damage, learning disorders, attention disorders, and

         23  at serious risk for future health problems.

         24                 My clients are concerned and angry

         25  about this bill. They have written letters and made
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          2  phone calls and they would have been here today but

          3  for the extremely ridiculously short notice of this

          4  hearing.

          5                 I would like to tell you one of their

          6  stories.

          7                 Jordon was born in a pre-1960

          8  multiple dwelling apartment in Manhattan in

          9  September 1992. Eleven days after his birth, a fire

         10  in the building made his apartment temporarily

         11  uninhabitable. But when his mother and he returned

         12  they found the repairs had not been completed and

         13  she commenced an action in Housing Court.

         14                 In response to a court order, the

         15  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         16  inspected the apartment and found deteriorated paint

         17  conditions. Even though the agency knew that the

         18  dwelling was old and he was a young child, they

         19  failed to cite the presumption and cite the landlord

         20  for a lead paint violation. Instead, it has merely

         21  cited the landlord for peeling paint violations.

         22                 At that time Jordon's blood was

         23  tested for lead and registered at six micrograms per

         24  deciliter, indicating that he was not lead poisoned.

         25                 Then the landlord began conducting
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          2  repair work. Because HPD had not issued a citation

          3  for a lead paint violation, the work was performed

          4  without any safety precautions to protect against

          5  lead dust in the apartment.

          6                 Five years later, in January, 1995,

          7  Jordon was tested again for lead, his blood lead

          8  levels had shot up to 42 micrograms per deciliter.

          9  He had become highly lead poisoned.

         10                 The Department of Health inspected

         11  the apartment and tested the paint and found 60

         12  samples tested positive for lead. All of these areas

         13  cited by the Department of Health were previously

         14  cited by HPD for peeling paint violations, but not

         15  lead violations.

         16                 DOH did not issue a notice of

         17  violation until three weeks after this inspection,

         18  and a month after Jordan had been diagnosed. Between

         19  that inspection and the notice of violation, the

         20  landlord had his building superintendent begin work

         21  on the lead paint surfaces. Again taking no safety

         22  precautions to prevent the spread of hazardous lead

         23  dust.

         24                 A Department of Health reinspection

         25  found that violations were still present, and
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          2  instead of having HPD do the repairs, DOH simply

          3  issued another order to abate, with no penalties or

          4  other enforcement action.

          5                 The landlord's employees did more

          6  work in the apartment, again not following safety

          7  precautions. While Jordan's blood lead level had

          8  dipped down to a still high level of 25 micrograms

          9  per deciliter, a month after this work was conducted

         10  his blood lead level had risen again, this time to

         11  36 micrograms per deciliter.

         12                 At one point in July 1995, the City

         13  Department of Environmental Protection stepped in

         14  and halted all lead abatement work in the apartment

         15  because of the continued non-compliance with t he

         16  safety regulations.

         17                 The cycle of promises to correct the

         18  problem, sloppy work and lack of dust clearance

         19  testing, delayed inspections and more orders

         20  continued for months longer, and Jordan's blood lead

         21  level continued to remain elevated at 26 micrograms

         22  per deciliter or higher.

         23                 Between November 1995 and January

         24  1996, new water leaks in the ceilings and walls of

         25  the apartment caused other paint to peel and the
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          2  plaster to break releasing more lead paint chips and

          3  more lead paint dust. More orders, sloppy work and

          4  delayed action followed.

          5                 Finally, in frustration and

          6  desperation, Jordan's mother sought shelter at the

          7  Montefiore Medical Center's Lead Safe House in the

          8  Bronx, in May 1996. Within about a month Jordan's

          9  blood lead level dropped to 19 micrograms per

         10  deciliter and it continued to drop thereafter. His

         11  mother continued to press for proper clean-up of the

         12  apartment.

         13                 It took a long time, and they were

         14  not able to return to their apartment until

         15  September 1997.

         16                 Jordon suffers behavioral and

         17  learning problems from the affect of his lead

         18  poisoning and we will never know what his full

         19  potential could have been. I am confident that

         20  Jordan will prevail in his lawsuit against his

         21  landlord and the City. No one can give him back his

         22  abilities or health, but he has the right to

         23  monetary compensation.

         24                 Under this proposed bill, both the

         25  landlord and the City would be shielded from
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          2  liability and Jordan would have no recourse.

          3                 I want to point out that because

          4  Jordan's landlord used sloppy work methods, dust in

          5  the apartment cause Jordan's blood levels to shoot

          6  back up.

          7                 I want to point out that the

          8  Department of Health and HPD cleared the apartment

          9  after visual inspections, but the dust clearance

         10  tests showed high levels of lead dust. Clearly,

         11  eliminating the requirement for the dust clearance

         12  test will lead to more poisoned children.

         13                 I believe that the threat of

         14  litigation drives landlords to act. Under the

         15  proposed bill, more children will be poisoned and

         16  landlords will be protected from liability.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think

         18  you were here when I was having a dialogue with the

         19  Corporation Counsel?

         20                 MS. VIENER: Yes.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you

         22  are an attorney and you brought these cases. Do you

         23  think you would be able to bring your case without

         24  the presumption of leaded paint?

         25                 MS. VIENER: I think it would be
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          2  virtually impossible to bring a successful lawsuit

          3  without that statutory presumption.

          4                 We tried it outside of the City of

          5  New York where we do not have the presumption --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you

          7  don't have the presumption you can't win.

          8                 MS. VIENER: -- And we can't win.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Unless

         10  you can show the landlord had actual notice.

         11                 MS. VIENER: Well --

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That

         13  provides you with constructive notice.

         14                 MS. VIENER: What that really means is

         15  that if there was a child who was poisoned in the

         16  apartment once before, so you have one poisoned

         17  child, the next child who is poisoned will have a

         18  lawsuit.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The

         20  actual notice. In other words, without the

         21  presumption you have no constructive notice, and if

         22  you have to depend on constructive notice you can't

         23  win.

         24                 MS. VIENER: Exactly. And a landlord

         25  will always deny that he has actual notice when
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          2  confronted with this type of situation.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And also

          4  he will deny that he knew there was a child under

          5  five there. And also deny that he received notice

          6  from the tenant that there is a problem in his

          7  apartment, and the burden of proof will then be on

          8  the tenant. Which means preponderance of evidence

          9  will have to be shown by the Plaintiff's attorneys.

         10                 MS. VIENER: How can they show --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not

         12  exaggerating when I state that what is built in here

         13  is the landlord's protection legislation.

         14                 MS. VIENER: Absolutely.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All

         16  right. Very good. Thank you.

         17                 I just had to have another attorney

         18  verify that I wasn't talking through my hat.

         19                 That's okay, please, we have a

         20  minimum of time.

         21                 DR. MAUSS: I am Dr. Evelyn Mauss. I

         22  am a physiologist. New York University is my

         23  academic affiliation and at present I serve as

         24  science consultant, senior science consultant, for

         25  the Natural Resources Defense Council.
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          2                 There are a couple of facts that are

          3  very basic to our consideration to the material we

          4  are considering today. I think that members of this

          5  Committee know it and most of this well-informed

          6  audience know these as well.

          7                 The first is that lead is a

          8  non-threshold toxicant.  This is the scientific and

          9  medical consensus at this time, a non-threshold

         10  toxicant, by which we mean that there is no

         11  threshold, there is no level, no lowest level below

         12  which exposure can be considered safe.

         13                 The second is that of all of the

         14  organs in the body, the most vulnerable to this

         15  poison is the brain, and this is especially so in

         16  children.

         17                 And I would like if you can consider,

         18  I was thinking of this as temporarily a university

         19  classroom instead of a Council chamber, in which if

         20  I --

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you

         22  need 45 minutes, I don't have it.

         23                 DR. MAUSS: I will do it in four or

         24  five at the most.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because
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          2  we have a lot of people still to testify.

          3                 DR. MAUSS: Well, I will try to tell

          4  you something, a little bit of basic science, that

          5  will in a way inform your thinking about all of

          6  this.

          7                 You don't really need this, do you

          8  want me not to do it?

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:

         10  Unfortunately, the people who should be listening to

         11  you -- and I have heard you before this issue -- are

         12  not here. If you want to give a thumbnail sketch of

         13  it and let people know.

         14                 DR. MAUSS: That is what it would be.

         15                 This is a neuron.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Existing

         17  in the brain.

         18                 DR. MAUSS: A neuron is a nerve cell

         19  in the brain, and the handout that I have given you

         20  is a series of pictures, and the first is a newborn,

         21  a little bit of a tiny cortex of a newborn, and the

         22  baby when he or she is born does have a complete

         23  number of the neurons of these cells. The cell

         24  itself. But not all of the branches, not all of the

         25  processes that interconnect with one another and
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          2  upon which brains function basically and completely

          3  depends.

          4                 If you look at this little bit of

          5  brain of the newborn, you will see that there are

          6  very few connections. There are some cell bodies,

          7  and hardly any connections. At three months there

          8  are a few more, at six months there are more.

          9                 When you get to two years it is an

         10  actual tangle, an unorganized tangle, rather dense,

         11  of all of the neurons and processes and they are

         12  connecting with each other in great number.

         13                 The connections are enormously, are

         14  very numerous. The newborn had the cell but not the

         15  billions, now that word is billions of connections

         16  that occur from one cell to another, the connections

         17  are called synapses.

         18                 Now if you look, and I want to point

         19  out that at this stage, these stages up to the

         20  toddler age, from newborn to toddler, the branches

         21  are developing, the connections are developing and

         22  lead in the body of the child, in the brain, blood

         23  supply of the child of a little baby and a toddler

         24  can seriously affect whether those branches develop

         25  at all and what kind of connections are made.
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          2                 If you now look for a second at four

          3  years and six years, you can see that the density is

          4  much, much less, because at four years, as the child

          5  has grown from two years and older, that unorganized

          6  random tangle of connections, it gradually becomes

          7  organized so that tracts in the brain can do what

          8  they are supposed to do - they connect with the

          9  different parts of the brain, they receive

         10  information, they send out information.

         11                 This is the second point in the

         12  development of the brain where exposure to lead is

         13  really detrimental to the child's brain development,

         14  the learning and the knowing.  The cognitive and

         15  intellectual abilities of the child are compromised

         16  seriously by exposure of the brain at either of

         17  these stages.

         18                 That is the first point, and as long

         19  as Council Member Michels isn't going to stop me, I

         20  just have one more -- yes, now we have Mr. Spigner

         21  back -- the second point that I want to make,

         22  another finding that is important:

         23                 You all know about MRIs, probably

         24  many people, or some people have been requested to

         25  take MRI testing, it stands for Magnetic Resonance
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          2  Imaging. There is something else, MRS, which is

          3  Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. And by this

          4  technique, MRS, it is possible to learn not just the

          5  anatomical details of the organ of a body, but much

          6  about the metabolism, the chemicals, and by this

          7  test applied to the brains of children who have been

          8  exposed to lead, it is clearly evident that the

          9  metabolism of the brain cells is deranged.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I don't think

         11  there is any debate on the destructive nature of --

         12                 DR. MAUSS: I just wanted you to know

         13  how it happens, because I think when you know how it

         14  happens, it helps you in recognizing the gravity.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I don't think

         16  there is any debate on how it happens. But I do

         17  appreciate your testimony.

         18                 DR. MAUSS: I just want to say in

         19  concluding, if I may, that when you evaluate --

         20  well, I think the conclusion is also obvious that if

         21  we don't protect children from lead, it is the

         22  future of all of them, including all of those little

         23  fellow citizens whose brains may not develop the way

         24  we want them to.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You bet. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 DR. ROSEN: If I could add just one

          4  more comment, sir?

          5                 The Commissioner of Health, when he

          6  was here, claimed that there were less than 1,000

          7  cases of childhood lead poisoning in New York City.

          8  An analysis by the Honorable Mark Green that was

          9  published approximately a year ago, indicated that

         10  the number was actually 30,000.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The question is

         12  who do you believe?

         13                 DR. ROSEN: Well, to push it further,

         14  just let me push this further.

         15                 He says 1,000 when he is before this

         16  Committee, each year for the past five years I have

         17  written a letter of recommendation for the DOH for

         18  their CBC application, and during the past two years

         19  they have quoted 30,000 in their CEC application.

         20                 I think the conclusion is clear.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, Ma'am.

         22                 MS. VIENER: I already gave my

         23  testimony.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         25                 Council Member Linares.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I think that

          3  your statement in terms of the number of children is

          4  accurate and is I think on record, the 1,000 number

          5  comes from those who reported a condition that

          6  needed their intervention which was 1,000. But that

          7  is not the universe of children that are affected.

          8  They acknowledged it could even be more than

          9  30,000.

         10                 DR. ROSEN: It well may be more. But

         11  they have not been particularly frank in their

         12  quoting of numbers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank all of

         14  you.

         15                 Okay, Joseph Corso. I don't see him.

         16  Okay.

         17                 Let's see, Mary Ann Rothman, is she

         18  here? Frank Ricci? The two of you can have a seat.

         19                 If you will identify yourself, Ms.

         20  Rothman, you can go first. Ladies first.

         21                 MS. ROTHMAN: Thank you very much, Mr.

         22  Spigner, and members of the Committee.

         23                 My name is Mary Ann Rothman and I am

         24  the Executive Director of the Council of New York

         25  Cooperatives and Condominiums. This is a membership
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          2  group for people who choose to make their home in

          3  housing co-ops and condominiums in our City, and as

          4  such, home owners, owners of real estate in our

          5  City, I think we are people who take special care of

          6  our homes.

          7                 The Council itself has a membership

          8  of 2,038 co-op corporations and condominium

          9  associations, and I speak here today also on behalf

         10  of two other organizations for co-ops and condos.

         11  The federation of New York Housing Cooperatives, and

         12  the Coordinating Counsel of Co-ops.

         13                 Between our three organizations we

         14  cover an enormous spectrum of housing co-ops,

         15  spanning every economic level and all of the

         16  boroughs and beyond.

         17                 The City Council has had a very, very

         18  difficult task, and I congratulate this Committee on

         19  working diligently to craft a bill to alleviate an

         20  extraordinarily serious problem. The bill before us

         21  makes great strides toward preventing lead poisoning

         22  of small children.

         23                 For the first time ever, the

         24  maintenance and control safety standards that it

         25  will set will mean that no scraping of dry painted
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          2  surfaces will disturb paint chips and send dust into

          3  the air, and expect for very, very tight timeframes

          4  for protecting and implementing these measures, I

          5  think that they are doable. And our organization

          6  would like very much, the organizations would like

          7  to be able to support this bill.

          8                 However, there are issues to be

          9  resolved concerning the obligations of co-op

         10  corporations and condominium associations, and the

         11  obligations of the owners of the specific units

         12  where peeling paint might be found.

         13                 I am confident that we will be able

         14  to resolve these issues until they are resolved. We

         15  can't support this bill.

         16                 We are also always concerned about

         17  criminal liability, it is our strong belief that

         18  civil penalties are abundant and the certainly the

         19  boards of directors of co-ops and condominiums

         20  shouldn't face criminal penalties for acts which are

         21  not criminal.

         22                 I thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I share your

         24  concern.

         25                 Council Member Michels, you had a
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          2  question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I will

          4  ask later.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Ricci.

          6                 MR. RICCI: Yes, my name is Frank

          7  Ricci. I am the Director of Government Affairs for

          8  the Rent Stabilization Association. We represent

          9  about 25,000 property owners in New York City, who

         10  collectively have about 1 million units of housing

         11  in their inventory.

         12                 Many of those are owned in the co-op

         13  or condo basis, but most of them are rental

         14  apartments. Regulated rentals.

         15                 I have prepared testimony, which I am

         16  going to hand in which you can read. I don't think

         17  at this later hour of the day it is really helpful

         18  to read the entire testimony.

         19                 I wanted to reiterate a few points

         20  that were made today by the prior speakers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't see

         22  your testimony up here.

         23                 MR. RICCI: Sorry. I gave it to the

         24  Sergeant-At-Arms, I don't know if he gave it to you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, I have it.
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          2  Right here.

          3                 MR. RICCI: I just wanted to emphasize

          4  a couple of things in this legislation.

          5                 And the one thing that seems to have

          6  gotten lost and a lot of what we were talking about

          7  today is that this legislation which in its current

          8  form we are supporting, in light of the fact the

          9  alternative right now, as of June 30th, will be

         10  Local Law 1, is that we are still talking about a

         11  presumption of lead violation. Nobody is going out

         12  there, actually testing the conditions to see if it

         13  is really lead-based paint, they are not using an

         14  XRF machine, it is based on a presumption, and all

         15  of these new protocols that owners are going to have

         16  to follow, which is much more stringent than the way

         17  Local Law 1 has been enforced since 1982, are based

         18  on a presumptive lead violation.

         19                 We know, our members know from their

         20  experience over the years, that usually about

         21  somewhere between 85 and 90 percent of those, if

         22  they decide to challenge these violations get

         23  knocked out because they never rise to the level of

         24  lead in the paint that would require the protocols

         25  that were espoused by EPA and HUD and others for
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          2  full abatement work. These are presumptive lead

          3  violations that don't meet that criteria.

          4                 Nonetheless, we support this

          5  legislation, even with its new protocols because it

          6  does represent a way for owners to go in and correct

          7  that condition quickly. And that gets me to my other

          8  point which seems to have been lost on a number of

          9  people here today, a lot of people have referred to

         10  the task force report that was done by HUD several

         11  years ago with the participation of EPA and numerous

         12  experts around the country, and one of the overall

         13  themes of that report had to do with the fact that

         14  if you pass a law, the locality, a city, state

         15  passes any law, it has got to be doable. It has got

         16  to be workable. It has got to be something that

         17  owners aren't going to run away from. It has got to

         18  shield owners in some respects from liability. If it

         19  doesn't do any of those things, then owners are

         20  going to ignore it and nothing will ever happen and

         21  ultimately children lose.

         22                 I think this bill at this point right

         23  now is very close to crossing that line, being

         24  something where owners aren't going to do anything,

         25  is to be just as easy for them to go out, hire a
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          2  testing company to come in, test the paint and have

          3  it dismissed all together and then it is just a

          4  peeling paint violation and not a lead-based paint

          5  violation, presumptive lead based paint violation.

          6  So I think that is something that you have to keep

          7  in mind if you make any changes to this bill from

          8  here on in.

          9                 I think that really summarized most

         10  of the things that we wanted to say. As I said, we

         11  have about 13 pages of prepared testimony, much of

         12  it has already been talked about today, and if I can

         13  answer any questions I would be happy to.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.

         15  Rothman. Thank you, Mr. Ricci.

         16                 Stanley has a question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: With respect

         18  to Ms. Rothman, who I greatly respect, and who has

         19  done a splendid job in representing co-ops, I do

         20  support the exemption from this bill of

         21  owner/occupied co-ops and condominiums, because they

         22  are the ones responsible for keeping their own

         23  apartments in repair, it is not the obligation of

         24  the landlords. So, I don't think they should be in

         25  this legislation in the first place.
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          2                 I am glad that you are against the

          3  legislation, but I hope you were against the

          4  legislation for other reasons, one that it doesn't

          5  properly protect the children, and two, is that it

          6  could probably and very well, under the parts of the

          7  bill, cause more lead poisoning than before because

          8  it does away with the incentive of landlords to

          9  clean up their apartment, because they are now being

         10  pretty much insulated from liability.

         11                 That is my statement to you, Ms.

         12  Rothman.

         13                 With Mr. Ricci, I would just like to

         14  ask Mr. Ricci, can you tell us what your problem

         15  with Intro. 205 is?

         16                 MR. RICCI: I think that the

         17  requirements and burdens placed on the owner from

         18  Intro. 205 do exactly what I just said in my

         19  testimony.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Which burdens

         21  are you talking about?

         22                 MR. RICCI: Well --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The Health

         24  Code of the City of New York?

         25                 MR. RICCI: The Health Code is one
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          2  part of it. The notification requirements.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have

          4  trouble with the notification, even though it is

          5  just like the currently existing window guard law

          6  which your members --

          7                 MR. RICCI: I think that in total,

          8  Intro. 205 places so many burdens on an owner --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What are the

         10  burdens? So far you named two of them, which are

         11  really not burdens that don't exist already (sic).

         12                 MR. RICCI: Well, I think they are.

         13  The fact that you have to use a certified worker,

         14  which doesn't exist in New York State.

         15                 The way the Health Code has been

         16  applied --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The bill

         18  doesn't require a certified worker.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: 205 doesn't

         21  require a certified worker.

         22                 MR. RICCI: If he uses the Health Code

         23  as a protocol it does.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The Health
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          2  Code doesn't require a certified worker.

          3                 MR. RICCI: Yes, it does.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Ricci.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is no

          6  certified worker.

          7                 MR. RICCI: I believe if you read the

          8  Health Code it says a certified worker.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Ricci.

         10                 MR. RICCI: Yes, sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: In case Stanley

         12  hasn't noticed, this is not a hearing on 205. He

         13  wants to have a hearing on 205, so that is all he

         14  can say.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Tomorrow we

         16  will have a hearing on 205?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We may very

         18  well, but today is not a hearing on 205, and while

         19  you persist in trying to make this a hearing on 205,

         20  I understand. But this is not a hearing on 205.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Of course you

         22  understand.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Ricci. Thank you, Ms. Rothman.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Ricci, do
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          2  you think that by allowing landlords not to have

          3  litigation against them it is going to motivate them

          4  even further to clean up their apartments?

          5                 MR. RICCI: I think that in total you

          6  need a piece of legislation that is doable and

          7  workable, and I think that is what the draft bill we

          8  are having a hearing on today represents.

          9                 In terms of the way Local Law 1 has

         10  been applied since 1982. I think for many lawyers it

         11  has been a lottery and I think because -- I mean, if

         12  you think about it, they have made money, they have

         13  brought lawsuits where no one really knows if there

         14  is really lead in those violations or not. Because

         15  it is based on a presumption.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But a

         17  rebuttable presumption. They can prove it. There are

         18  tests to prove it. It is in the bill that you are

         19  supporting, there is a test to prove it, whether it

         20  is lead or not, right? You are supporting a bill

         21  that does that, right?

         22                 MR. RICCI: In reality the way Local

         23  Law 1 has been applied, since there is always a

         24  simple direct way to test, to find out, to correct

         25  that violation, no one was rebutting it then. They
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          2  are just correcting it, which was better for the

          3  children of the City, which is why the average blood

          4  lead level in children's blood --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you

          6  support Local Law 1?

          7                 MR. RICCI: -- And the number of lead

          8  poisoned children has dropped dramatically since

          9  1982.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you

         11  believe Local Law 1 is better than what we have now?

         12                 MR. RICCI: Local Law 1, as

         13  interpreted by the Judge, which is what I said at

         14  the beginning, is a disaster for everyone,

         15  especially the children, and needs to be changed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And we agree

         17  to the changes.

         18                 MR. RICCI: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But the fact

         20  of the matter is -- this is my last question, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 What do you think is more important

         23  in this legislation, to protect children from being

         24  poisoned, lead poisoned, or to protect landlords

         25  from being sued? Which is your highest priority?
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          2                 MR. RICCI: I think that protecting

          3  children is always the highest priority, and it

          4  happens to be the highest priority for owners and

          5  should be the highest priority for tenants also.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

          7  very much. I appreciate it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          9  Linares has a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes, one of

         11  the things that perhaps, this is quite a complex

         12  issue, and of course the vast majority of owners

         13  would want to respond in an affirmative way to this;

         14  what type of incentive do you feel can help owners

         15  respond to their -- be responsible in terms of the

         16  frame of the law, so that they would have

         17  appropriate incentives to do the best that they

         18  could, number one?

         19                 And number two, are you not concerned

         20  with those owners that undermine the good work that

         21  many owners do in trying to do their best to really

         22  protect children, when they actually violate, you

         23  know, the interests of children by not repairing and

         24  by being neglectful.

         25                 MR. RICCI: I think you heard the two
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          2  gentlemen from Baltimore who came up here earlier

          3  pointed out, one of them pointed out that this work

          4  is not rocket science, you don't need trained

          5  certified workers to do it. It is mostly elbow

          6  grease. So, to answer the first part of your

          7  question, as an incentive for owners, if you give

          8  them a simple, safe, effective way of dealing with a

          9  violation, because at the end of the day, every

         10  owner, when they get a violation from HPD in the

         11  mail, they have got to deal with it. And what has

         12  been happening since the Department of Health

         13  regulations went into effect in 1994, it was that

         14  they also got 20 pages of rules and regulations that

         15  they had to follow to correct this one simple tiny

         16  area of peeling paint or chipping paint, and it may

         17  not have even been their fault. Maybe a tenant

         18  chipped the paint by moving furniture around, or

         19  bringing in a new appliance, it could have been

         20  something like that. If you give them 20 pages of

         21  rules and regulations, that is not the incentive for

         22  an owner. A simple direct clearcut way to take care

         23  of it in safe manner is where there is an incentive.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: And --

         25                 MR. RICCI: I am sorry, I forgot the
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          2  second part of your question. Oh, and owners who

          3  don't. I think there is provisions in this draft

          4  bill, as in every bill that everyone has seen, that

          5  allows HPD to come in when an owner doesn't correct,

          6  and they would do it and then it shows up as a lien

          7  on the building.

          8                 There was testimony given by the HPD

          9  Commissioner on that this morning. And that is

         10  appropriate for those owners because we are very

         11  concerned about those owners. They give us all a bad

         12  name and we are not in favor of that, obviously.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: One last

         14  question. In terms of the wipe test, what is your

         15  position in terms of the test, given the experts'

         16  testimony in terms of how important and significant

         17  it is in really determining whether there is

         18  contamination or not.

         19                 MR. RICCI: There is a couple aspects

         20  of the wipe test that really trouble us. And the

         21  first and foremost is that often times the lead dust

         22  level in the apartment has no relationship to the

         23  work that was just performed. Yes, in some cases it

         24  does, but in many cases it doesn't. And I think one

         25  of the gentlemen from Baltimore even alluded to the
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          2  fact that in areas where they have done total gut

          3  rehab done on apartments that have never had any

          4  lead paint whatsoever in them, there is an ambient

          5  level of lead in the air, it infiltrates that

          6  apartment in one form or another, either tracked in

          7  or blown in and that can prevent an owner from

          8  passing the wipe test.

          9                 There is a lot of research out there

         10  that talks about the unreliability of wipe tests in

         11  many cases, that's a problem.

         12                 The way it has been applied by the

         13  Department of Health over the years is another

         14  problem because it prevents reoccupancy in certain

         15  instances, which is an imposition on tenants if they

         16  can't reoccupy an apartment until they pass, the

         17  owners pass the wipe test.

         18                 And it is also a problem with the

         19  logistics in that you often need an independent

         20  third party to come in and do it, and in many cases,

         21  in many buildings, to coordinate the workers who do

         22  the wet scraping, the painting and the clean up, and

         23  then the independent third party to come in, in a

         24  reasonable time frame so that it is relevant to

         25  really check the work that had been done is
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          2  impossible to do.

          3                 Many of the people who do this work

          4  do not go to certain parts of the City, and there is

          5  far fewer people who do this work than there were

          6  three years ago.

          7                 So, all of our problems are really

          8  logistical, as well as theoretical.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So what you

         10  are saying is that the wipe test, even though my

         11  understanding is that this is the most reliable

         12  tool, a mean of getting a measurement as to whether

         13  there is contamination or not, that this is not

         14  necessarily the only mean to really determine

         15  whether there is contamination or not in a

         16  particular unit.

         17                 MR. RICCI: Well, I guess we are

         18  looking at it from slightly different points of

         19  view. You are looking at the contamination of the

         20  unit, yet often times we find that the contamination

         21  in the unit may not be a result of the unit, and so

         22  since you are not testing at the beginning, this is

         23  based on a presumption, you are not testing at the

         24  beginning to see if the lead paint on the wall is a

         25  problem, but you want to test at the end, it is a
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          2  problem for owners. I think it is a legitimate

          3  problem.

          4                 If there are more reliable simple

          5  tests that could be done, it might make sense, but

          6  currently the way it has been applied --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Maybe we

          8  should test at the beginning as well, to see whether

          9  the source of the contamination is beyond the

         10  repairs that are being made.

         11                 MR. RICCI: That might make more

         12  sense.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Maybe that is

         14  something we have to look at.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Ricci, do

         16  you and the RSA favor exempting co-ops and

         17  condominiums from the purview of this law?

         18                 MR. RICCI: Do we favor exempting the

         19  co-ops and the condominiums?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The

         21  owner/occupied condominiums and --

         22                 MR. RICCI: Well, I think in light of

         23  your prior question about do we favor protecting

         24  children, that wouldn't make much sense to now take

         25  three or 400,000 units out of the universe --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you would

          3  not favor, even though they are owner/occupied and

          4  --

          5                 MR. RICCI: Well, they are not always

          6  owner occupied.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

          8  talking about the owner occupied.

          9                 MR. RICCI: Well --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I wouldn't

         11  accept anyone except the owner/occupied.

         12                 MR. RICCI: I think that would be very

         13  inconsistent with what you said all along about your

         14  interest in protecting children.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Why? There is

         16  no landlord. The owner is the one responsible for

         17  themselves in an owner/occupied.

         18                 MR. RICCI: I still think it is

         19  inconsistent.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You wouldn't

         21  favor exempting them?

         22                 MR. RICCI: It would be inconsistent

         23  with your goal of protecting children.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sure, but

         25  they are protecting their own children.
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          2                 MR. RICCI: I said to you a few

          3  minutes ago, our goal is to protect the children as

          4  you did. That concept --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Who is

          6  responsible for coming and doing the clean-up in an

          7  owner/occupied apartment?

          8                 MR. RICCI: I haven't seen any

          9  legislation on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The owner is.

         11  The same person who lives there is.

         12                 MR. RICCI: I don't understand why --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't

         14  understand why you wouldn't be in favor of exempting

         15  them.

         16                 MR. RICCI: I don't know why in a

         17  co-op or a condo you are saying it is okay for a

         18  parent to be responsible, but in a rental you are

         19  not.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is no

         21  landlord in a condominium. You know that and I know

         22  that. You just want to keep them in it; is that

         23  right? Okay, I would have hoped that you would have

         24  been supportive of that, an owner/occupied unit.

         25                 Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            330

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Ricci, and Ms. Rothman.

          4                 Matthew Chachere. Maureen Silverman

          5  and Suzanne Mattei.

          6                 Jeff Lichtman, is he with Suzanne

          7  Mattei, or is that one in the same?

          8                 MR. CHACHERE: Should I proceed?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Identify

         10  yourself, sir.

         11                 MR. CHACHERE: Thank you. I am Matthew

         12  Chachere. I am staff attorney with the Northern

         13  Manhattan Improvement Corporation. We are the

         14  Counsel to the New York City Coalition to End Lead

         15  Poisoning, NYCCELP, and its 14-year-old class action

         16  against the City for its failure to adequately

         17  enforce the laws designed to prevent childhood lead

         18  poisoning.

         19                 The process by which today's hearing

         20  has come about appears to be quite frankly a

         21  perversion of any kinds of fair play and due process

         22  for the children of this City.

         23                 Despite requests from leading experts

         24  in the field of lead poisoning prevention from

         25  throughout the City and the nation, including
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          2  experts in pediatrics, environmental toxicology and

          3  public health, for a sufficient time to review this

          4  bill in advance and prepare comments on it, the

          5  Council leadership ignored those requests and

          6  instead calls today's hearing on less than two full

          7  business days notice and waited until the afternoon

          8  of the business day before the hearing to release

          9  the bill.

         10                 As a result, few of these experts

         11  could be here today to prepare testimony.

         12                 Nor could many of the parents,

         13  environmental, public health, tenant, racial

         14  justice, labor, religious and other concerned groups

         15  and leaders, all of whom have sought a hearing for

         16  over several years on Intro. 205.

         17                 If the leadership was at all

         18  interested in a full and fair hearing airing of the

         19  issues surrounding childhood lead poisoning, an

         20  issue of tremendous importance in this City, it

         21  would have released a bill well in advance of this

         22  hearing and schedule such a hearing with sufficient

         23  advanced notice that such interested parties could

         24  participate.

         25                 I see no other reason for the hurried
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          2  manner in which this hearing has been called on a

          3  bill that surely no one, including probably members

          4  of this Committee, has had any real opportunity to

          5  read and consider, other than to prevent such

          6  participation.

          7                 As the attorney for the plaintiff in

          8  the NYCCELP litigation, I wish to dispel here for

          9  the record once and for all an apparently widespread

         10  myth that there is a recent court order that is

         11  compelling a resolution of these long-standing

         12  issues before the end of June.

         13                 To the contrary, there have been a

         14  long series of court orders which became final and

         15  no longer appealable as long ago as 1991, imposing

         16  obligations on the City for timely enforcement of

         17  Local Law 1.

         18                 The City has already been held in

         19  contempt for violation of these orders and has been

         20  paying fines for those contempts. This is nothing

         21  new. Nor has the court issued any particular order

         22  directing action by the end of this June.

         23                 Instead, the Administration appears

         24  to have manufactured a false crisis.

         25                 Last January, right after this
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          2  hearing by this Committee on the lead issue, NYCCELP

          3  plaintiffs volunteered to stay enforcement of all

          4  the outstanding court orders through the end of

          5  April, including any further contempt fines, so that

          6  the litigation would not be used as an excuse for a

          7  hurried, ill-considered adoption of alternative

          8  legislation.

          9                 When the City asked for an extension

         10  through the end of June, the plaintiffs offered

         11  unconditionally to extend it to October the 15th.

         12  The City refused that offer and instead demanded

         13  that the stay end on June the 30th.

         14                 Notwithstanding this, the NYCCELP

         15  plaintiffs remain willing to extend the stay well

         16  into this autumn to give the Council time for a

         17  reasoned consideration and debate on any new

         18  legislation.

         19                 We urge you to urge the City to

         20  accept this unconditional offer. There is a case

         21  conference scheduled in this case for 3:30 this

         22  Wednesday, and we invite you to participate and

         23  request that the stay be extended by the City. We

         24  are willing to do it.

         25                 The goal of the NYCCELP lawsuit has
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          2  always been to obtain real enforcement of the laws

          3  designed to prevent childhood lead poisoning. The

          4  many decisions and orders in this case over 14 years

          5  are too numerous to repeat here. But they have

          6  repeatedly reemphasized that inspection and

          7  enforcement must be timely and thorough.

          8                 The fact that as we sit here today

          9  there are some 30,000 children by the City's own

         10  estimate with blood lead levels over the definition

         11  of lead poisoning in the City's Health Code, is

         12  striking evidence that we have a long way to go. For

         13  that reason, it is more than baffling that the

         14  Administration and the Council leadership intends to

         15  dramatically weaken the existing law in a blatant

         16  attempt to effectively demolish all the case law

         17  established over the past 14 years of the suit.

         18                 In addition, the proposed bill seeks

         19  to legislatively reverse the holding of the court of

         20  appeals three years ago in the Juarez versus

         21  Wavecrest Management case. In that case, New York's

         22  highest court held that landlords in effect are

         23  under a continuing non-delegable duty to ensure that

         24  the dwellings that they rent to families with small

         25  children are safe from lead hazards.
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          2                 A majority of the members of this

          3  City Council at that time joined with NYCCELP in a

          4  Friend of the Court Brief to the highest court

          5  urging that result; i.e. that the burden of

          6  identifying lead paint hazards must remain on the

          7  landlord, otherwise the legislative intent to

          8  protect children under age seven and consequent

          9  obligations imposed on landlords would be rendered

         10  meaningless.

         11                 NYCCELPs specific objections to

         12  today's proposed bill are far too numerous to

         13  adequately discuss in the few minutes allotted here.

         14                 I have attached to my written

         15  testimony a table comparing the provisions of this

         16  bill with Intro. 205, including many areas where the

         17  former fails to adequately protect children, which

         18  is what we ought to be talking about.

         19                 However, I would touch briefly on

         20  several specific concerns.

         21                 First, the Court decisions in the

         22  NYCCELP case repeatedly direct the City to provide

         23  for prompt enforcement. The City Comptroller earlier

         24  testified about the fact that while the City

         25  recently found 66,000 lead paint violations in its
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          2  database, 43 percent of them existed over an average

          3  of a year.

          4                 Yet, the time frames for enforcement

          5  of immediately hazardous violations for any other

          6  condition in the Housing Maintenance Code is 24

          7  hours. The proposed enforcement scheme for lead

          8  paint, a toxin which has the potential for permanent

          9  irreparable lifetime injury in this bill adds up to

         10  approximately 300 days, that is the better part of

         11  the year, between when a tenant makes a complaint

         12  and when there is any potential for enforcing City

         13  removal of these conditions if the landlord is

         14  failing to do so.

         15                 If ever in the lifetime of a young

         16  child a month is a long time, more than enough for

         17  that child to be poisoned. How does this bill

         18  protect children?

         19                 Secondly, the definition of lead

         20  hazards is clearly inconsistent with national

         21  standards and accepted science, and indeed with the

         22  testimony of the prior Health Commissioner, Dr.

         23  Margaret Hamburg, the federal definition of lead

         24  paint hazard is, and I quote, "any condition that

         25  causes exposure to lead from lead contaminated dust,
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          2  lead contaminated soil, lead contaminated paint that

          3  is deteriorated or present in accessible surfaces,

          4  friction surfaces or impact surfaces that would

          5  result in an adverse human health affect." That is

          6  the Toxic Substances Control Act.

          7                 Three years ago Dr. Hamburg testified

          8  here that where lead painted surfaces rub against

          9  each other, dust is created that can contaminate

         10  floors and other surfaces. To prevent young children

         11  from being exposed to lead hazards means preventing

         12  them from being exposed to dust.

         13                 Unless all of the lead-based paint is

         14  removed or covered on friction surfaces such as

         15  window frames, over time the constant movement will

         16  cause the hazard to recur.

         17                 We strongly recommend a requirement

         18  to abate window friction surfaces as the

         19  Administration previously posed. I am quoting the

         20  prior Health Commissioner.

         21                 Although friction surfaces and lead

         22  dust hazards are considered in Intro. 205, they are

         23  noticeably absent in today's bill.

         24                 Thirdly, and lastly, the entire

         25  concept of exchanging full enforcement of the safety
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          2  regulations, which were promulgated by the

          3  Department of Health, based on federal, HUD and EPA

          4  practices and documented methodologies, for a more

          5  rapid removal of lead paint, is beyond absurd.

          6                 A similar proposal was again

          7  vigorously opposed by then Commissioner Hamburg in

          8  testimony before this very Committee in 1996, and I

          9  quote:

         10                 "Our first concern is that the safety

         11  procedures required when an owner repairs peeling

         12  paint voluntarily are not adequate. Unfortunately,

         13  the risk to young children is actually increased by

         14  work that disturbs lead paint if it is done without

         15  appropriate safety considerations. To voluntarily

         16  reduce safety requirements solely on the voluntary

         17  and response and rapid response of an owner with no

         18  risk assessment is not logical."

         19                 NYCCELP is unaware of any intervening

         20  change in the science that could supply a reason for

         21  this Council to reconsider the obvious logic of her

         22  statement.

         23                 In addition to the above, the

         24  Council's leadership's bill will ignore building

         25  problems that cause wet paint to peel such as water
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          2  leaks, ignore common building areas, model landlords

          3  investigation for the presence of young children on

          4  the old window guard law which didn't work. Shift

          5  the burden from landlords to tenants to keep

          6  apartments safe by placing the onus on tenants to

          7  notify landlords of lead hazards. We would recommend

          8  that the entire concept in this bill of landlord

          9  inspection on an annual basis be scrapped. He law

         10  already requires landlords to inspect their

         11  dwellings on sufficient frequency to make sure they

         12  are safe. That is what the Court of Appeals had in

         13  Juarez. There is no reason to diminish that

         14  responsibility.

         15                 The Housing Maintenance Code and the

         16  Multiple Dwelling Law places that obligation on

         17  landlords to make the buildings safe.

         18                 Finally, it fails to improve HPD's

         19  current inspection practices.

         20                 For example, at present, HPD

         21  inspectors often walk into an apartment, see

         22  children or evidence of them, such as toys, and

         23  obvious lead hazards, such as peeling paint and

         24  broken plaster, but they don't cite them as lead

         25  paint violations simply because the parent called
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          2  the complaint about maybe a leaking faucet but

          3  didn't complain about lead paint.

          4                 Essentially it eliminates the ability

          5  of children to sue for injuries and the Comptroller

          6  has already spoken about why that is simply not good

          7  policy to advance the agenda of preventing

          8  poisoning.

          9                 If the Council seeks a compromise

         10  that still protects children, it doesn't need to

         11  look far. Intro. 205, which is sponsored by

         12  two-thirds of this Council, and endorsed by

         13  practically every medical and public health expert

         14  in the field, as well as environmental justice,

         15  tenant, education, parent, religious, labor and

         16  other organizations and leaders, would no longer

         17  require landlords to remove all lead paint, but

         18  rather merely ensure the landlords remain obligated

         19  to prevent all lead hazards. Lead hazards being

         20  whatever conditions cause children to be poisoned.

         21  That simple.

         22                 For years the real estate lobby has

         23  argued here that it knows where the hazards are and

         24  that the removal of all lead paint is not warranted.

         25                 Intro. 205 simply takes them at their
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          2  word. If landlords believe intact paint is safe they

          3  merely must continue to monitor it with sufficient

          4  frequency to make sure that it remains so.

          5                 On the other hand, the bill

          6  simplified the City's enforcement obligations by

          7  only requiring the City to inspect for peeling paint

          8  or paint on deteriorated surfaces, or conditions

          9  that cause lead paint to peel, such as water leaks.

         10                 Despite Intro. 205's overwhelming

         11  co-sponsorship, it has never received a public

         12  hearing in this Council.

         13                 We must continue to ask why this is.

         14  The real estate lobby has to my knowledge never,

         15  never come forward and public stated why any

         16  particular provision of Intro. 205 is objectional,

         17  and they refuse to do so again today.

         18                 Intro. 205 has the benefit of an

         19  extensive 80-page survey of its cost and benefits

         20  prepared last year by the Public Advocate's Office,

         21  a level of analysis surely few pieces of legislation

         22  ever receive. It has received the endorsement of

         23  over 40 medical doctors, including some of the

         24  leading lead poisoning experts in this City and

         25  large numbers of the City's environmental,
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          2  religious, community health, tenant, housing, and

          3  children's organizations. And just recently, as you

          4  know, the Independent Budget Office issued an

          5  analysis of 205 showing that the cost of its

          6  implementation would be minimal.

          7                 Yet, it appears that the Council

          8  leadership has simply rejected it out of hand, and

          9  we must again ask why?

         10                 Last fall, as a candidate for

         11  Governor, Council Speaker Vallone issued a statement

         12  where he pledged that he, quote --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, we have a

         14  long list --

         15                 MR. CHACHERE: I am almost done, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Where he pledged that, quote, he

         18   "opposes the weakening of laws that protect

         19  children from the dangers of lead poisoning."

         20  Unfortunately, he appears ready to abandon that

         21  pledge.

         22                 This Council has a duty under Section

         23  28 of the Charter to adopt local laws for the

         24  preservation of public health, and thus, NYCCELP

         25  urges you to examine each and every provision of
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          2  this proposal with a question foremost in mind, what

          3  does this do to protect kids?

          4                 Let me close with this thought. If

          5  30,000 children in the City were annually struck by

          6  drive-by shootings, speeding drivers, or by

          7  billy-clubs, surely this Council would be impelled

          8  by a massive public outcry to act to prevent further

          9  poisonings. But while it is often said that lead is

         10  a silent poisoning, is no less repugnant to allow

         11  this utterly preventable tragedy by inaction.

         12                 Our kids have a tough enough time

         13  growing up in this City and getting an education in

         14  our schools. How can we possibly tolerate their

         15  infliction with additional impediments of reduced

         16  IQ, attention deficits, hyperactivity, learning

         17  disabilities and the other panoply of lead poisoning

         18  injures?

         19                 If this Committee is seriously

         20  contemplating making revisions of the current law,

         21  we would urge that Intro. 205 be brought up for a

         22  hearing so that those constituents have concerns or

         23  criticisms about its provisions, have an opportunity

         24  to make them out in a public forum.

         25                 We believe that such a full and open
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          2  debate can only serve to enhance the public health

          3  and housing policies of this City.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          6                 Next. Is there anyone to speak after

          7  Mr. Chachere? Identify yourself for the record,

          8  please.

          9                 MS. MATTEI: My name is Suzanne

         10  Mattei. I am the Public Policy Director for the New

         11  York State Trial Lawyers Association. With me is a

         12  member of our Board of Directors, Mr. Jeff Lichtman,

         13  who is an experienced lead paint litigator. So, I

         14  hope that our testimony will be useful to you.

         15                 I thank you for the opportunity to

         16  present this testimony, I am going to summarize --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do we have a

         18  copy?

         19                 MS. MATTEI: Yes. You have been

         20  provided with it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         22                 MS. MATTEI: And I will not read it

         23  directly because I am going to skip over a few

         24  things in the interests of time.

         25                 The New York State Trial Lawyers
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          2  Association is a professional organization that

          3  seeks to protect the public's right to civil

          4  justice.

          5                 With this testimony we are submitting

          6  two items of information. The first is a booklet

          7  entitled New York City Children Poisoned By Toxic

          8  Lead Paint. This is a compilation of 16 personal

          9  stories about the harm caused when children are

         10  exposed to lead paint. All of the stories are true,

         11  all of these children were poisoned and all of them

         12  suffered because of it.

         13                 The first story, for example, tells

         14  of a child who was poisoned when a landlord

         15  conducted sloppy repair work on an apartment full of

         16  lead paint creating an even greater hazards.

         17                 These stories represent the tip of

         18  the iceberg. Every year over a thousand more

         19  children in the City are discovered to have so much

         20  toxic lead in their blood, that they require medical

         21  intervention. The total number of young children in

         22  the City with unhealthful levels of lead in their

         23  blood, that is ten micrograms per deciliter or more,

         24  is estimated to be 30,000.

         25                 Our members, experienced litigators,
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          2  tell us that just a few years ago the stories were

          3  even worse. The lead levels were even higher, and

          4  that many more children used to become poisoned, but

          5  fear of liability and enforcement of health

          6  regulations for safe clean-up of lead paint hazards

          7  has slowly been bringing the numbers of lead

          8  poisoned children down. More targeted enforcement,

          9  continued vigilance and continuing to hold landlords

         10  accountable when their negligent conduct poisons

         11  children would further reduce the numbers of lead

         12  poisoned children in the five boroughs.

         13                 Unfortunately, Council members today

         14  are being asked to reverse this progress. They are

         15  under pressure to pass an unwise and poorly written

         16  bill that would take away landlords' accountability,

         17  leave lead poisoned children with essentially no

         18  ability to challenge their careless landlord in

         19  court and sanction floppy lead paint removal work,

         20  the result will be more children poisoned like those

         21  described in that booklet.

         22                 Make no mistake, this bill will deny

         23  children civil justice under law and let careless

         24  landlords off the hook, for the terrible

         25  irreversible damage to children caused by lead
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          2  poisoning.

          3                 Attached to the testimony is our

          4  second item of information, a detailed memorandum

          5  from lead litigator Judith Keenan, explaining why

          6  this bill would bar lead poisoned children from our

          7  civil justice system and remove the financial

          8  incentive for landlords to do the right thing.

          9                 We met three times with staff of

         10  Speaker Peter Vallone's Office to explain these

         11  matters.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Who recently did

         13  you meet?

         14                 MS. MATTEI: In the past week and a

         15  half. Approximately three times.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Three times?

         17                 MS. MATTEI: We met several times.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I want those who

         19  believe that this has been a superficial process,

         20  here is -- just a moment.

         21                 MS. MATTEI: No, you are wrong.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Permit me.

         23  Permit me. This is one group that has met with our

         24  staff three times and that is one of dozens of

         25  groups who had access to the staff in formulating
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          2  this --

          3                 MS. MATTEI: Over about a week, maybe

          4  a week and a half at most. They made it clear to us

          5  that they would not address any of our concerns.

          6                 The first time we met we saw a draft

          7  of the bill that was very bad.

          8                 The second time we met, it was worse,

          9  okay? That is not negotiation. That is not input.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is in your

         11  opinion. They are lawyers as well as you.

         12                 MS. MATTEI: I am not going to argue

         13  with you on that. I am telling you it was not a

         14  negotiation because the bill kept getting worse.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: See, Stanley is

         16  a lawyer, he can --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I will

         18  tell you, the third draft was even worse.

         19                 MS. MATTEI: That's right.

         20                 So the question is, why are we on a

         21  fast track to poison? We all know the Court order is

         22  subject to a stay that can be extended by the

         23  parties consent. That is what it says in the

         24  original stay.

         25                 The plaintiffs have already offered
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          2  the City administration a stay until October 15th,

          3  the City refused, plainly an effort to manufacture a

          4  crisis.

          5                 The City Council could and should

          6  urge the City Administration and the Judge, if need

          7  be, to extend the stay as offered.

          8                 If the Council wants to act now, it

          9  could hold a hearing instead on Intro. 205. That

         10  bill was a sincere attempt on the part of children's

         11  health advocates, we weren't involved in the

         12  development of that bill, by the way, to compromise

         13  with the real estate lobby, and we think they

         14  compromised too much. But it is a better option than

         15  what you have before you, and it is already

         16  co-sponsored by two-thirds of the Council.

         17                 Easier yet, the Council could simply

         18  make a minor change to Local Law 1, to establish

         19  that it does not apply to intact lead paint that is

         20  merely on the wall or ceiling, which we all agree is

         21  not presenting a health hazard, and leave everything

         22  else for now to reasonable common law standards and

         23  agency regulations. That is a quick temporary fix.

         24                 Instead we are engaged in this fast

         25  track power-driven hearing, with so little notice
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          2  that most of our concerned members and the families

          3  of lead poisoned children could not attend and they

          4  wanted to. We had lots of calls from people who

          5  wanted to attend and we couldn't tell them when the

          6  hearing was.

          7                 And what is being lost in this

          8  political power play is a terrible health impact of

          9  lead paint hazards, so who are the victims of lead

         10  poisoning? Our youngest children, our poorest

         11  children, they are overwhelmingly minority, they are

         12  one-year-olds, two-year-olds and three-year-olds who

         13  already have so much to struggle against and with

         14  permanent irreversible brain damage, they are being

         15  denied even the chance to succeed.

         16                 So, we urge the members of the

         17  Council to stand strong against this harmful bill,

         18  protect the most vulnerable children of our City

         19  from lead poisoning.

         20                 We have got specific items that have

         21  come up today expressions of the law, I would like

         22  to respond to just very, very quickly, and I would

         23  like to invite Jeff Lichtman to join me here to talk

         24  just a little bit about the issue of notice.

         25                 MR. LICHTMAN: Good evening.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It is afternoon

          3  still.

          4                 MR. LICHTMAN: When does it become

          5  evening? We will define our terms.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: When it gets

          7  dark.

          8                 MR. LICHTMAN: When it gets dark.

          9  Maybe we will be here then.

         10                 Mr. Speaker, whoever is left, if I

         11  looked around the room I would think I could pick a

         12  very good jury for a lead case, eliminating that

         13  portion of the room.

         14                 Everybody seems to be fairly well

         15  educated about the specific provisions of what is in

         16  front of you. From a lawyer who practices in the

         17  courts, and who respects how well the Mayor can use

         18  the court system as well, and what I find so

         19  incredible is that in trying to fashion some

         20  compromise to protect children, you have effectively

         21  proposed to eliminate their right to access to the

         22  system, and that is being able to bring a lawsuit.

         23                 And I heard from, I guess it was Mr.

         24  Ricci, talked about how the lawyers got involved in

         25  a lot of reprocess with lead paint, and he seems to
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          2  be a relatively intelligent person, so to make just

          3  a stupid remark sort of defies what you are

          4  attempting to accomplish here.

          5                 The issue is compensating children

          6  who have been brain damaged, and I guess it would be

          7  trite to say that a mind is a terrible thing to

          8  waste or that we should reflect back on what Brown

          9  versus the Board of Education meant to people in

         10  this country, but essentially what you have proposed

         11  here is rather draconian. Basically you are telling

         12  Mrs. Rodriguez and Mr. Baddle that their children

         13  who have been damaged for life, who may not be able

         14  to find a place in the work place, or who need care

         15  for the balance of their life are going to be

         16  relegated to maybe the welfare rolls because the

         17  court system and the insurance companies who write

         18  $5 million liability policies to protect them aren't

         19  going to be available to them. And without

         20  reiterating or having to sum up to you like a trial

         21  lawyer would, your notice provision concerning who

         22  bears the burden of bringing to the attention of a

         23  landlord the fact that his property is dangerous now

         24  falls on the shoulders of many who are illiterate

         25  and can't read and are packed into apartments more
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          2  than you would like to believe, you want them to

          3  sign documents and essentially write to the landlord

          4  and put them on actual notice of a hazard that the

          5  landlord by way of the Court of Appeals has said

          6  that you are on constructive notice already.

          7                 So, I think that you have a long way

          8  to go in fashioning a bill that all of these

          9  advocates on both sides of the aisle, because

         10  although I am on one side of the aisle, I look at

         11  this as a person, a citizen of the City, and

         12  recognize that access to our courts and protection

         13  to get reasonable compensation is one of the most

         14  important things that this legislation is attempting

         15  to eliminate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me see if I

         17  understand it, sir.

         18                 As I understand this bill, or what

         19  this bill would try to achieve, is that when a lease

         20  is signed a tenant is informed that if they have a

         21  child under six, this is what the provisions are.

         22                 There is an annual, proposed an

         23  annual notice to be sent. The landlord is obligated

         24  to make a visual inspection of the property

         25  annually, and I don't know if that takes a burden
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          2  off, and if a tenant sees peeling paint and calls

          3  HPD, how is that putting the burden on the tenant? I

          4  mean, he might have a leaking faucet.

          5                 MR. LICHTMAN: You have got two

          6  questions there and I will take one at a time. When

          7  you are talking about the lady in the apartment who

          8  complains to the superintendent, because the

          9  landlord, in this legislation they talk about the

         10  landlord, they don't talk about the landlord who is

         11  aging --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, I assume

         13  --

         14                 MR. LICHTMAN: And it is usually quite

         15  impossible to find a landlord who is in Halendale,

         16  Florida, for the summer, winter and fall. The issue

         17  really is when we are talking about the peeling

         18  paint is that tenants do complain about peeling

         19  paint and they go to the only person that they know,

         20  the person either collects the rent or the super.

         21  And they tell the super, you have got peeling paint,

         22  and maybe, maybe they even say that I saw the child

         23  playing with it.

         24                 If they have gotten the benefit of

         25  some of the Department of Health Education pamphlets
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          2  then they know they might have a problem. But

          3  assuming, for argument's sake, what they are

          4  complaining about, is the ceiling that is about to

          5  cave in and it is dropping.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Right.

          7                 MR. LICHTMAN: Well, the way this law

          8  is drafted, that notice of peeling paint, without

          9  the benefit of the presumption, does not further the

         10  interests of that child when it comes to fruition

         11  that the landlord didn't do anything about it, and

         12  now the tenant no longer can prove that the landlord

         13  had notice of a defective and dangerous condition,

         14  because the laws have been construed to mean that

         15  the tenant now has to put the landlord of actual

         16  notice of the lead. And the fact that the

         17  individual, the tenant, told the landlord super

         18  there is peeling paint, which is a defective hazard

         19  and condition, is going to lose access to the court,

         20  if you let that presumption just apply to this

         21  legislation.

         22                 And that is essentially what the

         23  Juarez case deals with when you are talking about

         24  constructive notice. A landlord is to be charged

         25  with knowing or should have known about a dangerous
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          2  and defective condition, and what you are

          3  eliminating by taking away that presumption is

          4  access, because the courts have already construed

          5  what notice means from a constructive way.

          6                 I mean, telling the landlord about

          7  the lead, Mr. Speaker, you tell me how a lady in the

          8  South Bronx or in Bushwick is going to be informing

          9  a landlord who has got the benefit of all of these

         10  high priced lawyers telling them about how to deal

         11  with lead. Why they don't know better, and why they

         12  aren't the ones that are getting the education, and

         13  why they should get any benefit from losing a

         14  presumption, the truth of the matter is, we should

         15  be on par with Boston and if there is lead and there

         16  is proof of causation, you are strictly liable.

         17  Forget about all of this other window dressing, that

         18  is what is going on here, at least in my view as a

         19  trial lawyer who has got to go into court and still

         20  make out a primafacie case of notice. That is what

         21  it is about.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         23                 Ma'am.

         24                 MS. SILVERMAN: My name is Maureen

         25  Silverman, I am also a member of New York City
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          2  Coalition to End Lead Poisoning and housing resource

          3  coordinator of Sinergia.

          4                 Sinergia is a non-profit organization

          5  providing comprehensive services to people with

          6  developmental disabilities and their families.

          7                 Our mission is to reach underserved,

          8  low-income minority communities.

          9                 Lead poisoning prevention is an

         10  integral aspect of our work, since it causes

         11  developmental disabilities in disproportionately

         12  affected low-income, African-American and Latino

         13  children.

         14                 Synergia also advocates for children

         15  in the Special Education system and is concerned

         16  about the large number of lead poisoned children who

         17  have severe developmental disabilities and wind up

         18  in special education.

         19                 The City Council's process for

         20  holding a public hearing and working to pass a new

         21  lead law is a travesty of justice and a fasttrack to

         22  poisoning children.

         23                 The City Council informed the public

         24  that they were holding a hearing on Friday and did

         25  not provide a final draft of their landlord
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          2  protection bill until 4:00 p.m. on Friday. This does

          3  not provide adequate time for public comment,

          4  including informing health experts and mothers of

          5  lead poisoned children of the hearing and affording

          6  them a realistic amount of time to prepare

          7  testimony.

          8                 It seems that the only reason the

          9  City is showing such disdain of the public is to

         10  exclude real public input and rush through a lead

         11  bill which appeases landlords and gravely endangers

         12  children.

         13                 This process is especially unfair and

         14  ubiquitous considering the prevalance of lead

         15  poisoning in New York City and the irreversible

         16  health consequences of childhood lead poisoning.

         17                 I am disappointed that Speaker

         18  Vallone who has such little respect for the public,

         19  and so little concern for children, is running for

         20  the Mayor of this City.

         21                 This City is also fabricating a

         22  crisis. I know this has been said before, but it

         23  must be known that most people in the room knows it,

         24  by claiming that they must pass a new bill or

         25  enforce Local Law 1 to comply with the NYCCELP
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          2  lawsuit.

          3                 NYCCELP Council has offered in

          4  extension to comply with the lawsuit until October

          5  15th, 1999. The Council has refused to allow a

          6  hearing on Intro. 205, which was introduced two

          7  years ago with the support of two thirds of the City

          8  Council and a wide spectrum of Medical and Health

          9  experts, environmental, housing and children's

         10  organizations, parents groups and religious leaders.

         11                 Moreover, Intro. 205 protects

         12  children and prevents childhood lead poisoning.

         13                 Paradoxically, the bill proposed

         14  today will proliferate the number of lead poisoning

         15  cases, worsening housing conditions and augment the

         16  cost the City has to pay for special education and

         17  other health costs for lead poisoned children.

         18                 Therefore, I ask the Council to vote

         19  against today's bill and ask for a hearing for

         20  Intro. 205.

         21                 With approximately 30,000 lead

         22  poisoned children in New York City, I believe that

         23  the City is not adequately preventing childhood lead

         24  poisoning. Lead poisoning is entirely preventable

         25  since we know the causes and ways to eliminate it.
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          2  Lead paint in housing is the primary cause, and the

          3  City could drastically reduce lead poisoning if it

          4  establishes a proactive and aggressive lead

          5  poisoning prevention program.

          6                 Day care centers, public schools, and

          7  playgrounds are also major sources of lead

          8  poisoning. However, the predominant reason children

          9  are lead poisoned, is because landlords are not

         10  maintaining their buildings and properly abating

         11  lead hazards.

         12                 Approximately 68 percent of New York

         13  City's dwelling units contain lead paint which can

         14  be hazardous to children. With the steady decline of

         15  housing code inspectors, the code enforcement system

         16  fails to correct lead hazards and other harmful

         17  violations.

         18                 In addition, the Department of Health

         19  only intervened when children are already lead

         20  poisoned with levels of 20 or higher.

         21                 Moreover, the City only responds to

         22  tenant complaints and lead poisoning cases and does

         23  not have a long range plan to make apartments lead

         24  safe.

         25                 Consequently, lead poisoned children
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          2  experience unnecessary damage at great cost to the

          3  City.

          4                 The lead bill proposed today will

          5  exacerbate the lead poisoning problem by allowing

          6  indefinite extensions for abatement and clean-up,

          7  weakening of Department of Health safety standards

          8  for abatement and clean-up; not requiring landlords

          9  to adhere to safety standards unless they fail to

         10  correct violations within 21 days; not requiring

         11  landlords to correct any lead hazards or peeling

         12  paint and excluding correction of underlying defects

         13  and dust, shifting the burden to tenants to inform

         14  landlords of children under six years old for

         15  liability purposes, paying correction of lead

         16  hazards.

         17                 It also does not include a proactive

         18  approach to identify high risk buildings and remove

         19  lead hazards as a means to preventing lead

         20  poisoning.

         21                 In addition, it does not inquire the

         22  City to increase the number of code inspectors,

         23  although it is apparent that the current number of

         24  inspectors are not adequately protecting the housing

         25  stock and correcting lead hazards.
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          2                 The bill also does not address lead

          3  hazards in schools, day care centers and

          4  playgrounds, which are significant causes of lead

          5  poisoning.

          6                 Intro. 205 addresses these issues and

          7  accomplishes a plan to prevent lead poisoning.

          8                 For over the past five years, I have

          9  worked with parents who have children with

         10  dangerously elevated lead levels or levels high

         11  enough to acquire hospitalization or other medical

         12  intervention.

         13                 I have also worked with families who

         14  are at risk of lead poisoning because they live on

         15  old pre-1960 buildings with peeling deteriorating

         16  paint and underlying defects, such as plumbing

         17  problems.

         18                 Most for the parents are low income

         19  Latino and African American single mothers who are

         20  on public assistance and receive SSI for their

         21  children.

         22                 The prolonged periods of time people

         23  have to wait for landlords or the City to abate lead

         24  hazards indicates the inadequacies of the City's

         25  current policies.
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          2                 Moreover, the Vallone lead bill

          3  proposed today allows excessive periods of time for

          4  placement of violation and indefinite extensions for

          5  abatement and clean up.

          6                 Landlords commonly ignore lead paint

          7  violations that HPD issues and never follow up in

          8  abating lead hazards. Other times parents have

          9  waited for several months or several years before

         10  landlords have attempted abatement after an HPD

         11  violation.

         12                 At that time landlords, often

         13  carelessly paint over some of the walls without

         14  removing the lead or following DOH safety

         15  procedures.

         16                 After a DOH inspection parents of

         17  children with lead levels of 20 or more often wait

         18  from five months to several years before the

         19  landlord with HPD's emergency repair unit abate the

         20  hazard.

         21                 It frequently takes vigorous

         22  intervention of am advocate or attorney to expedite

         23  the process. The lead bill proposed today

         24  exacerbates these problems, but allowing indefinite

         25  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is it possible

          3  that you can conclude? We have been here since 10:30

          4  --

          5                 MS. SILVERMAN: Yes. I am sorry.

          6                 Allow indefinite --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No, no.

          8  Continue. Stanley wants to hear every last word.

          9                 MS. SILVERMAN: I will say it as

         10  quickly as possible. I will try to sum up, okay?

         11                 The current bill -- wait. The bill

         12  proposed today exacerbates these problems by

         13  increasing the -- by allowing indefinite extensions

         14  for abatement and clean up, it encourages landlords

         15  to do quick and dirty abatement, which endangers

         16  children in order to avoid complying with the

         17  Department of Health safety regulations, which they

         18  must comply with if they do not abate lead houses

         19  within 21 days of a date of the violation.

         20                 Low-income tenants recurrent

         21  experience of living in apartments with lead hazards

         22  reflect the failure of HPD's code enforcement

         23  system, the City's neglect of abating the lead

         24  hazards in high risk buildings and the Department of

         25  Health myopic policies regarding inspections.
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          2                 Many low-income parents move from

          3  apartment to apartment attempting to find cheaper

          4  rent and avert homelessness. Desperate to find

          5  affordable housing, they often move into poorly

          6  maintained buildings where their children are

          7  poisoned. Even if an apartment appears well

          8  maintained, when someone moves in, the conditions

          9  deteriorate when irresponsible landlords neglect

         10  their buildings and do not tend to underlying

         11  defects which this bill does not account for.

         12                 Lead hazards ensue when the paint

         13  begins to peel when leaks and underlying defects

         14  damage the walls. Consequently, many families are

         15  exposed to lead hazards in several different

         16  apartments.

         17                 I know of one parent whose son was

         18  lead poisoned in three different apartments. A

         19  prominent attorney is helping her sue three

         20  different landlords which will probably cost them

         21  millions of dollars.

         22                 The mother's lead poisoned child is

         23  in special education because he is hyperactive and

         24  severely developmentally disabled.

         25                 The mother has also had to stop
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          2  working to care for her son. The bill proposed today

          3  does not require landlords to correct underlying

          4  defects and dust which caused paint to peel and

          5  deteriorate as Intro. 205 does.

          6                 Landlords must correct these

          7  underlying defects and address dust from lead-based

          8  paint, if they are to prevent children from becoming

          9  lead poisoned.

         10                 Okay, I am going to skip through a

         11  whole bunch. I oppose the current lead bill's

         12  provision requiring tenants to provide landlords

         13  written notice of a child under six years of age,

         14  living in the apartment in order for the City to

         15  acquire a landlord to do annual inspections and

         16  correct lead hazards.

         17                 This provision is based on the old

         18  window guard law, which the City changed because it

         19  did not work.

         20                 History has shown that one of the

         21  reasons for the decrease in lead poisoning cases is

         22  landlord liability in the Juarez case, which holds

         23  landlords responsible for lead hazards, regardless

         24  if a tenant provided notice of a lead poisoned

         25  child.
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          2                 The weakening of current Department

          3  of Health safety standards for abatement and clean

          4  up will seriously endanger children since unsafe

          5  abatement and clean-up spread lead dust which is

          6  lethal to tenants in the work area.

          7                 Moreover, the Department of Health

          8  standards are based on federal, HUD and EPA

          9  practices and documented methodology. These safety

         10  standards were developed by health experts who

         11  carefully deliberated on these standards.

         12                 The City Council are not health

         13  experts --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are you going to

         15  finish today?

         16                 MS. SILVERMAN: Yes, I am almost done.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are you sure?

         18                 MS. SILVERMAN: -- And do not have the

         19  expertise to change health standards which health

         20  experts have.

         21                 Okay, this is it. I am over. I ask

         22  the City Council to include the following five

         23  principles when passing a lead bill since these

         24  principles ensure the safety of children and promote

         25  prevention of childhood lead poisoning:
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          2                 - safe practices when removing lead

          3  paint.

          4                 - quick corrections of lead

          5  violations.

          6                 - older buildings must be presumed to

          7  have lead paint.

          8                 - landlords must continue to inspect

          9  as the law now requires.

         10                 Children who are lead poisoned must

         11  continue to have the right to bring a civil action

         12  against the persons who are responsible for their

         13  injury.

         14                 I again ask the Council to hold a

         15  hearing on Intro. 205 which incorporates these

         16  principles.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The main reason

         18  why I gave you enough times is because I limited Mr.

         19  Chachere's testimony last time and a consequence I

         20  had to spend two hours with him. How long was it, an

         21  hour and a half or two hours?

         22                 MR. CHACHERE: I remember that

         23  meeting. And at that meeting you also told me that

         24  you were going to get an analysis of the problems

         25  with 205 from the Real Estate industry, but that
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          2  never occurred.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have done

          4  significant work since we last had that meeting.

          5                 MR. CHACHERE: Well, I still, Mr.

          6  Speaker, have yet to ever hear the real estate

          7  people come forward and say what their problem was

          8  with Intro. 205. And we had that meeting, I said why

          9  don't you facilitate it, and you said you would.

         10  Several of us heard you say that and it never

         11  occurred, and I want to know why that has never

         12  occurred.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I suggest

         14  you ask them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I found out

         16  why. It doesn't protect the landlords enough.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Gentlemen,

         18  ladies, thank you so much for your testimony. Now we

         19  want to hear Marilyn Davenport. Nick LaPorte,

         20  Associated Builders and Owners, Dan Margulies of

         21  CHIP. Please identify yourselves.

         22                 In any way you choose to begin is all

         23  right with the Chair.

         24                 MS. DAVENPORT: Good evening. I am

         25  Marilyn Davenport, with the Real Estate Board of New
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          2  York.

          3                 I have testified on several occasions

          4  regarding lead paint legislation before this

          5  Committee and I am going to be very brief. But I

          6  would be happy to answer questions.

          7                 The proposed lead paint hazard

          8  control legislation is a responsible way to amend

          9  the Administrative Code to make older buildings with

         10  peeling lead-based paint or deteriorated subsurfaces

         11  safe for young children, while preserving affordable

         12  housing.

         13                 It makes maintenance of all painted

         14  surfaces smooth and intact a top priority. I think

         15  that Dr. Cohen was very articulated on the

         16  importance of prevention and on maintenance and

         17  preservation of painted housing stock.

         18                 It is accepted and recognized

         19  nationally that this is the most effective way to

         20  manage lead paint, not to remove it or abate it,

         21  thereby generating lead dust, which is the primary

         22  cause of the hazard.

         23                 We have all spent several years

         24  debating how to amend the Housing Maintenance Code

         25  since the courts interpreted Local Law 1 to mean
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          2  that the mere presence of lead paint in a pre-1960

          3  unit is the violation which must be fully abated.

          4  This was certainly never intended by the drafters of

          5  the law and is extremely costly. Worse, it is

          6  potentially hazardous.

          7                 The basic tenet of the current

          8  proposal, notification to the owner of the residence

          9  of a young child, which in turn triggers an

         10  immediate inspection. And I want to repeat that it

         11  triggers an immediate inspection. The point of the

         12  notification is not just about liability, it is

         13  about getting that inspection done, as well as

         14  annual inspections.

         15                 Rapid repair of lead hazards and

         16  maintenance of painted surfaces on vacancy ensures

         17  that older units will be maintained safely without

         18  the excessive and unnecessary costs and hazards

         19  abatement entails.

         20                 The bill contains, and I am not going

         21  to go through them all, but the bill contains

         22  extensive work procedures to minimize the generation

         23  of lead dust and to contain the spread of lead dust.

         24  It is important to legislate those procedures, since

         25  this is based on a presumption that it is lead paint
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          2  and it applies to all paint and on vacancy.

          3                 It has been suggested that it is

          4  asking too much to expect a tenant to return the

          5  form inquiring as to the presence of young children.

          6                 It has been proposed that the owner

          7  inspect the unit for children and investigate

          8  further if he is denied access.

          9                 I don't know what that means, and I

         10  don't know how he does it, but I think it is

         11  absolutely critical that the owner be informed of

         12  the residents of the young child in a pre-1960 unit.

         13  And to suggest that he alone is responsible for

         14  knowing this imposes an unrealistic mandate and is a

         15  gift to the trial bar.

         16                 Intro. 205 goes well beyond the

         17  requirements on vacancy and requires HPD to set up a

         18  schedule for occupied units that essentially seems

         19  to duplicate the notice requirement.

         20                 The proposal before us provides for

         21  strong incentives for prompt compliance, which is I

         22  think the goal that we all share, and more

         23  importantly, for maintenance for all pre-1960

         24  buildings. This approach offers the safest and most

         25  feasible way to serve a vital public interest.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          4                 Mr. LaPorte.

          5                 MR. LaPORTE: My name is Nicholas

          6  LaPorte. I am the Executive Director of the

          7  Associated Buildings and Owners of Greater New York.

          8  I am here to testify in support of this bill,

          9  because we believe this legislation is significant

         10  in that it establishes standards that would make a

         11  child's home lead safe, and that has been the

         12  standard that everybody has been talking about, and

         13  we believe this bill does just that.

         14                 We have looked at this bill, we have

         15  negotiated this bill, this issue, over several years

         16  now and we are currently where we are because of the

         17  court's decision in interpreting the existing lead

         18  paint law which we know has been problematic for

         19  both landlords and tenants.

         20                 Rather than requiring extensive and

         21  expensive mandates where the possibility of lead

         22  poisoning is so remote as to be unlikely, as the

         23  court has interpreted this current law, Local Law 1,

         24  this bill speaks to potentially dangerous

         25  situations, namely where paint is peeling in an
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          2  older home and a child is present, and establishes a

          3  clear protocol that directs an owner on how to

          4  correct this situation.

          5                 We have heard varying arguments and

          6  opinions today stating that this bill does not go

          7  far enough, but we have to recognize that this bill

          8  imposes serious obligations on owners to ameliorate

          9  even the remotest possibility of harm to a child,

         10  while no actual danger needs to be established.

         11                 Most importantly, we have to remember

         12  what this bill says, that all peeling paint

         13  conditions in homes built before 1960 are treated as

         14  if they are lead-based paint conditions when

         15  children are present because they are presumed to be

         16  lead-based paint.

         17                 All peeling paint conditions must be

         18  repaired in accordance with controls and protocols

         19  established in this bill. Failure to do so will

         20  require intervention by HPD.

         21                 Comprehensive procedures have also

         22  been developed to determine whether a child resides

         23  in an apartment, and if so, to address peeling paint

         24  conditions, irrespective of whether the apartment is

         25  determined to contain lead-based paint or not.
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          2                 To repair these peeling paint

          3  conditions owners can undertake what have been

          4  designated as interim control. They require owners

          5  to utilize safety measures that control the spread

          6  of paint and its attendant dust.

          7                 These controls direct that the work

          8  area is sealed off, tenant's possessions are

          9  protected and drop-cloths are used. The only

         10  designated method of peeling paint removal is wet

         11  scraping.

         12                 Before repainting and at the end of

         13  each work day, the affected area must be cleaned to

         14  ensure that no paint dust remains in the area, and

         15  repairs must be completed within 21 days.

         16                 Designed to encourage a speedy and

         17  safe repair of peeling paint conditions, the interim

         18  controls are only available to those owners who seek

         19  to maintain their units.

         20                 If the repairs are not completed

         21  within a short period of time, then the owner cannot

         22  use the interim controls and they must follow the

         23  more stringent Department of Health protocols.

         24                 Please note that this bill contains

         25  far more than a repair mandate. An owner is not
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          2  merely charged with the obligation to repair a

          3  peeling paint condition when peeling paint is

          4  discovered; the bill goes much further than that.

          5  Instead, when a child lives within a unit, each year

          6  the owner must inspect the unit to see if a peeling

          7  paint condition exists. The owner is given a

          8  responsibility to establish whether a child lives in

          9  the unit, through the use of an annual notice, and

         10  when notified a child does, he is required to

         11  inspect that unit.

         12                 If peeling paint is found, he has to

         13  repair it. Even if a tenant does not respond to the

         14  owner's notice, when the owner knows that a child

         15  lives there, then the owner must inspect that unit.

         16                 As the annual inspection will control

         17  peeling paint conditions, this bill creates another

         18  new requirement: establishing controls of vacant

         19  apartments. Between occupancies, apartments must be

         20  treated so as to minimize the likelihood that a

         21  peeling paint problem will occur in the future and

         22  facilitate clean up of dust should any arise.

         23                 This new obligation is another

         24  important step in reducing the chance of exposure to

         25  lead.
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          2                 In addition to the duties placed on

          3  owners, the bill requires that the City act in a

          4  decisive manner by providing information to tenants

          5  and owners during inspections and referrals.

          6  Further, the requirement that the City initiate

          7  repairs when an owner fails to do so, will achieve

          8  an important objective of providing a lead-safe home

          9  environment for children.

         10                 Keeping in mind our purpose,

         11  preventing lead poisoning in children, the

         12  responsibilities, duties and actions set forth in

         13  this bill will do just that.

         14                 This legislation provides clear and

         15  affordable mandates to ensure that conditions can be

         16  remedied safely and expediently. In passing this

         17  bill the Council will establish measures that

         18  provide for safe removal, ongoing vigilance, quick

         19  action, and city involvement.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         22                 Sir.

         23                 MR. MARGULIES: Good late afternoon, I

         24  guess. My name is Dan Margulies. I am Executive

         25  Director of Community Housing Improvement Program, a
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          2  trade association of apartment building owners in

          3  New York. Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

          4                 This is a lengthy and complex

          5  proposal, but CHIP strongly supports several

          6  elements of it.

          7                 We agree, for example, with the

          8  revoluntionary proposal to ban the dry scraping or

          9  sanding of paint in New York City.

         10                 I don't think we can emphasize enough

         11  what a seismic shift this will mean in ordinary work

         12  practices. I am sure that almost every member of the

         13  City Council, the staff, and every adult in this

         14  room has scraped or sanded a dry wall. It is the

         15  universal practice around the world and we are

         16  prepared to make it illegal in the City of New York.

         17                 I am astounded that no one has

         18  focused on this at today's hearing after all these

         19  hours. This is probably the most far reaching thing

         20  that has been proposed, when scraping and sanding

         21  should be the rule for several reasons:

         22                 First, it limits the immediate spread

         23  of paint dust. Second, the use of water creates a

         24  slurry and virtually dictates the use of proper

         25  ground clothes. Nick Farr made reference to that
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          2  earlier. No one will make the mistake of failing to

          3  adequately cover a wood floor or a carpet twice to

          4  protect it from the slurry that develops from wet

          5  sanding.

          6                 That in turn will make clean-ups more

          7  efficient and effective, use better drop clothes,

          8  closer protection, makes it easier to pick up after

          9  yourself.

         10                 Notice I said wet scraping and

         11  sanding will reduce paint dust, not just lead dust.

         12                 Reducing paint dust may prevent some

         13  lead poisoning, but it will probably have a greater

         14  more widespread benefit for people with allergies

         15  and asthma, and, again, I think it is important to

         16  note the tremendous health benefits of this proposal

         17  for the citizens of New York.

         18                 CHIP also supports the tenant notice

         19  provisions in the bill. We wanted to keep our

         20  tenants informed and we want them to keep us

         21  informed. If a tenant reports peeling paint, we

         22  should deal with it.

         23                 An annual apartment inspection by the

         24  owner or agent is a reasonable maintenance

         25  requirement, especially if there are children known
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          2  to be in the apartment.

          3                 Turning over intact apartments on

          4  vacancy is not a problem either. Most responsible

          5  owners prep and paint on vacancy anyway. Clearly, we

          6  should be renting apartments without violations.

          7                 We do have concerns, however, with

          8  some provisions of the bill and some additional

          9  ideas still being discussed here today.

         10                 We have a serious problem with the

         11  City's desire to continue presuming all paint in

         12  older buildings is lead paint, despite all of the

         13  evidence to the contrary.

         14                 We know from a variety of surveys

         15  published by HUD in the National Center for Lead

         16  Safe Housing among others, that most walls and

         17  ceilings even in older dilapidated housing do not

         18  contain lead paint.

         19                 Nick Farr gave the number earlier

         20  today, 17 percent of the walls and ceilings in the

         21  units that they have examined in New York City have

         22  lead paint on them. That means 83 percent don't.

         23                 When 83 percent of the walls don't

         24  have lead paint, presuming it in all walls is a bit

         25  extreme.
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          2                 The most recent data from the

          3  National Center, and Mr. Farr mentioned it again

          4  this morning, is that to an extent there is more

          5  lead in baseboard and mouldings. I think he said 49

          6  percent in baseboards.

          7                 It is worth noting in that connection

          8  that baseboards are a small surface area, as

          9  mouldings are as well, and don't tend to peel along

         10  their entire length, they seem to be very discreet,

         11  small areas, and don't pose that much of a hazard.

         12                 And in this context I would like to

         13  protest the calls from several people here today for

         14  dust clearance testing, and even more substantial

         15  changes in work practices.

         16                 On the one hand, we agree that

         17  painters should work clean and clean up after

         18  themselves, but it is hard to accept that every

         19  paint job and every touch-up of peeling paint is an

         20  abatement project. It just isn't so. It is not lead

         21  paint most of the time.

         22                 Most surfaces don't have lead paint,

         23  even in pre-1960 buildings. Where there is lead

         24  paint, it is often intact, perhaps buried under

         25  several other layers of paint and neither scraping
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          2  nor sanding will reach it.

          3                 We had a tremendous boom in painting

          4  window replacement and building rehabilitation in

          5  New York in the mid-eighties. Today again we are at

          6  the top of an economic cycle and owners are

          7  investing in repairs and construction at

          8  unprecedented levels for this decade.

          9                 But children's lead levels are not

         10  rising from all of this work and disturbance, they

         11  are declining.

         12                 The work is helping eliminate lead

         13  poisoning the way we have always done it. Wet

         14  scraping and sanding will be even better. There will

         15  be less collateral damaged. There isn't much now.

         16                 Pretending that we need a lead

         17  abatement project every time an apartment is vacant

         18  or a little paint peels won't help. It will just

         19  waste resources that could be spent on other housing

         20  improvements.

         21                 Lastly, I would like the Council to

         22  recognize that you are not operating in a vacuum.

         23  OSHA has already promulgated standards for

         24  construction workers dealing with existing painted

         25  surfaces.
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          2                 The EPA is working on work practices

          3  for renovators and remodelers. EPA has just

          4  implemented on June 1st extensive notification

          5  requirements for disturbing paint in target housing

          6  which they define as anything built before 1978.

          7                 Under these rules the average tenant

          8  in New York will get six or more copies of the

          9  booklet, Protect Your Family From Lead Paint, every

         10  year, perhaps dozens of copies. Every tenant already

         11  gets it under HUD rules on vacancy.

         12                 To a much greater extent than in

         13  years past, we will have an educated consumer on

         14  this subject.

         15                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         16  to testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         18  gentlemen, and lady.

         19                 We have a question from Stanley.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         21                 You seem to have some problems with

         22  the tenant notification of children to the

         23  landlords. You say that is wonderful. But the fact

         24  of the matter is, the window guard law works,

         25  doesn't it? In your buildings? Do you have problems
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          2  with the presently existing window guards laws?

          3                 MS. DAVENPORT: The proposal that is

          4  before us which requires notification we support.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So does the

          6  window guard law, right?

          7                 MS. DAVENPORT: We support it though.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The window

          9  guard law also, right?

         10                 MS. DAVENPORT: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But this

         12  changes the window guard law.

         13                 MS. DAVENPORT: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It changes it

         15  back to what the old window guard law was before it

         16  was changed because it didn't work. So you favor the

         17  window guard law and it doesn't work.

         18                 MS. DAVENPORT: We strongly support

         19  the provisions in this bill requiring that the

         20  tenant notify the owner of the presence of the

         21  child.

         22                 And the point is, the other thing

         23  that I really think is important in this, this isn't

         24  just about liability. This is so the owner gets into

         25  the right unit and inspects immediately and makes
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          2  those corrections.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. And

          4  that is what the new window guard, the latest window

          5  guard law does, that is the purpose of it. But you

          6  are supporting a law that goes back to the window

          7  guard law that didn't work. I just want you to know

          8  that. You don't know that.

          9                 The window guard law that is in this

         10  bill, the notification is based upon the old window

         11  guard law, which had to be changed because it didn't

         12  work. I just want you to know that. So, I think you

         13  are wrong. I think you ought to reconsider the fact

         14  that you are supporting a notification law that has

         15  been found to be not working.

         16                 MS. DAVENPORT: I wasn't aware of the

         17  fact that the old window guard law had all of these

         18  federal requirements and educational requirements

         19  with it. It didn't. The point is that the tenants

         20  are also better educated tenants, they are getting

         21  these notices, as Dan said, this is not happening in

         22  a vacuum.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         24  telling the landlord that he doesn't have to do any

         25  investigation, if you have a child of five years or
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          2  younger.

          3                 MR. DAVENPORT: No. This bill

          4  specifically says if you have knowledge of a child

          5  you are equally as responsible.

          6                 If I have a 200-unit -- the bill says

          7  if you have actual knowledge of the child you are

          8  responsible for making the inspections and making

          9  the corrections.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The old

         11  window guard law didn't put any burden on the

         12  landlord, and therefore they didn't find out.

         13                 The new window guard law, which now

         14  works, says the landlord has to exercise reasonable

         15  diligence in finding a child, and that is the law

         16  that is presently existing, and that is what this

         17  law does not reflect.

         18                 Presently the existing draft reflects

         19  the outdated and the law which is shown to be not

         20  affected.

         21                 Intro. 205 says to investigate.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Intro. 205

         23  contains the presently existing window guard law.

         24  What we are doing here is changing the law to go

         25  back to the one that didn't exist.
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          2                 MR. MARGULIES:  Excuse me. The

          3  current window guard doesn't require you to

          4  investigate.

          5                 MS. DAVENPORT: No, it does not.

          6                 MR. MARGULIES: The current window

          7  guard requires you to persist in hounding the tenant

          8  to get a response to a notice in writing.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

         10  present window guard law.

         11                 MS. DAVENPORT: And then you notify

         12  the Department of Health.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

         14  hounding the tenant, right? You always are very good

         15  at this. Dan, you always exaggerate. The law says

         16  hound the tenant, right?

         17                 MR. MARGULIES: Yes, that is what it

         18  says. The law says that --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How do you

         20  spell hound, that is in the law?

         21                 MR. MARGULIES: The law says --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: H-o-u-n-d?

         23                 MR. MARGULIES: The law says that

         24  during a certain time period you send the notice. It

         25  says if you don't get a response, you send another
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          2  notice. It says if you don't get a response the

          3  second time, that you contact the Department of

          4  Health, which will essentially tell you to send a

          5  third notice.

          6                 I call that hounding. It says at some

          7  point you knock on the door, okay, and attempt to

          8  obtain an answer in person, if having failed to get

          9  two or three acknowledgments by mail. That is what

         10  the law says. It is a procedure that is laid out

         11  very precisely. And in fact, in doesn't work in 20

         12  or 30 percent of the cases. Tenants do not respond.

         13  Owners have to go knock on the doors.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me read

         15  you what the law says.

         16                 MR. MARGULIES: And they sometimes

         17  find out if there is a child there and sometimes

         18  they don't.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Dan,

         20  everybody is entitled to their own opinion, you are

         21  not entitled to your own facts. You are not factual.

         22                 MR. MARGULIES: Give me a break.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The law says

         24  that each year the owner shall deliver to each

         25  residential unit a notice requiring as to whether a
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          2  child under six years of age resides therein. Or in

          3  that case the window guard as well.

          4                 If subsequent to the delivery of such

          5  notice the owner does not have written response from

          6  the tenant and does not have otherwise actual

          7  knowledge as to whether a child under the age of 12

          8  years old resides there, and the owner had

          9  reasonable time, he shall inspect the dwelling to

         10  ascertain --

         11                 MR. MARGULIES: What are you reading

         12  from?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am reading

         14  from the old window guard -- the new window guard

         15  law. That is the way the new window guard law works.

         16                 MR. MARGULIES: There is a repeat mail

         17  requirement. There is regulations from the

         18  Department of Health that don't read like that.

         19                 MS. DAVENPORT: Right. That's not it.

         20                 MR. MARGULIES: That's not it.

         21                 MS. DAVENPORT: That is the beginning

         22  of Intro. 205.

         23                 MR. MARGULIES: You are reading the

         24  bill, you are not reading the law.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We are
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          2  talking about the reasonable duty upon the landlord,

          3  it is the same language.

          4                 MR. MARGULIES: That's not the same

          5  language.

          6                 MS. DAVENPORT: It's not. And Council

          7  Member, I think the next sentence says that the

          8  owner shall investigate, and we don't understand

          9  that. That sounds like hire a detective agency to

         10  me.

         11                 MR. MARGULIES: You are not reading

         12  from the law.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sam Spade

         14  rides again, okay.

         15                 But you want to put the burden on the

         16  tenant, and the landlord will deny that he has a kid

         17  under five years of age.

         18                 Now, the other thing I want to speak

         19  to you about is, Nick, you say here that it is a

         20  short period of time to repair.

         21                 MR. LaPORTE: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are you aware

         23  of all of the deadlines, how long it takes, almost

         24  300 days.

         25                 MR. LaPORTE: The landlord has 21 days
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          2  to repair a violation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Twenty-one

          4  days, but that 21 days, first of all, the inspector

          5  comes in, he has 15 to 25 days to respond to the

          6  complaint. Sixty days within the issue of the

          7  violation, 21 days to correct, has an unlimited

          8  30-day periods of time, has five days for mailing

          9  and certification, 70 days for the reinspection, and

         10  30 days for mailing the notice, 90 days HPD

         11  correction -- I mean, this thing --

         12                 MR. LaPORTE: My testimony went to the

         13  landlord's responsibility to turn around the

         14  apartment -- repair once a violation has been

         15  issued. That is the short turn-around time.

         16                 Twenty-one days in an extremely short

         17  period of time --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thirty days

         19  unlimited extension.

         20                 MR. LaPORTE: Those extensions are

         21  based on the inability of a landlord to get access

         22  to an apartment. And if a tenant --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How about

         24  ability to pay, inability -- it is so open-ended

         25  that you could drive a Mack truck through it.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            392

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MR. MARGULIES: Excuse me, Council

          3  Member Michels. We have to get a balance here

          4  between responsibility between the tenants and the

          5  landlords.

          6                 A landlord is being placed in a

          7  position of extreme liability and the burden of

          8  getting into an apartment to repair a condition that

          9  has been found.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: If he doesn't

         11  have access --

         12                 MR. LaPORTE: You are taking a

         13  position here that the tenant should have no

         14  responsibility whatsoever to protect himself and his

         15  child.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The position

         17  I am taking --

         18                 MR. LaPORTE: We want to get in, we

         19  want to repair and if you don't let us in, we are

         20  going to be held liable for not making repairs --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Nick, I will

         22  always give the landlord the perfect defense of

         23  failure to give access, there is no problem there.

         24                 MR. LaPORTE: That is what the 30-day

         25  extensions are for.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            393

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, no, he

          3  has always got the defense.

          4                 The 30-day extension specifically

          5  reads if he can't get the materials, the men, money,

          6  all of the other things.

          7                 MR. LaPORTE: But there are

          8  circumstances which requires postponement.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Unlimited

         10  postponements?

         11                 MR. MARGULIES: It is not unlimited,

         12  it is three times.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Under this

         14  law -- No, it is not three times.

         15                 MR. MARGULIES: I think it is three

         16  times.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, I

         18  commend you to read the bill.

         19                 Unfortunately you guys didn't have

         20  any more notice than we did, because you didn't read

         21  it.

         22                 MR. MARGULIES: I know many owners

         23  have asked for extensions on various violations. I

         24  know of no one who has ever gotten a written

         25  extension from HPD in time before the deadline for
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          2  corrections.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Besides we

          4  are talking about a Class C violation. Hazardous

          5  violation, which usually C violations call for 24

          6  hours, you give them 21 days.

          7                 MR. MARGULIES: You know, the parallel

          8  might be with heat and hot water.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Once again,

         10  Dan, you say that the lead paint, the dust from lead

         11  paint has suddenly come from, maybe it comes from

         12  fairy dust or something, it is in the apartment --

         13                 MR. MARGULIES: I don't recall reading

         14  that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, but that

         16  is what it amounts to in your testimony.

         17                 MR. MARGULIES: No, I don't recall

         18  saying that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

         20  think it comes from the lead paint. Where does it

         21  come from, Dan?

         22                 MR. MARGULIES: It happens that there

         23  are good studies that show good multiple studies of

         24  lead which has shown track and dust which has been

         25  mentioned earlier today. The fact of the matter is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            395

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  there has been tests of window wells and brand new

          3  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We know it

          5  comes --

          6                 MR. MARGULIES: Excuse me. And brand

          7  new metal windows with no lead -- complete new

          8  construction, and if you test those window wells up

          9  on the tenth floor, you will find lead dust and new

         10  construction because it blows in.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Oh, really?

         12  Where is it blowing in from? Williamsburg Bridge,

         13  maybe, but not every building has a Williamsburg

         14  Bridge outside.

         15                 Let me ask you something, Dan. Are

         16  you from the testing, the clearance testing?

         17                 MR. MARGULIES: No, I am opposed to

         18  the clearance testing. I am in favor of testing

         19  before you write the violation. I think if it is

         20  lead paint you should correct it as an abatement

         21  job. If it is not, then I think you should not.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have a

         23  right to rebut the presumption, Dan. Rebut it.

         24                 MR. MARGULES: What we are trying to

         25  do, and I think Frank Ricci made this point earlier
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          2  pretty well, what we are trying to do is create a

          3  system where the owner doesn't want to invest

          4  several hundreds in tests to rebut a presumption

          5  where he can do something that is effective, that

          6  helps the child immediately, and helps the landlord

          7  get past this, at the same time the child is made

          8  safer.

          9                 We want to do the work that is

         10  necessary to correct the peeling paint condition,

         11  whether it is lead or not.

         12                 What we don't want to do is go out

         13  and invest hundreds of dollars in testing and

         14  thousands of dollars in lawyers every time a

         15  violation is written.

         16                 That is the major advantage of this

         17  bill.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Keep the

         19  apartments in good repair. Paint every three years.

         20  We are not asking to remove anything like

         21  non-peeling paint, intact paint is not to be

         22  removed. We all agreed with that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let's close this

         24  out. We are not going to get --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The fact of
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          2  the matter is what you want is to protect landlords

          3  from liability under all circumstances.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MR. MARGULIES: Not at all.

          6                 MS. DAVENPORT: Can I just add

          7  something?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Why not stay

          9  here all night? I'm for it.

         10                 MS. DAVENPORT: I will be very quick.

         11                 I think your point about rebutting

         12  the presumption really goes to what Carol Lamberg

         13  from the Settlement Housing Fund was saying about

         14  the testing. In her instance where she has done all

         15  gut rehab, she has to spend six to seven-hundred

         16  dollars per unit to rebut the presumption. That is

         17  what she was driving at.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I have said,

         19  as far as I am concerned, gut rehab should be

         20  exempt.

         21                 It is stupid when people have

         22  completely gut rehabbed the building to have them be

         23  -- and I don't see it in this new draft. Why isn't

         24  it in here? Why are owner/occupied co-ops or

         25  condominiums in here? Because they haven't thought
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          2  it out. This is premature, we should not be deciding

          3  this bill now. So many things are wrong with this

          4  bill, you could write a book about it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Andrew Goldberg,

          6  Marlen Bodden, Cathleen Breen.

          7                 Gentlemen, ladies, identify yourself

          8  and you may begin.

          9                 MS. BODDEN: Good afternoon, Council

         10  members, and remaining others.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good afternoon.

         12                 MS. BODDEN: My name is Marlen Bodden,

         13  I am a staff attorney at The Legal Aid Society, and

         14  I am here with Judith Goldiner, also a staff

         15  attorney at the Legal Aid Society. We are proud

         16  members of the Association of Legal Aid attorneys,

         17  and of our parent union, the UAW, which in New York

         18  City has over 10,000 members.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is that the

         20  United Auto Workers?

         21                 MS. GOLDINER: Yes, sir. I would like

         22  to also point out that the United Auto Workers have

         23  taken a strong position against the current bill and

         24  is very unhappy with the Speaker's position given

         25  that the United Auto Workers endorsed his race for
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          2  Governor when he promised he would take no steps --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Would you

          4  identify yourself, please.

          5                 MS. GOLDINER: Judith Goldiner.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: G-o-l-d-n-e-r?

          7                 MS. GOLDINER: I-n-e-r.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Goldiner, okay.

          9                 MR. GOLDBERG: Let me introduce

         10  myself. My name is Andrew Goldberg, I am Counsel

         11  with NYPIRG.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Welcome, Mr.

         13  Goldberg.

         14                 MS. MS. BODDEN: The neighborhood

         15  offices of the Civil Division of the Legal Aid

         16  Society represent poor families, many with small

         17  children and pregnant women who are most likely to

         18  suffer the affects of lead poisoning.

         19                 For many years now, Housing attorneys

         20  for the Civil Division have worked on hundreds of

         21  cases involving lead paint hazards in apartments

         22  occupied by poor families, including small children,

         23  and we have gained substantial experience with the

         24  practice of workers, landlords, attorneys, health

         25  professionals and judges in cases where young
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          2  children are in danger of becoming poisoned by lead

          3  paint hazards in their homes.

          4                 Specifically we have contributed to

          5  this large scale effort through Housing Court

          6  litigation by giving several Citywide training

          7  sessions for attorneys, advocates and legislative

          8  staff on lead paint cases and by serving as back-up

          9  advisors for cases handled by our attorneys

         10  throughout the Civil Division.

         11                 My interest in fighting lead

         12  poisoning goes far beyond my work as a poverty

         13  lawyer.

         14                 I was raised in the Bronx, where I

         15  live, and I had a childhood friend who was lead

         16  poisoned.

         17                 The affects of lead poisoning and

         18  exposure to lead paint are well documented and

         19  incontrovertible.

         20                 Exposure to even very low levels of

         21  lead before birth slows a child's mental

         22  development.

         23                 Lead poisoning in children leads to

         24  attention disorders, learning disabilities and

         25  diminished intelligence.
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          2                 Severe lead poisoning in children

          3  causes mental retardation and can even cause death.

          4                 In addition, as many medical and

          5  technical authorities have documented, an improperly

          6  done lead abatement job can result in children being

          7  exposed to greatly increase amounts of toxic lead

          8  dust, more than if no work at all had been done.

          9                 We at the Legal Aid Society have

         10  witnessed abatement of lead in apartments. We have

         11  seen apartments full of uncleaned dust and debris,

         12  household furnishings and rugs saturated with toxic

         13  lead dust, and workers wearing only shorts, shirts

         14  and tennis shoes, lugging open plastic garbage bags

         15  full of hazardous lead waste down several floors of

         16  walk-up apartments, spreading piles of lead dust

         17  throughout the building.

         18                 We have also seen abatement jobs half

         19  done with paint debris falling down to the floor

         20  behind sheetrock left open at the bottom, and

         21  untouched, peeling and flaking radiators in the

         22  midst of a model abatement site.

         23                 Consequently, it has been our

         24  experience that what is needed is legislation to

         25  clarify and strengthen the existing law to protect
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          2  children from poisoning caused by lead paint.

          3                 Unfortunately, the proposed lead bill

          4  under discussion today is dangerously backwards.

          5  This bill would remove the teeth from existing

          6  statutes that help protect children at risk of lead

          7  poisoning.

          8                 The bill would also lead to

          9  substantial delays in immediately addressing

         10  hazardous lead emergencies and encourage substandard

         11  remediation.

         12                 The proposed bill should be rejected.

         13  We urge the Committee to support the approach taken

         14  in Intro. 205 that would strengthen current

         15  protections and reduce the threat of continued lead

         16  poisoning of young children and expectant mothers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Can I ask a

         18  question, please? I am looking at page two, it says

         19  we have seen apartments full of uncleaned dust and

         20  debris, household furniture and rugs saturated with

         21  toxic lead dust, do you have -- do you have evidence

         22  that that was lead dust?

         23                 Given the testimony by some previous

         24  witnesses that a large percentage of the buildings

         25  -- are you certain this was lead?
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          2                 MS. BODDEN: Yes, sir. We were there

          3  to observe the abatement of the apartment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Were there any

          5  kind of tests? I just ask out of curiosity.

          6                 MS. BODDEN: Actually on occasion we

          7  have used a company, an environmental services

          8  company that has tested lead for us in our clients'

          9  apartments.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right. Thank

         11  you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Using an XRF

         13  machine?

         14                 MS. BODDEN: Pardon?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Using an XRF

         16  machine?

         17                 MS. BODDEN: Yes.

         18                 MS. GOLDINER: I wanted to discuss the

         19  five ways that the current bill is deficient.

         20                 It limits the definition of lead to

         21  peeling paint or on deteriorated surfaces, which

         22  ignores lead hazards resulting from building

         23  surfaces or defects that cause exposure to lead.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is that

         25  now?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            404

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MS. GOLDINER: Lead hazards resulting

          3  from building surfaces or defects that cause

          4  exposure to lead, lead friction surfaces like wood

          5  doors and wooden window frames, chewable surfaces, a

          6  building's common areas. It also exempts day care

          7  centers, pre-K schools and playgrounds, all of which

          8  can cause childhood exposure to lead.

          9                 In addition, the proposed bill gives

         10  the Department, HPD, 15 to 25 days to conduct an

         11  inspection, 60 days before issuing a violation. The

         12  landlord then has 21 days to clean up, during which

         13  they are not required to follow DOH guidelines,

         14  which mandate sealing off lead contaminated rooms,

         15  wet scraping the affected area, thoroughly cleaning

         16  up and wipe testing by labs to ensure that lead dust

         17  and particles have indeed been removed.

         18                 The time frames are utterly

         19  unacceptable and when added up, as others have said,

         20  would give the landlord almost a year to abate the

         21  condition.

         22                 In addition, the bill allows HPD's

         23  duties to become discretionary rather than

         24  mandatory, making it difficult to ensure that lead

         25  violations are actually detected, tracked and
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          2  corrected. And given HPD's unfortunately lamentable

          3  role in this area, we think that giving HPD more

          4  discretion rather than less discretion is a big

          5  mistake.

          6                 It allows a landlord to self-certify

          7  abatement of lead violations without submission of

          8  clearance dust tests. Again, the Comptroller has

          9  documented that in 70 percent of the cases the

         10  self-certification is fraudulent and unfortunately

         11  this is something that HPD has done very little

         12  about. We are very concerned about false

         13  certification.

         14                 It also relieves landlords of their

         15  duty to maintain a safe dwelling and take measures

         16  to prevent peeling lead conditions, and shifts the

         17  burden to tenants to notify the landlord of lead

         18  hazards.

         19                 In our experience our clients often

         20  don't get the notices that the landlords are

         21  required to send, either because the landlord

         22  doesn't send them, because the landlord steals them

         23  or because their mailboxes are broken. We see this

         24  over and over with sewer service in Housing Court,

         25  we see no reason that these notices will be any
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          2  different. At least in Housing Court they are

          3  required to personally serve the notices, and these

          4  notices are not required any sort of personal

          5  service.

          6                 Finally, New York City does not have

          7  the resources to pay for the lifetime costs of lead

          8  paint poisoning in terms of increased spending on

          9  health care, special education and public assistance

         10  for brain damaged children who cannot compete in the

         11  work place.

         12                 Caring for brain damaged children is

         13  extremely debilitating to the parents and

         14  grandparents who are our clients. We strongly oppose

         15  the proposed bill and continue to urge the adoption

         16  of Intro. 205 which will provide great assistance

         17  and efforts to fight lead poisoning to protect the

         18  health and potential of our children. We would be

         19  happy to answer any questions that the Council

         20  people have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your testimony

         22  is rather clear, after a number of others have

         23  preceded you. So, we thank you for your time and

         24  your testimony.

         25                 MS. GOLDINER: Thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to testify.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Oh, my pleasure.

          4                 MR. GOLDBERG: Mr. Chairman, I am not

          5  going to read my testimony, it is about 25 pages

          6  long, and I will spare you that because most of the

          7  points were made. But I just want to respond to five

          8  or six points that were made during the morning and

          9  afternoon specifically.

         10                 First of all, when Mr. Lappin and Mr.

         11  McCarthy were up here testifying, I really believe

         12  that they were mixing apples and oranges in their

         13  discussion of ambient lead and their rejection of

         14  clearance testing after an abatement is accomplished

         15  in an apartment. The purpose of the clearance

         16  testing, and I think the --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They must have

         18  testified when I was out of the room.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They did.

         20                 MR. GOLDBERG: It's possible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They did.

         22                 MR. GOLDBERG: But the two experts

         23  from Washington, as they explained the purpose of

         24  that clearance testing, is not to ascertain the risk

         25  in an apartment, but rather to determine whether or
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          2  not the abatement job has been properly cleaned. It

          3  is just a snapshot in time. Using clearance testing

          4  for ascertaining risk is an entirely different

          5  matter and it is not a part of this bill.

          6                 If you recall, you were on -- do you

          7  remember the task force, Mr. Chairman, you and I

          8  were on back in 1992? And at that time the City

          9  proposed using the dust wipes to figure out the

         10  risk, and NYCCELP, who I represented at that time,

         11  opposed that, and surprisingly the landlords, the

         12  RSA and the Real Estate Board at that time supported

         13  the proposal.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are the best

         15  argument not for term limits.

         16                 MR. GOLDBERG: Well, you and I have

         17  been going through this for a long time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is another

         19  need for urgency because we won't be around after a

         20  very short period of time, so we have got to get

         21  this work done.

         22                 MR. GOLDBERG: All right. The point

         23  is, and this also ties into what Mr. Ricci said,

         24  this idea of ambient lead, I have not seen any

         25  documents, if you keep on saying there are
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          2  documented studies, we keep on asking Council staff

          3  and Mr. Ricci to show us --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Will you explain

          5  to the members the definition of ambient lead?

          6                 MR. GOLDBERG: I can't define it. This

          7  is the term that Mr. Ricci was using, that Mr.

          8  Lappin was using, that Mr. McCarthy was using, this

          9  idea of ambient lead, that there is lead that is

         10  floating around. You did hear -- did you hear -- Mr.

         11  Chairman, were you here when the two gentlemen from

         12  Washington, D.C. testified.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, I was here.

         14                 MR. GOLDBERG: I mean, Mr. Ricci also

         15  mischaracterized their testimony. Mr. Farr did not

         16  say that he agreed that there was ambient lead, what

         17  he said was that in some places, I think it was

         18  Chicago, or Milwaukee where there was not much lead

         19  paint used, but --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And

         21  Cleveland?

         22                 MR. GOLDBERG: Cleveland, right. Not

         23  much lead paint used in Cleveland that the houses

         24  had large yards. So in that setting, if they find

         25  lead contaminated dust, they would look to soil
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          2  contamination as well. But he made it very clear

          3  from the hundreds of apartments they have inspected

          4  in New York City, that lead dust originating from

          5  any other source than lead paint is not considered

          6  to be a major problem or a legitimate source. I

          7  think he was very clear in his testimony and I think

          8  Mr. Ricci's characterization was incorrect.

          9                 Another point I would like to make is

         10  one that hasn't been raised today, except by you;

         11  and that is, why is this Committee, why is the

         12  Council engaged in the process of legislating in the

         13  field of health regulation that already exists. We

         14  have in place an existing regulatory scheme that was

         15  issued by the Department of Health, that applies to

         16  violations placed by HPD, applies to the mediation

         17  that is done by landlords, when you don't have a

         18  lead poisoned child.

         19                 And Mr. Chairman, you pointed out, I

         20  think it was a rhetorical question to Mr. Ryan,

         21  that, well, in a democracy the legislative process

         22  is a process of compromise and you have to make

         23  compromises.

         24                 And other times you referred to the

         25  process as sausage making. Well, you cannot make
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          2  sausage --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I will have to

          4  remember not to make any remarks around you that I

          5  don't want to hear repeated.

          6                 MR. GOLDBERG: You cannot make sausage

          7  out of a process that is intended to protect

          8  children. And I think your point is well taken that

          9  this whole discussion, the idea of legislating,

         10  rather than having the Department of Health engage

         11  in rule-making, where you have health experts who

         12  are medical experts, who are environmental experts,

         13  who are epidemiologists, who can figure out and make

         14  sure that each one of these steps that you go

         15  through will lead to a safe process. That is how you

         16  create a program, a safety procedure or a protocol

         17  to protect children. Not in the legislative process.

         18                 And nobody has explained yet why the

         19  Council is even engaged in legislating in this field

         20  when there is an existing program. The owners went

         21  to the Department of Health in 1996 and engaged them

         22  in rule-making, the Department of Health relaxed

         23  some of their requirements to try to deal with some

         24  of the points that were made by the owners, but the

         25  reality is they could not make a case for all the
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          2  arguments that they were making.

          3                 And now they have come to the City

          4  Council, and asked the City Council -- some of you

          5  are lawyers, some of you are -- I don't know what

          6  anybody else is, I know some of you are lawyers and

          7  I know --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They are lawyers

          9  and lay people.

         10                 MR. GOLDBERG: And lay people and one

         11  is a law student, but I don't know who that is. But

         12  the point is, nobody on the Council is an

         13  epidemiologist, nobody on the Council is a

         14  pediatrician or a medical doctor --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We hire that

         16  expertise. We have accesses to that expertise.

         17                 MR. GOLDBERG: But nobody has answered

         18  the question why is the Council even engaged in

         19  legislating when the Board of Health -- you heard

         20  the opinion of the Commissioner, but the Health Code

         21  is promulgated by the Board of Health, and the

         22  Commissioner is only one member of the Board of

         23  Health.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me ask you,

         25  Mr. Goldberg, don't you think it is time we come to
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          2  closure on this?

          3                 You did not mention the endless

          4  meetings that we held on a commission that was set

          5  up, that you were a part of, I mean we have spent

          6  hours and endless days on this topic. Clearly we are

          7  never going to have a bill, we are never going to

          8  have legislation that is going to satisfy everyone.

          9  Never going to have it. Never going to have it.

         10  Trust me, I am older than you. We are never going to

         11  have it. But we must have a bill.

         12                 MR. GOLDBERG: But this bill is not

         13  going to be the end of it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So we will have

         15  a bill --

         16                 MR. GOLDBERG: If this bill were

         17  enacted into law, it will not be the end of it. It

         18  will fail. You have heard the experts, all of the

         19  experts who wrote letters to the Health Commissioner

         20  and to the Speaker said that this will fail.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We are having a

         22  hearing on a proposed bill as the process calls for.

         23  The testimony given today, the points of views

         24  stated, will be taken into consideration of the

         25  final product of this process. They will be
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          2  reflected in the final product.

          3                 MR. GOLDBERG: I would like to make

          4  two other points.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You can make as

          6  many as you like. Why should you go home? Why should

          7  you be different from anybody else?

          8                 MR. GOLDBERG: I will make five and

          9  maybe it will be less.

         10                 Ms. Davenport and others have pointed

         11  out that this notice provision that has been

         12  incorporated into the bill that is under

         13  consideration, the way it is constructed and worded

         14  is reasonable.

         15                 I have to point out that the Housing

         16  and Maintenance Code specifically defines the

         17  definition of an owner, and that definition does not

         18  include the managing agent or the employees of the

         19  owner, and the bill is very specific that the tenant

         20  must give the owner written notice. Most tenants

         21  never have any contact with the owners.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Except when

         23  they go to Florida.

         24                 MR. GOLDBERG: Well, if they go to

         25  Florida too.
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          2                 They have no contact with the owner.

          3  So, imagine this scenario, that the landlord -- that

          4  the managing agent gives the notices to the super,

          5  has the super deliver them, and then tells the super

          6  to tell everybody in the building to deliver the

          7  notices back to them, they haven't complied with the

          8  law. They don't know that they haven't complied with

          9  the law, and if a child is lead poisoned and the

         10  case goes to suit many years later, then the owner

         11  will have an absolute defense, because he will say I

         12  never received written notice and the bill is very

         13  specific about that. Unlike Intro. 205, which was

         14  very clear that the obligation runs close to the

         15  owner, to the managing agents and employees of an

         16  owner.

         17                 And there are many other provisions

         18  in this bill that are written that way. So, it is

         19  much more treacherous territory that I think many of

         20  the proponents of this bill have really let on.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         22                 MR. GOLDBERG: Another point I would

         23  like to make, was the one that was made by Council

         24  Member Perkins, and I wish that others had

         25  emphasized it, but I think --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The Comptroller

          3  spoke about some subsidies for landlords.

          4                 MR. GOLDBERG: Yes. But Council Member

          5  Perkins pointed out, that in questioning the Health

          6  Commissioner, questioned him about this two-tiered

          7  violation that the bill creates. One is, 21 days to

          8  do a quick and dirty abatement, or scrape and paint.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No, no. Under

         10  this bill, as I understand it, all peeling paint in

         11  a pre-60 with a child under six, creates a

         12  circumstance where you must use a certain protocol.

         13                 MR. GOLDBERG: You use a protocol,

         14  which the way the bill was written simply won't

         15  work. It's a quick and dirty incentive to owners.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We will hear you

         17  on that.

         18                 MR. GOLDBERG: You tell me how this

         19  protocol is any different than what you would expect

         20  of an ordinary painter; what does it tell you to do?

         21  It tells you to put down a piece of plastic. Well, I

         22  would expect an ordinary painter to put down a piece

         23  of plastic, it says cover the furniture with

         24  plastic. Well, I would expect an ordinary painter to

         25  do that irrespective of lead paint. And it says when
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          2  you are done --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And the wet

          4  scrape.

          5                 MR. GOLDBERG: It says the wet scrape.

          6  It does say the wet scrape, but it says that

          7  everybody in New York should wet scrape now. And the

          8  purpose of wet scraping, as was pointed out, is to

          9  protect the painter, or protect the worker.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And to clean up

         11  after himself.

         12                 MR. GOLDBERG: Don't you expect that

         13  of a painter when they come into your house, don't

         14  you expect them to wash up or sweep? Because that is

         15  all the bill requires. It says HEPA-vacuum or wash.

         16  Isn't that what you would expect of an ordinary

         17  painter? I don't understand what this new protocol

         18  is. It's like the Emperor's new clothes, well, what

         19  were painters doing? They were coming in, putting

         20  down their canvas, they are putting down their

         21  plastic, they are covering their furniture and they

         22  were washing when they left.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They weren't wet

         24  scraping, no way. They weren't doing that.

         25                 MR. GOLDBERG: But the experts you
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          2  heard said that wet scraping protects the workers.

          3  It is not a panacea. It is not in and of itself a

          4  message that reduces the hazards and risks of

          5  children residing in the apartment.

          6                 But Council Member Perkins' point was

          7  that you have in your bill a higher standard. That

          8  is, if the landlord doesn't do the quick and dirty

          9  job, then he has 21 days to do it in full compliance

         10  with the Health Code. And Council Member Perkins

         11  pointed out that this makes no sense, that our

         12  children should always be protected by the higher

         13  standards. And I heard no justification --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are

         15  suggesting that any peeling paint in a pre-60

         16  building should be addressed -- I mean, I don't know

         17  who is going to check on it because there is no

         18  violation addressed to it. If you lived in my

         19  building, and you would tell me there is peeling

         20  paint, I would go and clean it up as I am told. But

         21  who is going to check on it, no violation --

         22                 MR. GOLDBERG: That was the

         23  distinction that Intro. 205 made. Which is another

         24  point that you just reminded me of --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you want to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            419

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  place a violation on that?

          3                 MR. GOLDBERG: No, no, no. When we

          4  were here two years ago, and at that time the bill

          5  didn't go anywhere.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It was more than

          7  two years ago, we have been here a long time.

          8                 MR. GOLDBERG: The last time we were

          9  here on a bill was two years ago. We were asked to

         10  come up with a proposal that would separate good

         11  owners from bad owners, and that proposal was Intro.

         12  205, and what it said was that good owners,

         13  following the current window guard law, essentially

         14  just adding one more check box to the window guard

         15  form, saying there is a child under the age of six,

         16  a good owner would go in and do his annual

         17  inspection, and if he found a condition, Intro. 205

         18  doesn't regulate that owner in any way, I can't see

         19  why the owners would ever have objected to that. It

         20  just says go in and do your inspection and do what

         21  you think is the right thing to do, just make sure

         22  you don't poison a child because if you do then you

         23  are going to be held to the ordinary standard for

         24  negligence case of whether or not you acted

         25  reasonably. But you know what? We had confidence
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          2  that good owners would act reasonably, and that is

          3  where we divided the universe, between good owners

          4  and bad owners. But we said that someone who gets a

          5  violation, then that person has to be regulated and

          6  that person should comply with the existing

          7  Department of Health Safety Regulations until such

          8  time as the Board of Health changed those

          9  regulations, not the City Council.

         10                 So we accepted the bargain and tried

         11  to come up with an approach to separate the good

         12  owners from bad owners.

         13                 I haven't heard any of that today. I

         14  didn't hear any of the proponents of this bill

         15  saying that this was an approach that was going to

         16  separate good owners from bad owners.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Goldberg,

         18  the Council will determine that is included in this

         19  bill. We have heard you, we are hearing you and we

         20  have heard them. I am not responsible for what they

         21  say or what you say. All I can do is show the

         22  respect and attention and sensitivity to your

         23  testimony, as I have to everyone else, and try to

         24  ensure to the best of my ability that it is given

         25  every consideration as we go forward with this
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          2  process. But they say I can't explain. Next time you

          3  read your testimony it will be shorter. Are you

          4  done?

          5                 MR. GOLDBERG: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Stanley.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I don't

          8  think that this moment should go by without at least

          9  saying something about Andrew's work on this

         10  subject. I don't know of anybody who knows more

         11  about it than he does. He has worked harder and

         12  spent more time --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I am aware

         14  personally --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: If we pass

         16  this legislation that we have in front of us, I

         17  think he and I will be equally disappointed, because

         18  what we have done in 205 is presented the people of

         19  the City of New York with a reasonable decent piece

         20  of legislation, which would benefit the landlords

         21  and the tenants and what now we are proposing is a

         22  piece of legislation that will harm and perhaps even

         23  do worse to children and at the same time protecting

         24  the landlords in the ways they don't need

         25  protection.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            422

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 The fact is that 205 was drafted in

          3  order to give relief to those people who complained

          4  about Local Law 1, about the fact that Local Law 1

          5  required the removal of all lead paint, and what we

          6  have done in 205 is say you only have to remove that

          7  paint which is peeling or where there is a

          8  subsurface which is in trouble, or when there are

          9  situations where there is friction surfaces. And we

         10  thought that the landlord in this City would be very

         11  happy to give that relief, but agreed, and the

         12  everest of the landlords of this City knows no

         13  bounds, and so then they accepted that and they

         14  wanted in addition to protect themselves from all

         15  liability which in a way has the effect of doing

         16  away with the motivation to clean up their

         17  apartments properly by those landlords who do not do

         18  the work when they are supposed to do them. So, we

         19  may find ourselves with more lead poisoned children

         20  than ever before. This is indeed a tragedy. This is

         21  indeed a situation where government has not worked

         22  for the people of this City, and has worked for a

         23  small select crew who had more influence than others

         24  for reasons which are obvious.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MR. GOLDBERG: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          4  ladies, gentlemen.

          5                 Now, we have left to speak yet is

          6  Joel Shufru, we have Montefiore Safe House Families,

          7  we have Lenora Colbert, we have Batya Lewton, we

          8  have Brian Honan, we have Joel Kupferman, we have

          9  Carmen Perez, we have Glen Pasanen, we have Carmen

         10  Veras, and Beverly Hartley. In that order please,

         11  take a seat, identify yourself and we would be happy

         12  to take your testimony.

         13                 Would you identify yourself, please,

         14  and we will hear your testimony.

         15                 MS. COLBERT: My name is Lenora

         16  Colbert and I represent 1199 Health Care Workers,

         17  and we represent 170,000 workers, and we also take

         18  care of the benefits their families receive for all

         19  of their children that get exposed to lead.

         20                 The majority of our members are

         21  people of color, immigrants and lower-wage workers,

         22  who live and work in this City. Members of 1199 live

         23  in the housing, which will come under this law. We

         24  object to the precipitous nature of this hearing, we

         25  were not informed of the hearing, and did not hear
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          2  about it until late on Friday afternoon. Even though

          3  we have a big stake in this legislation.

          4                 Consequently, we want time to review

          5  legislation and comment. Our experience in the

          6  hospitals with asbestos legislation parallels the

          7  removal of lead. Hospitals are used 24 hours a day.

          8  Abatement workers would come into the hospitals

          9  which are filled with asbestos, dressed in personal

         10  protective equipment, as required by applicable

         11  OSHA, and state and city regulations to remove

         12  asbestos, while our members and our patients work in

         13  the areas with no protective equipment, exposed to

         14  the dust created by the asbestos abatement projects.

         15  This is an issue of bystandard exposure to asbestos,

         16  which led to the work to get legislation requiring

         17  strict work practices.

         18                 We believe that this is a similar

         19  situation. We need stringent workplace regulations

         20  to ensure that workers will be protected and

         21  additional regulations to ensure that innocent

         22  bystandards will not be exposed.

         23                 Like asbestos removal, lead abatement

         24  work is difficult, time consuming and must be done

         25  correctly, done without attention to details, it is
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          2  possible of creating increased exposure of lead dust

          3  far worse than those hazards which exist in the

          4  first instance.

          5                 It is not hard to muck up a job,

          6  consequently we need trained workers. The EPA

          7  requires that workers receive 16 hours of training,

          8  including eight hours of hands-on training provided

          9  by an accredited trainer. Workers, supervisors and

         10  contractors must be trained. The playing field

         11  between landlord and tenants is not level. Tenants

         12  are extremely vulnerable. This law cannot place the

         13  burden on tenants to inform landlords of hazards or

         14  whether children under the age of six are present.

         15                 The law must contain an affirmative

         16  requirement on the landlord to inquire whether

         17  children under the age are living in their

         18  apartments.

         19                 Tenants need to be provided with

         20  notification of lead abatement work, when lead

         21  abatement work is being done, allowed to have access

         22  to all landlord records concerning lead abatement,

         23  including all test results, as well as the

         24  information about what procedure the contractors

         25  must adhere to to ensure the safety of the job being
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          2  done.

          3                 Like workers working with toxic

          4  substances, tenants must have the right to know.

          5  Nothing should interfere with the tenants right to

          6  sue either the City or the landlord for damages.

          7                 We know that there are strong

          8  financial interests involved here. Landlords have a

          9  lot at stake. We fear that this proposed legislation

         10  provides an economic incentive for landlords to

         11  remove lead and poisoning the future of our

         12  children.

         13                 On behalf of our members who live in

         14  many of the buildings where work will be done, we

         15  urge that there be an extensive hearing and

         16  discussion prior to enactment of legislation.

         17                 Holding this hearing on such short

         18  notice without adequate time to review and digest

         19  the proposed legislation does not leave us with the

         20  confidence that the rights of our members will be

         21  attended to.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: May I say, with

         23  the great respect I have for 1199, I mean you are

         24  here --

         25                 MS. COLBERT: I am here only by word
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          2  of mouth from someone else at almost 6:00 on Friday

          3  afternoon to say that there would be a hearing.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But you are

          5  here.

          6                 MS. COLBERT: Yes, fortunate for

          7  someone else to inform us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Have you

          9  analyzed the bill and read the bill?

         10                 MS. COLBERT: I received the bill

         11  today when I came in. We have not had the

         12  opportunity to go through it and to figure out just

         13   -- I heard from someone else that fortunately had

         14  the foresight to get it from somewhere else, about

         15  5:00 in the afternoon on Friday.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, Ms.

         17  Colbert, I am glad you are here.

         18                 MS. COLBERT: I am pleased to be here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Whatever way you

         20  got the word, I am glad you got it, I am glad you

         21  are here, and I am thankful for your testimony.

         22                 MS. COLBERT: You are quite welcome.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am sorry

         24  you haven't had an opportunity to read the bill.

         25                 MS. COLBERT: And we wish that our
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          2  thoughts will be taken into consideration before you

          3  pass such a bill that will definitely hurt our

          4  members that live all over the City.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir.

          7                 MR. SHUFRU: My name is Joel Shufru. I

          8  am the Executive Director of the New York Committee

          9  for Occupational Safety and Health, a coalition of

         10  about 250 local unions in the New York Metropolitan

         11  area who have been concerned with work place safety

         12  and health for the last 20 years. We fight for the

         13  rights of workers for safe and healthy jobs.

         14                 We have worked with members of the

         15  City Council over the last 20 years on several

         16  issues.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I have been to

         18  some of your events.

         19                 MR. SHUFRU: That's correct.

         20                 We worked with the City Council in

         21  passing landmark legislation on video display

         22  terminals, which had Mayor Koch not vetoed it would

         23  have resulted in a reduced epidemic of repetitive

         24  stress injury which is now rampant among the City

         25  workers.
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          2                 We also worked with the City Council

          3  to enact legislation governing asbestos abatement,

          4  landmark legislation which protected workers and the

          5  public from asbestos dust. One of the most potent

          6  carcinogens, which like lead, I am sorry, was and

          7  still is present in the building.

          8                 It was like deja vu seeing the person

          9  from the -- Marilyn, I forget her last name, from

         10  the Real Estate Board -- who I last saw here in 1983

         11  fighting over the asbestos legislation who claimed

         12  that the building owners would go bankrupt if we

         13  passed the real estate asbestos legislation.

         14                 We want to state at the outset that

         15  we are deeply concerned that the Council is moving

         16  forward to consider this complex legislation under

         17  the current circumstances.

         18                 This issue requires careful and

         19  thoughtful and thorough consideration. We received

         20  notification of this bill at approximately 5:00 p.m.

         21  on Thursday and did not receive the legislation

         22  until Friday afternoon. Consequently our review is

         23  superficial and cursory, however, on first reading,

         24  while this draft is an improvement over previous

         25  drafts, we pose the legislation as posing a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            430

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  significant threat to the health and safety of

          3  working families, workers and their families.

          4                 First and foremost, the bill seems to

          5  be an effort to avoid coverage by EPA regulations,

          6  by defining lead abatement work as interim repair

          7  work.

          8                 It is our understanding that the EPA

          9  regulations dealing with the childhood lead

         10  poisoning will go into effect in August, and these

         11  regulations outline safe work practices and

         12  specifically require training of workers in

         13  appropriate work practices.

         14                 There is no provision in the draft

         15  that is in front of us in this law, proposed law,

         16  for workers to be trained in appropriate work

         17  practices.

         18                 In fact, it appears that the point of

         19  this draft is to avoid use of certified, trained

         20  workers.

         21                 This is a serious problem, both

         22  because workers are required to disturb lead dust,

         23  posing a threat to themselves, and to the occupants

         24  of the apartments in which work is taking place.

         25                 OSHA standards which govern this work
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          2  are not designed to protect the health of the

          3  residents in the apartment where work is being

          4  performed. Consequently, we believe, like the

          5  asbestos control law, that workers, supervisors and

          6  contractors must be trained and supervised.

          7                 Second, we do not understand why

          8  these regulations are less stringent than the

          9  regulations being proposed by the EPA for exactly

         10  the same circumstances.

         11                 Workers in New York get sick, like

         12  workers from all over the rest of the country, as do

         13  the residents of the building. Why do we have less

         14  stringent regulation?

         15                 The work practices, for example, we

         16  talked recently, Mr. Chairman, about putting down

         17  the plastic on the ground, why are we not requiring

         18  that this plastic be taped? Why are we not defining,

         19  since you have entered into the areas which I think

         20  are more appropriate for regulation, that the

         21  thickness of the plastic which has been used, it is

         22  not defined in the bill. It should be in the bill.

         23  It is not.

         24                 You talk about covering furniture.

         25  The furniture is going to be contaminated because
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          2  the dust that is going to be created will get

          3  underneath the plastic which is defined in the bill

          4  as just covering. There is no requirement that the

          5  plastic be taped so that the surfaces will not

          6  become contaminated.

          7                 Similarly, as pointed out earlier,

          8  why do we only have either HEPA-vacuuming or washing

          9  of surfaces? It does not make sense not to have one

         10  with the other.

         11                 So, we are concerned that the work

         12  practices in this bill are too lax.

         13                 Third, failure to include clearance

         14  testing for lead dust upon completion of abatement

         15  work is a fatal omission. Visual inspection upon

         16  completion of a job is not adequate and will result,

         17  in our opinion, given the unregulated lead abatement

         18  work and work practices permitted under this law to

         19  increase exposure, not reduce exposure of children.

         20                 I could go on but the hour is late,

         21  and let me just end by telling you, you understand

         22  as we do, that there are huge economic and social

         23  consequences of the legislation being completed

         24  today.

         25                 We believe stringent work practices,
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          2  strong enforcement, with strong fines for

          3  non-compliance, worker training, as well as full

          4  disclosure and reporting are important components of

          5  the public health law, which would prevent lead

          6  poisoning.

          7                 We do not deny that there are costs

          8  in protecting children from exposure of lead

          9  poisoning.

         10                 The question is, who is going to pay

         11  these costs. This bill --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I think who is

         13  going to pay it ultimately is going to be the tenant

         14  or whoever their renters are, because whatever the

         15  cost of defending and lawsuits comes to be passed on

         16  to --

         17                 MR. SHUFRU: We think there are many

         18  additional costs which are going to be shifted onto

         19  the taxpayers in the form of paying for remedial

         20  services, health services and you could prevent that

         21  by enacting legislation which provides for stringent

         22  enforcement of EPA guidelines which are already

         23  there. It is a no brainer for the City Council to

         24  adopt them wholesale, frankly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir.
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          2                 MR. KUPFERMAN: I am Joel Kupferman,

          3  from the National Lawyers Guild, Environmental

          4  Justice Committee and the New York Environmental Law

          5  and Justice Committee.

          6                 I know the hour is late and I won't

          7  repeat anything, I just want to bring up three

          8  things. I have been following enforcement practices

          9  of the state, the federal government and the City

         10  and word on the street is, especially in New York,

         11  that the City and the State are not enforcing much

         12  of any law.

         13                 I testified in front of the New York

         14  State Senate Committee on the Environment about

         15  self-reporting and the main issue that I talked

         16  about was under the Clean Water Act, polluters are

         17  supposed to take, people with permits are supposed

         18  to take water samples for manhole covers and I

         19  learned through the Health Department many

         20  inspectors were very, very upset that the manhole

         21  covers were actually asphalted over, and they

         22  couldn't understand how reports are being filed and

         23  signed and yet there were no manhole covers to go

         24  through.

         25                 The second thing I wanted to bring up
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          2  is that I also worked with the immigrant community

          3  and they are also very fearful of any type of

          4  bureaucracy, and you are putting the onus back on

          5  them, you are putting the onus back on them as to

          6  filling out forms, and I think the fear that the

          7  City has created in the immigrant community must be

          8  noted.

          9                 The third thing I want to bring up

         10  is, one of the last cases that we worked on was the

         11  Williamsburg Bridge lead paint removal, that the

         12  City was in violation, continued to violate even

         13  after court order, correct removal practices. And I

         14  want to point out that if the City itself can't keep

         15  contractors from following the law and the right

         16  regulations, now they are basically saying to any

         17  landlord, you can do what you want, we are not even

         18  watching.

         19                 Also, I want to point out that it is

         20  also very ironic that all of the lessons that we

         21  have learned from all of these tobacco cases that

         22  has gone on in the last four, five years, and

         23  finally realized after all of this, all of the

         24  health costs, that the tobacco companies are now

         25  being held responsible, it seems, Chairman, that you
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          2  are reversing all of that jurisprudence and all that

          3  we have learned and giving a nice give back to the

          4  landlords, and just in spite of all evidence

          5  providing lead damage.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

          8  much, gentlemen, for your testimony.

          9                 Sir.

         10                 MR. HONAN: Is it evening yet? Good

         11  evening. My name is Brian Honan, and I am here today

         12  representing Tenants and Neighbors, we are a

         13  statewide organization who has over 10,000 tenant

         14  members.

         15                 Before I start, I would like to thank

         16  the Chairman and other members of the Housing

         17  Committee for giving me this opportunity to testify

         18  on the bill before us.

         19                 In 1998, City Council Speaker Peter

         20  Vallone made a promise to tenants groups to oppose

         21  any weakening of laws to protect children from lead

         22  paint poisoning. Many tenant advocates took him for

         23  his word and as a result Speaker Vallone received

         24  the endorsement of groups like Tenants Pact when he

         25  ran for Governor. That is why it is very
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          2  disappointing to be here today testifying on a bill

          3  that will do just the opposite of what the Speaker

          4  promised.

          5                 This bill does not have the interest

          6  of children or tenants in mind. In fact, if the

          7  draft bill that advocate groups were shown on Friday

          8  afternoon passes the Council, we believe that

          9  children will become, more children will become lead

         10  poisoned.

         11                 The Speaker's staff says that the

         12  purpose of this bill is to encourage landlords to

         13  correct lead paint problems that they may have in

         14  the apartments in which they own. But the truth is

         15  that this bill will do nothing of the sort. It is

         16  our experience that no bill is needed to encourage a

         17  responsible decent landlord to correct a health

         18  hazard.

         19                 As for the irresponsible landlord, it

         20  is absurd to think that he or she will respond to

         21  anything except for fear of liability and/or fines.

         22  By giving irresponsible landlords lengthy time

         23  limits to correct the lead-based hazard, this bill

         24  does not encourage him or her to correct the problem

         25  but rather encourages them to wait and put off
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          2  correcting the problem for months, if he or she does

          3  so at all.

          4                 This bill starts off on the wrong

          5  track by requiring the tenant to provide written

          6  notice that a child under the age of six is present

          7  in the apartment.

          8                 Failure to do so, relieves all

          9  responsibility on the part of the landlord of any

         10  future action and civil penalty.

         11                 It is clear what we are doing here is

         12  repeating a mistake made with window guards. Many of

         13  you might remember a similar provision was in the

         14  original window guard bill. It didn't work and later

         15  had to be changed. Why do the authors of this bill

         16  think it will work in this case?

         17                 The Council is repeating a mistake

         18  that they were wise enough to correct some 15 years

         19  ago.

         20                 But even if the tenant complies with

         21  the landlord's request and serves him or her with

         22  written notice that a child under six is living in

         23  the Department, if a lead-based hazard is found in

         24  the apartment, this bill is far too generous in the

         25  amount of time landlords are given to correct the
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          2  problem.

          3                 As you can see, an irresponsible

          4  landlord -- this whole process can go on for months,

          5  during that time the child will be living in an

          6  unsafe apartment with the very real threat of

          7  permanent brain damage.

          8                 The good news is there is a way out

          9  of this mess. Council Member Michels, who sponsored

         10  the bill Intro. 205, which is widely supported by

         11  health professionals, advocate groups and 35 Council

         12  members, we urge a similar hearing on this bill and

         13  eventual passage. But if the Michels' bill is

         14  unacceptable to leadership, the Council may wish to

         15  follow the advice this morning of the New York Times

         16  editorial and ask the Court for an extension until

         17  October.

         18                 Given more times with the advice of

         19  health professionals, social workers who have dealt

         20  with lead poisoned children and their families and

         21  advocate groups, I am confident that this body will

         22  have the wisdom to correct this bill that has the

         23  health and safety of children in mind.

         24                 Lastly, page one of the draft begins

         25  with flowery language about how lead paint poisoning
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          2  is very preventful. If what I know is correct, one

          3  of the reasons why it is so preventable is because

          4  of tough regulations the City and this body has put

          5  on landlords. So why are we turning back the clock

          6  now? If we are going to continue to make in-roads in

          7  preventing lead paint hazards, we just continue to

          8  treat it as a serious and life-threatening problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         10                 MR. HONAN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, will you

         12  identify yourself?

         13                 MR. PASANEN: Thank you. Good evening,

         14  Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee. I am Glenn

         15  Pasanen, Associate Director of the City Project.

         16                 I am here to voice City Project's

         17  strong opposition to the lead poisoning legislation

         18  introduced today. I am also here to object to the

         19  process by which this legislation is being handled.

         20  A process that thus far looks like a rush to bad

         21  judgment.

         22                 Lead paint legislation is too

         23  important to be on such a fast track, avoiding

         24  public scrutiny and ignoring professional public

         25  comment.
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          2                 Everything we know thus far about

          3  this bill suggests that it will, if enacted,

          4  endanger tens of thousands of largely poor New York

          5  City children, the vast majority of whom are

          6  children of color by severely weakening protections

          7  against childhood lead poisoning.

          8                 I won't speak at this late hour to

          9  the merits of the bill.

         10                 We have heard a lot today, I have

         11  been here all day. I simply would point out that

         12  there are fundamental points of scientific facts

         13  that simply have not been addressed either in this

         14  hearing or in this bill.

         15                 There are fundamental facts that are

         16  ambiguous, that need full disclosure, that has not

         17  happened and apparently will not happen under this

         18  current course.

         19                 We recognize that there is a need for

         20  an alternative to Local Law 1, one which will enable

         21  landlords to provide lead safe housing without

         22  incurring unreasonable costs.

         23                 Intro. 205, which has been under

         24  consideration for years, provides such an

         25  alternative, a responsible lead safe alternative
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          2  which is both workable for landlords and protective

          3  of children.

          4                 The bill before you today, however,

          5  goes far beyond balancing the rights of landlords

          6  with the needs and concerns of children. It reduces

          7  children's protection and endangers their health in

          8  order to free landlords from responsibility and

          9  liability.

         10                 Given the great importance of any

         11  lead paint legislation, the current rush to bad

         12  legislation is unconscionable. In fact, in my ten

         13  years looking back, I can't recall a bill of this

         14  significance, a bill of this importance that is

         15  being treated as cavalierly as this bill is being

         16  handled.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You think

         18  cavalierly.

         19                 MR. PASANEN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have been

         21  discussing this issue, sir, for 15 years.

         22                 MR. PASANEN: This bill has been

         23  discussed for, I got here at 10:00, we started at

         24  11:00, it has been discussed for approximately seven

         25  hours.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: This bill, it is

          3  like the tip of an iceberg.

          4                 MR. PASANEN: I am familiar with the

          5  workings of government, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, then you

          7  have got to know that there is a tremendous amount

          8  of work by this staff and this Council that went

          9  into this product.

         10                 Didn't you just hear the trial lawyer

         11  say that they met with our staff three times in the

         12  last two weeks, everybody who wanted to meet we have

         13  been meeting, we are fine-tuning and we continue to

         14  meet.

         15                 We have sat here since 10:30 this

         16  morning, and we are still here giving you an

         17  opportunity to speak.

         18                 MR. PASANEN: I appreciate it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And anyone else

         20  who wants to speak.

         21                 MR. PASANEN: The trial lawyer has

         22  also retorted that their experience was not

         23  satisfactory either, but --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I can't

         25  guarantee satisfaction.
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          2                 MR. PASANEN: I understand that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I can guarantee

          4  access, and an opportunity.

          5                 MR. PASANEN: There have been any

          6  number, I would say at least, 45, 50 references to

          7  Intro. 205, which has not received a public hearing

          8  that may well have been the subject of further

          9  negotiations.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But it has been

         11  duly noted, and each one of those references are on

         12  the record.  They are not discarded.

         13                 MR. PASANEN: The fact is that the

         14  process that you are running this bill on is to

         15  ignore the 45 or 50 comments about Intro. 205.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No, they are not

         17  being ignored. I am saying to you that this is a

         18  work-in-progress, we are holding a hearing on a

         19  bill, all references to 205 and any other relevant

         20  issues are on the record and will be taken under

         21  advisement as we go forward with this process.

         22                 MR. PASANEN: May I ask if you are

         23  intending to vote on this bill on Wednesday?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We intend to

         25  vote on the bill as rapidly as we can put it in the
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          2  form that we think represents good public policy.

          3                 MR. PASANEN: You had perhaps a

          4  handful of scientists able to testify because of the

          5  nature of the last minute hearing, you have not

          6  heard the evidence that I have heard in other places

          7  that perhaps you are familiar with but certainly --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And perhaps we

          9  never will. I am serious, I have been on this issue

         10  for the last ten years myself personally, and

         11  perhaps I will never hear it all.

         12                 MR. PASANEN: Well, I am suggesting

         13  that the process I think is an embarrassment to the

         14  Council and to City government, and I understand

         15  that the Mayor shares a great deal of that

         16  embarrassment. I hope he does. I think history will

         17  show that this is an unfortunate, and if it

         18  succeeds, a tragic misuse of the legislative

         19  process.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Duly noted.

         21                 MR. PASANEN: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

         23  thing that I want to make sure is on the record,

         24  that it is only until we started drafting the

         25  current version did we for the first time introduce
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          2  that which has never been discussed before, and that

          3  is protecting landlords from the liability which

          4  actually turns this bill into nothing less than a

          5  landlord protective law, and protects them from

          6  liability, and at the same time has a terrible

          7  purpose of doing away with the main motivation to

          8  make sure they do a good job in protecting the

          9  children that are living in their buildings. Because

         10  if they no longer have the threat of lawsuits, they

         11  no longer have the motivation to clean their

         12  apartments the way they should be doing it.

         13                 A brand new item which we never

         14  discussed before, that is the outrageous give-away

         15  that has taken place here today.

         16                 MR. PASANEN: Absolutely.

         17                 I would point lastly to the New York

         18  Times editorial, which I think only a couple of

         19  people mentioned, perhaps because they --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But I think we

         21  all read it. We read the Times along with three or

         22  four other papers.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I mentioned

         24  it in my opening statement and I did make reference

         25  to the fact that they also look at scans upon the
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          2  give-away of the landlords.

          3                 MR. PASANEN: I will just repeat their

          4  recommendation that we all pull back from this rapid

          5  process and ask for more time, certainly the early

          6  fall would be an appropriate time I think.

          7                 Thank you for the chance to testify.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you for

          9  your time and your testimony.

         10                 There being no other requests to

         11  testify at today's hearing, this bill is laid over,

         12  and this meeting is adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 7:20 p.m.)
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